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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
F IR EE

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of Tian
Chang Group Holdings Ltd. (the “Company”), | am pleased to present the
annual report of the Company and its subsidiaries (together, the “Group”)
for the year ended 31 December 2020 (the “Year”).

BUSINESS REVIEW

In 2020, the escalating Sino-US trade war brought challenges to the
business environment. Apart from the trade dispute, the outbreak of
novel coronavirus ("COVID-19") pandemic forced the governments
in the world to take pandemic prevention measures by imposing
travel restrictions and countries lockdown. These factors created an
abnormally volatile operating environment, which led to a drop of
demand for our products. On the other hand, expecting the demand
for disposable face masks and other medical consumable products to
maintain at a high level in the future, the Group started a new chapter in
the establishment and development of the medical consumable products
segment.

The Group operates its business through three segments, including
integrated plastic solutions segment, electronic cigarette (the
“e-cigarettes”) products segment and medical consumable products
segment. The integrated plastic solutions segment engages in mould
design and fabrication services as well as plastic component design and
manufacturing services. The e-cigarettes products segment engages
in the manufacturing and sales of e-cigarettes products under the
brand names owned by a well-known tobacco group. During the year,
the Group also engaged in the medical consumable products segment
by manufacturing and sales of disposable face masks products under
our own brand name of "CAREWE". The Group distributes our products
within the domestic market and to overseas markets, including Europe,
Asia and the United States (the “U.S.").

During the year, the Group's total revenue amounted to approximately
HK$787.4 million, representing a decrease of approximately 37.1% (2079:
HK$1,251.7 million). The Group recorded a gross profit of approximately
HK$193.7 million (2079: HK$313.4 million) with a gross profit margin of
approximately 24.6% (2079: 25.0%).

The Group recorded a profit for the year attributable to equity holders of
the Company of approximately HK$73.7 million (2079: HK$127.2 million).
Basic earnings per share attributable to equity holders of the Company
were approximately HK11.89 cents (2079: HK20.52 cents).
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BUSINESS REVIEW (CONTINUED)

The Group has been upgrading its production capacity through
the addition of new machines, as well as expansion of the factory
premises. These new capacities provided space for production lines
of new products and enabled the Group to increase productivity for
current products. During the year ended 31 December 2020, the capital
expenditure incurred by the Group amounted to approximately HK$116.2
million, including HK$49.0 million for the addition of new machines and
HK$52.7 million for the construction of new factory premises.

FUTURE PLAN AND PROSPECTS

In view of the unsettled pandemic situation, the Board expects that
it will continue to cast uncertainties over the business environment
and the recovery of business will be highly challenging in 2021. The
Group expects that the demand for its products may be affected due
to uncertainty of the market. Currently, the Group has sufficient cash
on hand, together with available banking facilities, to meet the current
business needs.

Amidst a challenging business environment, the Group will stay
competitive in the market by diversifying its product portfolio through
research and development and enhancing product quality. The new
factory premises under construction is expected to be completed in May
2021, which will facilitate further research and development. It will also
accommodate new product production lines with automated machines
to reduce the reliance of manpower. In this connection, precision level
and an improvement of output for its products in the future is expected.

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board, | would like to express my most sincere gratitude
towards the continual support from the shareholders and the valuable
contributions of the staff. The management team will continue to fulfill
its duties to create more values for the shareholders.

Chan Tsan Lam
Chairman

Hong Kong, 30 March 2021
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EfEs R iR

BUSINESS SEGMENT ANALYSIS
Integrated Plastic Solutions

Revenue of the integrated plastic solutions business division was mainly
derived from (i) the design and fabrication of plastic injection moulds;
and (ii) design and manufacturing of plastic components employing the
plastic injection moulds fabricated internally or by our subcontractors.

The Group is able to specifically engineer and fabricate, with cavities
plastic injection moulds, to shape the plastic components in accordance
with the desired and customised design, features and specifications. The
Group has the technical capabilities to fabricate moulds that meet the
MT1 precision level as defined by the “National Standard of the People's
Republic of China GB/T14486-2008-Dimensional Tolerances for Moulded
Plastic Parts” ( (EARAMBEERIZTLEGCB/T14486-2008- KR
BHERTAZ) ), which is the highest precision level in the national
guidelines. By utilising the plastic injection process and applying the
plastic injection moulds fabricated by the Group or, in limited cases,
external subcontractors, the Group manufactures plastic components
for office furniture, office electronic products, home appliances,
communication products and automobiles.

Manufacturing of E-cigarettes Products

The Group manufactured e-cigarettes products as an original equipment
manufacturer ("OEM"). Such e-cigarette products included disposable
e-cigarettes, refillable e-cigarettes, battery rods, clearomisers,
liguidpods and heated tobacco device.

Manufacturing of medical consumable products

By utilising the cleanroom facilities in the Group's production plant in
Huizhou and acquiring disposable face mask production machines, the
Group established a production line for masks during the year ended
31 December 2020, as disclosed in the announcement of the Company
dated 7 July 2020.

The cleanroom facility in Huizhou has been certified in compliance with
the cleanroom standard of ISO14644-1:2015 Class 8, as recognised by
the U.S. National Environmental Balancing Bureau. The manufacturing
quality system has also fulfilled the standard of EN ISO13485:2016
Medical Devices-Quality Management Systems as certified by the
Société Générale de Surveillance S.A. ("SGS"). In addition, the Group has
been granted the Medical Device Manufacturing Enterprise License (28
B AAEEFF ) on medical device production, from the National
Medical Products Administration in the People's Republic of China (the
“PRC"). The production line has been set up and tested during the second
quarter of 2020.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BUSINESS SEGMENT ANALYSIS (conTINUED)
Manufacturing of medical consumable products (Continued)

The procedure face masks have been tested and proved to be meeting
up to the standard of ASTM F2100 Level 3 in the U.S. and the standard
of EN14683 Type IIR in Europe. Apart from the procedure face masks,
the Group also developed face masks with higher level of protection,
such as particulate face masks — KN95 and FFP2. The particulate face
masks — KN95, has passed the requirements of GB2626-2016 standard
in the PRC and NIOSH N95 — Pre-Certification Test issued by the ICS
Laboratories in the U.S. In addition, the particulate face masks — FFP2,
has also passed the requirements of EN 149:2001+A1:2009 standard,
credited as FFP2 respirator device, and certified with CE Mark (through
Notified Body #0598) granted by the SGS.

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Revenue

Revenue for the year ended 31 December 2020 was approximately
HK$787.4 million, representing a decrease of approximately HK$463.7
million, or approximately 37.1%, from approximately HK$1,251.1 million
for the year ended 31 December 2019.

The integrated plastic solutions segment revenue for the year ended 31
December 2020 was approximately HK$339.3 million, accounting for
approximately 43.1% of the total revenue and representing a decrease of
approximately HK$51.9 million, or approximately 13.3%, from segment
revenue of HK$391.2 million for the year ended 31 December 2019. This
decrease was primarily due to the decrease in sales order of certain
products resulted from the declining global economy under the Sino-US
trade war and the outbreak of COVID-19 pandemic during the year.

The e-cigarettes products segment revenue for the year ended 31
December 2020 was approximately HK$441.7 million, accounting for
approximately 56.1% of the total revenue and representing a decrease
of approximately HK$418.2 million, or approximately 48.6%, from
approximately HK$859.9 million for the year ended 31 December 2019.
The decrease was attributable to the impact of COVID-19 pandemic, the
process of new products development was slower than planned, thus,
the orders for new products were reduced.

The medical consumable products segment revenue for the year ended
31 December 2020 was approximately HK$6.4 million, accounting
for approximately 0.8% of the total revenue. This was a new segment
established during the year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EIRE5t R IR 7 i

FINANCIAL REVIEW (coNTINUED)
Gross Profit

Gross profit for the year ended 31 December 2020 was approximately
HK$193.7 million (2079: HK$313.4 million), representing a gross profit
margin of 24.6% (2019: 25.0%).

Segment gross profit for integrated plastic solutions for 2020 was
approximately HK$85.8 million (2079: HK$97.2 million), representing a
gross profit margin of 25.3% (2079: 24.8%). The increase in gross profit
margin was primarily contributed by the change of product mix of which
the products are of higher profit margin which improved the overall
gross profit margin.

Segment gross profit for e-cigarettes products for 2020 was
approximately HK$105.4 million (2079: HK$216.2 million), representing a
gross profit margin of 23.9% (2079: 25.1%). The decrease was primarily
due to the decrease in sales volume. The production fixed overhead
lowered the gross profit margin.

Segment gross profit for medical consumable products for 2020 was
approximately HK$2.5 million, representing a gross profit margin of
39.1%.

Other Income

Other income for the year ended 31 December 2020 was approximately
HK$7.6 million, representing an increase of approximately HK$2.7
million, or approximately 55.1%, from approximately HK$4.9 million for
the year ended 31 December 2019. The increase was primarily due to
an increase of government grant received together with the increase in
sales of scrap materials.

Selling and Distribution Costs

Selling and distribution costs for the year ended 31 December 2020 were
approximately HK$8.5 million, representing a decrease of approximately
HK$2.9 million, or approximately 25.4%, from approximately HK$11.4
million for the year ended 31 December 2019. The decrease was
primarily due to the decrease in sales volume during the year.

Tian Chang Group Holdings Ltd.
Annual Report 2020
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FINANCIAL REVIEW (CONTINUED)
Administrative and Other Operating Expenses

Administrative and other operating expenses for the year ended 31
December 2020 were approximately HK$96.2 million, representing a
decrease of approximately HK$39.2 million, or approximately 29.0%,
from approximately HK$135.4 million for the year ended 31 December
2019. The decrease was primarily due to a decrease in headcount and
the performance bonus to the directors and senior management.

Finance Costs

Finance costs for the year ended 31 December 2020 were approximately
HK$8.8 million, which was similar to that for the year ended 31
December 2019 of HK$9.1 million.

Income Tax Expense

Income tax expenses for the year ended 31 December 2020
was approximately HK$13.8 million, representing a decrease of
approximately HK$23.4 million, or approximately 62.9%, from
approximately HK$37.2 million for the year ended 31 December 2019.
The decrease in income tax expense was mainly attributable to the
decrease in profit before tax and the additional tax deduction allowance
for research and development costs in the PRC.

Profit Attributable to Equity Holders of the Company

As a result of foregoing, profit for the year ended 31 December
2020 was approximately HK$73.7 million, representing a decrease
of approximately HK$53.5 million, or approximately 42.1%, from
approximately HK$127.2 million for the year ended 31 December 2019.

THE IMPACT OF THE COVID-19

The outbreak of COVID-19 pandemic brought great challenges to the
Group in 2020. The Group experienced certain weeks of production
halt in the first half of 2020, yet our businesses has been recovering
gradually during the second half of 2020. The Group will keep paying
close attention to the development of the COVID-19 pandemic and
evaluate its impact on the Group’s financial position and operating
results in order to make timely response and adjustments as
appropriate going forward.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EIRE5t R IR 7 i

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

The Group generally finances its operations with internally generated
cash flow and banking facilities provided by its principal bankers. As
at 31 December 2020, the Group had cash and cash equivalents of
approximately HK$117.0 million (2079: HK$85.6 million). The interest-
bearing borrowings as at 31 December 2020 was approximately
HK$230.0 million (2079: HK$119.6 million) with interest rates weighted
average effective interest rate of approximately 3.34% per annum (2079:
4.13% per annum). The Group's gearing ratio as at 31 December 2020,
calculated based on the total borrowings to the equity attributable to
equity holders of the Company, was 44.5% (2079: 39.8%). The Group
recorded net current liabilities of approximately HK$48.7 million as
of 31 December 2020 (2079 approximately HK$50.4 million). The
management believes that the Group has maintained adequate financial
resources to fulfill its working capital requirements.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE RISK

The monetary assets and liabilities and business transactions of the
Group are mainly carried out and conducted in Hong Kong dollars, the
U.S. dollars and Renminbi. The Group manages its foreign exchange
risk by performing regular reviews of the Group's net foreign exchange
exposures and to mitigate the impact on exchange rate fluctuations
by entering into certain foreign currency forward contracts. Saved as
disclosed in this report, as at 31 December 2020, the Group did not have
any outstanding foreign currency forward contracts. The Group will
continue to evaluate the Group's foreign currency exposure and take
actions as appropriate.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS

For the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group has made no material
acquisitions or disposals of subsidiaries and associated companies.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2020, the Group did not have any significant
contingent liabilities.

Tian Chang Group Holdings Ltd.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EREst R IR 7 i

USE OF PROCEEDS RS REARE

The net proceeds of the Group raised from the initial public offering were ~ NEBELS B 8K AR ER TS IEHEE (K
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net proceeds have been fully utilised as intended. The below table sets ZBEIZETEAERBEHEA - TRHMHIAREH
out the proposed applications of the net proceeds set out in the section i &20184F 2 814 AN AR EZRRI AR EI X
headed “Future Plans and Use of Proceeds” in the prospectus of the  FTSFIBRA % | —SIFTE M ATIS I F5EEZER
Company dated 14 February 2018 and the actual utilised amount as at % & 2020F 12 A3 1 BN BERCH A& HE -
31 December 2020. During the year, the Group incurred approximately —F R~ KNEBE DR E R IBEAEL LHEBK
HK$4.7 million for equipment upgrade and capacity expansion and BMESL 4.7 BEETT

related investments.

Actual utilised

Planned Actual utilised amount as at

use proceeds amountin 2020 31 December 2020
2020 £ B R2020612H31H

SEIERIERR BRANSE BERDANSE

HK$ million HK$ million HK$ million
BEET BEET BEET
For the leasehold improvement in  FARAZNEE B M 374k — B 3.0 — 3.0
phase Il of the Group's new site HEMEEELRE
in Huizhou
For equipment upgrade and FAREBEARRERET 69.8 4.7 69.8
capacity expansion and related LAKABREIR &
investments
For working capital FREZEE S 4.8 — 4.8
Total 43 77.6 4.7 77.6
SUBSEQUENT EVENT HEEH

As at the date of this report, no subsequent events occurred after 31 RAREEH  BEEEAEENEERABERK
December 2020 which may have a significant effect on the assets and ~ RREEEKERFZEM L EHFR 2020F 12
liabilities or future operations of the Group. H31BZI8%E -

AEEEERER AR
2020 F 3§




MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EIRE5t R IR 7 i

EMPLOYEE AND REMUNERATION POLICY

The Group's remuneration policy is to compensate its employees
based on their performance, qualifications and the Group's operational
results. The total remuneration of employees includes basic
salaries, performance bonus and share options. Directors and senior
management of the Group receive compensation in the form of fees,
salaries, allowances, discretionary bonus, share options, defined
contribution plans and other benefits in kind with reference to those paid
by comparable companies, time commitment and the performance of the
Group. The Group also reimburses its Directors and senior management
for expenses which are necessarily and reasonably incurred for the
provision of services to the Group or executing their functions in
relation to the operations of the Group. The Group regularly reviews and
determines the remuneration and compensation packages (including
incentive plans) of its Directors and senior management, by reference
to, among other things, market level of remuneration and compensation
paid by comparable companies, the respective responsibilities of its
Directors and senior management and the performance of the Group.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS HELD

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group did not hold any
significant investment in equity interest in any other company.

FUTURE PLAN FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS AND
CAPITAL ASSETS

Save as disclosed in this report and the announcement of the Company
dated 8 October 2019 regarding the construction of new factory
premises in the remaining land area in Huizhou (which is expected to be
completed in May 2021), the Group has no further plan to make material
investments or increase its capital assets.

PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

The Company and any of its subsidiaries has not purchased, redeemed
or sold any of its listed securities during the year ended 31 December
2020.

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board recommends the payment of a final dividend of HK1.5 cents
per share for the year ended 31 December 2020 (for the year ended
31 December 2019: HK1.5 cents per share) to the shareholders whose
names appear on the register of members of the Company at the close
of business on 17 June 2021. The proposed final dividend is subject to
the approval of the shareholders at the forthcoming annual general
meeting. The final dividend, if approved, is expected to be paid on 28
June 2021.

Tian Chang Group Holdings Ltd.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

ABOUT THIS REPORT

This Environmental, Social and Governance (‘ESG") Report of the Group
refers to the ESG Reporting Guide in Appendix 27 of the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
("HKEX ESG Reporting Guide”) to define its report content. We maintain
an open dialogue with our stakeholders (including management,
employees, customers, suppliers, business partners, charity groups and
investors) to receive their comments and understand their expectations
on what the ESG issues matter most via meetings, interviews and
discussions. The areas of focus of this report include environmental
and social performance in various aspects. We endeavor to provide
a balanced, honest and transparent account of our performance. The
data disclosed in this report is prepared and provided by the respective
administration departments of Huizhou factories of the Group.
Disclosure content of the ESG report has been reviewed and confirmed
by the Board.

REPORTING PERIOD AND SCOPE

The scope of this report includes the Group's office operation in Hong
Kong and operations of integrated plastic solutions, manufacturing
of electronic cigarette (the “"e-cigarettes”) products and medical
consumable products in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC").

Reporting period: 1 January 2020 to 31 December 2020

REFERENCE GUIDELINES

This report has complied with the “comply or explain” provisions set out
in the "Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide” under
Appendix 27 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”).

OVERVIEW
CORE VALUES/MANAGEMENT PRINCIPLES

The Group always strives to promote sustainable development in its
business operations. The Group always takes environmental protection
into account in their business operations and tries to strike a balance
between economic development and the environment and society.

MANAGEMENT AND GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE

The Group has a clear organizational hierarchy to carry out different
parts of operations within the Group. As the Group has achieved ISO
9001 and 14001 certifications, the ISO department is mainly responsible
for reviewing ESG strategies and policies, and also act as a coordinator
to oversee ESG operations in our factories.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
RIE ~ HHBREIGIRS

ENVIRONMENTAL PERFORMANCE

The Group is well aware of the effect of environmental
performance to our business, especially for daily operational
challenges regarding greenhouse gas ("GHG") emission reduction,
energy conservation and waste management. Therefore, the Group
have put extensive efforts in our environmental management
system to minimize our environmental impact.

The Group has setup an environmental management system
in accordance to ISO 14001:2015. Also, the Group have an
environmental data collection system to keep track of the
performance and review the efficiency of the measures adopted in
the past years.

All businesses conducted by the Group are in strict compliance
with all national and local laws, regulations, and other related
industrial standards, such as the Environmental Protection Law
of the PRC, the Law of the PRC on the Prevention and Control of
Atmospheric Pollution, the Law of the PRC on the Prevention and
Control of Water Pollution, the Law of the PRC on the Prevention
and Control of Environmental Pollution by Solid Wastes and the
Law of the PRC on Appraising of Environment Impacts.

The business operations of the Group did not undergo any major
changes in the reporting period and complies with the latest
environmental-related laws and regulations in the regions we
operate.

ASPECT A1: EMISSIONS

Other than the above-mentioned compliances with the national
and local laws and regulations, the Group has put additional efforts
in regulating gas emissions, waste generation and usage of water
during the daily operation. The Group has established "Procedures
for Managing Wastewater, Exhaust Gas and Noise” which outlined
the daily procedures on reducing emissions on site.

Gas Emissions

The major business for the Group is providing integrated plastic
solution services and manufacturing of e-cigarettes products
as an original equipment manufacturer ("OEM"). The Group also
engaged in manufacturing and sales of medical consumable
products during the year. The Group has identified the major gas-
emitting source in the operation site, which is the operation of
injection molding machines.

Tian Chang Group Holdings Ltd.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

ENVIRONMENTAL PERFORMANCE (CONTINUED)
ASPECT A1: EMISSIONS (Continued)
Gas Emissions (Continued)

Since there were travel restrictions imposed around the globe
during the year and the Group endeavours to promote emissions
reductions to the employees, the Group encourages to hold video
conferences instead of unnecessary business travelling. The Group
also encourages the employees to take public transportation and
stop the car engine while idling. Moreover, inspection for motor
vehicles is carried out annually to ensure the exhaust emissions
comply with the national standard. During the reporting period,
we have successfully reduced the emission from vehicles from
115 tonnes (COz eq.) in 2019 to 73 tonnes (CO2 eq.) in 2020. In the
meantime, the emission from flights was reduced from 27 tonnes
(CO2eq.) in 2019 to 4 tonnes (COz eq.) in 2020.

RIE ~ B REIGHRS
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Major Gas Emission Indicators T EAEHIEIE

Air Pollutant Emissions RS RYBERK

Direct Emissions Unit 2019
HEEEWE B 2019 4F
Nitrogen Oxides (NOx) kg 44.45 100.35
REEYINOY NI

Sulphur Oxides (S0x) kg 0.40 0.63
Ha L ¥(S0,) NI

GHG Emissions by Scope REEE 5B ERBHEN

Direct Emissions Unit 2019
BEBENE Bz 2019
Total GHG Emissions t-C02 eq. 17,165.18 18,036.54
BERBAHNRE WE—SEiE 8

GHG Emissions — Scope 1 t-C02 eq. 139.11 222.66
SR ESHE N — #EEN WE—SEiEE

GHG Emissions — Scope 2 t-C02 eq. 16,902.06 17,650.99
RERETEN - #E? W — S LIRE 8

GHG Emissions — Scope 3 t-C02 eq. 124.01 162.89
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
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ENVIRONMENTAL PERFORMANCE (CONTINUED) A.

ASPECT A1: EMISSIONS (Continued)

Major Gas Emission Indicators (Continued)

GHG Emissions by Source

BERAE e

BEA: M
FEREEHRIEIE ()
RIRE D HRERBEBER

Total GHG Emissions Unit 2020 2019

BERBANNE B 2020 2019 4

Direct emissions from stationary t-C02 eq 66.29 107.18
combustion

BEHE - EER R —SE(tiREE

Direct emissions from vehicles t COz eq. 72.82 115.47

EEBEN—EEW =

Indirect emissions from electricity t C02 eq 16,902.06 17,650.99
consumption

MEBE—BE —&E(tiRESE

Indirect emissions from flights t—COz eq. 3.78 27.48

BESEM — It A% —aftiRES

Fresh water emissions t-C0O2 eq. 76.36 82.27

EEBER — 7K —EkEE

Sewage treatment emissions t-C02 eq. 36.02 44.60

B — V5K —&ftiREE

Other indirect emissions t COz eq. 7.86 8.54

B fth A BERR —aftiRES

Major Emission Intensity FEHHGEE

Emission Intensity (per million revenue)  Unit 2020 2019

i CeAEACETE Rl ) k12 2020 2019 4

Total GHG Emissions t COz eq./million HKD revenue 21.80 14.42

BEREEHNE —atmEe mEs e
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

ENVIRONMENTAL PERFORMANCE (conTINUED)
ASPECT A1: EMISSIONS (Continued)
Waste Management

The Group has a well-established system to handle various types
of waste (hazardous and non-hazardous). The Group ensures the
disposal of waste within the operation sites are in compliance with
the Law of the PRC on the Prevention and Control of Environmental
Pollution by Solid Wastes, the Measures for the Administration of
Permit for Operation of Dangerous Wastes, the National Hazardous
Waste List and other related laws and regulations.

“Procedures for Waste Management” is established to guide the
employees on how to dispose hazardous and non-hazardous
solid waste properly. For hazardous waste, all chemical wastes
are properly stored in a designated indoor warehouse on site
with secondary containment to prevent leakage. The removal
of chemicals on the ground requires the use of specific cloth or
sawdust to clean the site. And all the hazardous waste is collected
by authorized collectors. For non-hazardous waste, some of
the recyclable waste such as toner cartridges and batteries are
separately collected and handled by external recyclers. The other
general waste is stored in refuse area and collected by local
environmental and hygiene department. The Group has tried its
best to prevent any contamination of the underground water.

During the reporting period, the Group recorded approximately
901 tonnes of construction waste (2079: 27 tonnes), representing
an increase of approximately 3,236.7% from that of the same
period in 2019. The increase was primarily due to the construction
of new factory premises during the year. The Group believes that
construction waste will be reduced upon the completion of the
construction of new factory next year.
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ENVIRONMENTAL PERFORMANCE (CONTINUED) ERAE

ASPECT A1: EMISSIONS (Continued) FETE A1 BERU ()

Major Waste Generation Indicators FEEZEYEIE

Waste Types BEEYEE

Waste Types Unit 2019
REZEY IR B 2019 F
Hazardous Waste Tonnes 10.17 14.28
BEEED I

Construction Waste Tonnes 900.9 27
RERREEEY) Mg

Waste Intensity BEYELRE

Waste Intensity (per million revenue) Unit 2019
BEEYEERE(BARETHE) L v2 2019 &
Hazardous Waste Tonnes/million HKD revenue 0.01 0.01
BEREEY TRyl ey

Construction Waste Tonnes/million HKD revenue 1.14 0.02
FREEREEY) WE, B BBk

ASPECT A2: USE OF RESOURCES

The Group promotes resource efficiency in order to reduce the
environmental risk for our business. In order to achieve this
objective, the Group establishes “Procedures for reducing usage of
resources and energy’.

The Group hires professional and certified electricians for the
maintenance of the electricity system on site. The use of electricity
is recorded on a monthly basis. The Group also encourages the
employees to reduce the consumption of resources.

Water

Water is not the major component in the manufacturing process
as the Group focus on using injection molding and other waterless
techniques. Nevertheless, the Group has implemented measures
to reduce our consumption of water for operation and domestic
use. The Group strictly complies with the Law of the PRC on the
Prevention and Control of Water Pollution, the Urban Sewage
Treatment Plant Pollutant Discharge Standard and other related
laws and regulations.

Tian Chang Group Holdings Ltd.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

ENVIRONMENTAL PERFORMANCE (CONTINUED)
ASPECT A2: USE OF RESOURCES (Continued)
Water (Continued)

The Group has strictly regulated the handling of water discharge
during operations. All sewage is connected to the government
sewage pipeline and transferred to the local sewage treatment
plant. The cooling water system of the Group adopts recycling and
reuse measures. The Group monitors the system daily to prevent
any leakage. In addition, the Group conducts wastewater quality
monitoring annually.

Major indicators for resource consumption

RIE ~ B REIGHRS
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Resource Consumption Unit 2019
BRERE BAL 20194
Electricity Kilowatt hour 27,588,434 28,351,715
BhH FEF

Gasoline Litre 26,889 42,633
T 7

Natural Gas Cubic metre 32,777 52,786
RAR S K

Paper Kg 1,637 1,780
i N

Water Tonnes 180,092 203,645
7K L7

Packaging materials Tonnes 602 1,946
BEME I

Plastic Recycling Tonnes 323 621
BREYE Mg

Paper Recycling Tonnes 45 41
BBl E Mg

Major Resource Consumption Intensity FEEREFREE

Resource Consumption Unit 2019
BIREFE E=tiv2 20194
Electricity kWh/million HKD revenue 35,038 22,662
B TR, BEBTlE

Water kWh/million HKD revenue 229 163
X FTREE B8 TRE
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A. ENVIRONMENTAL PERFORMANCE (CONTINUED) A. BEFEE

ASPECT A3: THE ENVIRONMENT AND NATURAL BHEHA3 : REBEEHFAER
RESOURCES

AEBEEXBERMEERFTCIEHRAAN
BRERRERAEN - RAIBMNEAITE
REFRNETED  BEMRERRE
BERAARESNERSERAER -
P77 TE Bt A B T e A RR M DA R A $1 3R
BMEREROTE -

The Group takes all related environmental risk into account during
the planning of its business development. We are committed
to applying industry best practices and comply with legislation,
review and improve the environmental management system as
well as maintain effective communication with stakeholders. We
also assess our manufacturing process and machines regularly
in order to minimize the impacts on the environment and natural
resources.

B. SOCIAL PERFORMANCE B. HEXRHR
ASPECT B1: EMPLOYMENT [BEBl: FhE

ABTER¥EBEZ  WHSHEFTEE B
—E-TF+-_A=Z+—H8 KEEE
B #1.030%(2019F : 1,1685 ) B FH &
8o AT AKRER - BTHER - FiAE75!
il M8 THER ©

In order to achieve the business targets and to drive innovation,
the Group relies on a talented workforce of 1,030 employees as
at 31 December 2020 (2079: 1,768). The total workforce sorted
by gender, employment type, age group and geographical region
categories, are shown below.

Distribution of employees BES#H 2020 2019
Number of people Number of people
2020 2019
AE AEK
All employees 2BES 1,030 1,168
By gender B RIE D
Male B 575 699
Female 7t 455 469
By employment type RRKERNE S
Other staff HtET 893 1,021
Management TIBE 137 147
By age group BFRRAER B D
18 -30 18 - 30B% 229 298
31-50 31 - 505% 742 819
51 or above 515%3 A = 59 51
By geographical region ZitE 85
Hong Kong B 20 22
PRC I 1,010 1,146

Tian Chang Group Holdings Ltd.

Annual Report 2020



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

SOCIAL PERFORMANCE (CONTINUED)
ASPECT B1: EMPLOYMENT (Continued)

To promote fair working environment and employment practices,
the Group sets up a management system to evaluate salary
reviews and promotions, the system includes assessment of
employees’ performances, capability and contribution to the
company.

The working hours of the employees are set as 8-hour per day and
five working days per week. Upon the approval from the human
resources department, the employees can be arranged to work
overtime with a maximum of 3 hours per day and shall not exceed
a total working hour of 60 hours per week. The Group also states
the off-work periods of the employees and provides them paid
leaves as remuneration benefits and welfare. Trainings are also
provided to all employees, details please refer to the “Development
and Training” section below.

The Group also provides free housing and meal to our employees
in Huizhou. To promote diversity in our workplace, the Group's
“Management Procedures on Anti-Discrimination” endorsed by the
human resources department provides a clear structure on a fair
employment practice during recruitment. The policy clearly states
that any discrimination on race, gender, religion, national origin,
physical or mental disability, age, sexual orientation, and gender
identity are strictly prohibited during the employment process. The
procedure also clearly sets out the standard operation procedures
when discrimination practices are detected in workplace.
Trainings are provided to eliminate any discrimination practices
among employees. If any discrimination or harassment reports are
received, the Group will establish a working group to investigate
into the incident. The Group is honored to receive the SA8000:2014
Social Accountability Certification that recognizes our socially
acceptable practices in the workplace. The Group strives for a
better working environment for our employees.

The Group strictly complies with the related laws and
regulations, such as Cap. 57 Employment Ordinance, Cap. 480
Sex Discrimination Ordinance, Cap. 487 Disability Discrimination
Ordinance, Cap. 527 Family Status Discrimination Ordinance, Cap.
602 Race Discrimination Ordinance in Hong Kong, the Labour Law
of the PRC, the Labour Contract Law of the PRC, the Employment
Promotion Law of the PRC, the Labour Dispute Mediation and
Arbitration Law of the PRC and other related local labour laws and
regulations. During the reporting period, the Group is not aware
of any non-compliance with relevant rules and regulations on
employment, discrimination and welfare.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
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B. SOCIAL PERFORMANCE (cONTINUED) B. ME&RR«
ASPECT B1: EMPLOYMENT (Continued) FEE B : BE (&)
During the year, the Group held various recreational activities for RERN REEASB T RS BIRETE
staff to promote employee's work-life balance. g o DAMBERE B TEE AR T -
i

sketball competition

v ¥

Badminton competition Table tennis competition

PEKRLLE ERIRLE

Mid Autumn Festival Party
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

SOCIAL PERFORMANCE (CONTINUED)
ASPECT B2: HEALTH AND SAFETY

The employees’ health and safety are one of the Group's top
priority items, therefore, the Group implements “Management
Procedures on Health and Safety” to eliminate all potential
safety hazards and ensure a safe working environment to
protect employees from occupational injuries. The management
procedures cover all manufacturing operations in the factories
and highlight the safety requirements for the suppliers. The safety
committee conducts a risk assessment among the factories and
identify all potential health and safety hazards. The representatives
of the committee also tailor a health and safety educational and
training programme to all employees. In addition, all supervisors
from different departments are responsible for monitoring the
workers to prevent accidents and providing training on the proper
operating procedures to workers. If there are any operating
procedures that may endanger the workers' safety, supervisors
shall immediately report to their seniors and carry out remediation
process to reduce all potential hazards. Furthermore, if there
is any malfunctioning of machineries, workers have to report to
their supervisors. All passages along the working area are strictly
prohibited for storage and workers are not allowed to leave the
machines running while away. During the reporting period, there
were 9 cases (2079:13) of work-related injuries, and a total of 552
hours (20719: 541 hours) of lost working hours were recorded. No
work-related fatality cases were reported in both years.

Apart from our internal management procedures, the Group also
complies with relevant local laws and regulations, including Cap.
509 Occupational Safety and Health Ordinance in Hong Kong,
the Labour Law of the PRC, the Fire Control Law of the PRC, the
Law of the PRC on the Prevention and Treatment of Occupational
Diseases and the Measures for the Ascertainment of Work-related
Injuries. To prevent the outbreak of fire within the operation areas,
the security guards have to patrol the building site daily, such as
dormitory, factories, garages, lavatories and kitchen. They will also
ensure all equipped fire extinguishers are functioning properly.
The human resources department will guide the fire safety
committee to carry out one to two fire drill practices annually.

Lastly, to offer a healthy workplace environment to all employees,
the Group demands a clean and tidy working environment in all
operation areas. Ventilation machines are switched on during
working hours to ensure sufficient air ventilation indoors.
Sanitizing equipment and tools are provided among the dining
areas and spitting is strictly prohibited in the factories. The Group
also circulates notices to the employees to take precautionary
measures during peak seasons of influenza. We believe all the
aforementioned procedures can safeguard the employees’ health
and safety and minimize all potential workplace occupational
hazards.
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RIE ~ HIBREIGHRS

B. SOCIAL PERFORMANCE (CONTINUED) B.
ASPECT B2: HEALTH AND SAFETY (Continued)

Since the outbreak of COVID-19 epidemic, the Group has
implemented specific workplace health and safety measures in
accordance to the Prevention and Control of Disease Ordinance
(Cap. 599). Staff members are required to wear masks and
avoid large gathering in workplace. Flexible working hours and
lunch hours are implemented to prevent cross-infection. Non-
essential business travel was banned. Our factories in Huizhou
have followed the government’'s emergency public health policy,
including the suspension period and restriction on the work
resumption date.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

SOCIAL PERFORMANCE (CONTINUED)
ASPECT B3: DEVELOPMENT AND TRAINING

The Group has stipulated the “Management Procedures on
Development and Training” for in-house training and distribution of
work, which lists out the requirements and performance indicators
to enhance the employees’ occupational skillset and quality. It
also reinforced the development and training systems to ensure
all programmes are carried out in a smooth and continuous
practice. The human resources department is also responsible for
the instructions of job duties of each position and formulates an
annual training development plan.

Furthermore, the Group tailors different training courses to the
employees. For example, for the new employees, comprehensive
pre-job trainings and orientation programmes are provided
to them for introducing the company's background, culture,
regulations and safety requirements. New employees are also
subject to on-job trainings offered by their reporting departments.
Trainings are provided to newly promoted employees to enhance
their practical skills and adaptability in new positions. The Group
invites external institutions to organize training courses to the
employees regularly. The human resources department will revise
the annual training programmes in accordance with the reviews
and feedbacks of each department. During the reporting period,
the Group provided trainings to 1,435 staff (2079: 1,233). The
total training hours were 11,879 hours (2079: 12,776). The Group
believes the vocational training practices will allow us to nurture a
better, sustainable working environment and learning atmosphere
to the employees.

Percentage of employees trained by gender
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By gender b4 lE -y

Male S 54% 57%

Female egi 46% 43%

By employment type EREERE S

Other staff Hh 8T 92% 92%

Management EIRfE 8% 8%
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B. SOCIAL PERFORMANCE (conTINUED)

B. ME&RRu)

ASPECT B3: DEVELOPMENT AND TRAINING (Continued) Em B3 . ZEAZI (&
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Average training hours received per BNEITHFIGEINEE 2020
employee Hours
20205
AN
By gender RERIE D
Male 51 8.9 8.8
Female pgEd 7.6 8.1
By employment type REKERE S
Other staff Ht&8T 7.7 7.6
Management B 15.0 18.7

On-Job Training
FEREE I

On-Job Training
ERE

Tian Chang Group Holdings Ltd.
Annual Report 2020
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

SOCIAL PERFORMANCE (CONTINUED)
ASPECT B4: LABOUR STANDARDS

The Group strictly abides by all labour-related laws and
regulations of Hong Kong and the PRC, including Cap. 57
Employment Ordinance, Cap. 485 Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes Ordinance, Cap. 509 Occupational Safety and Health
Ordinance, Cap. 608 Minimum Wage Ordinance, the Labour Law
of the PRC, the Labour Contract Law of the PRC, the Provisions
on the Prohibition of Using Child Labor and the Law of the PRC
on the Protection of Minors. In addition to the compliance of the
labour-related laws and regulations, the Group has established
“Management Procedures on the Prohibition of Child Labour”.
Human Resources Department is not allowed to hire child
labour, who are aged under 16. During the recruitment process,
identification check is conducted, especially for those junior
workers who are aged between 16 and 17.

In case any child labour, our employees shall report to the
human resources department directly and senior departments
for immediate verification. The Group will report to local Labour
Department without delay. The Group is committed to protecting
human rights, to prohibiting forced labours, and to creating a
workplace with respect and fairness for our employees. During the
reporting period, the Group is not aware of any non-compliance
with relevant rules and regulations on preventing child or forced
labour.

ASPECT B5: SUPPLY CHAIN MANAGEMENT

To ensure the Group's products fulfill the expectations of
customers, minimizing any potential environmental and social
risks from our suppliers, the Group has established "Management
Procedures on Supply Chain” to select qualified and outstanding
suppliers. The procedure grades all suppliers by relevant rating
systems: outstanding suppliers are rating from 90 to 100 and
suppliers with rating from 65 to 89 are classified as pass; while
the rest are considered failed. The purchasing department is
responsible for managing all production and nonproduction
services suppliers. The ISO department is responsible for the
assessment of suppliers.

During the engagement process, the Group will assess all potential
suppliers based on their certification of management systems,
company profile, manufacturing procedures, status of production
and inspection equipment, environmental control and the
applicable operation or production license of certain hazardous
chemicals. Besides, the Group will select the suppliers who
have attained the certification of 1S09001:2015 or other related
documents. All samples and products have undergone applicable
quality test on-site. Inspection is carried out bi-annually for
suppliers rated as outstanding; while annual inspection is carried
out for suppliers rated as pass.
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SOCIAL PERFORMANCE (CONTINUED)
ASPECT B5: SUPPLY CHAIN MANAGEMENT (Continued)

The table below shows our number of suppliers by geographical
region during the reporting year:

tERE e
[EEB5 : HHEHEEIE ()

TRETERSFEARMES D0 E
G

Number of suppliers

HEREE

2019
2019 4F

Regions ih &
Hong Kong BE 92 78
PRC s 1,170 909
Others Hib 20 13
Total I 1,282 1,000

ASPECT Bé6: PRODUCT RESPONSIBILITY

To protect consumer data privacy and other confidential
documents, the Group strictly follows Cap. 528 Copyright
Ordinance, Cap. 486 Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance in Hong
Kong, the Law of the PRC on the Protection of Customer Rights and
Interests and has established clear instructions on how to prevent
leakage of confidential documents and effective management
of documents. The "Management of Confidential Documents”
classifies all documents into three broad categories: A, B or C
grade, based on the extent of sensitivity of the documents. The ISO
department is responsible for the classification, management and
distribution of documents. During the reporting period, the Group
did not record any personal data breach or leakage case.

The Group acknowledges the importance of intellectual
property rights. The Group will not plagiarize the design of
other organizations. The employees are required to maintain
confidentially of the Group’'s technology and trade secrets,
considering all such properties belong to assets of the Group.
During the reporting period, the Group was not aware of any
complaints or non-compliance with relevant laws and regulations
in relation to the intellectual property right.

The Group also complies with related national laws and regulations
on product safety. The Group will provide our best effort to ensure
our products are of top quality by conducting regular checks.
Besides, the Group also adopts responsible advertising and
labeling manner to minimize customer dissatisfaction. The Group
has implemented “Procedures on Information Exchange” to ensure
Operation Department are responsible for the product quality and
safety.

Tian Chang Group Holdings Ltd.
Annual Report 2020
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

SOCIAL PERFORMANCE (CONTINUED)
ASPECT Bé6: PRODUCT RESPONSIBILITY (Continued)

During the reporting period, our Group had not experienced any
material litigation, claims, return on sales, recalls, reworks, or
repairs from our customers.

ASPECT B7: ANTI-CORRUPTION

The Group expects the employees to carry out their work in a
responsible and honest manner. The Group strictly complies with
relevant laws and regulations, including Cap. 201 Prevention of
Bribery Ordinance, Cap. 615 Anti-Money Laundering and Counter-
Terrorist Financing Ordinance Hong Kong, the Criminal Law of the
PRC and its Judicial interpretation, the Criminal Procedure Law
and its Judicial interpretation, the Interpretation on Several Issues
Concerning the Applicable Laws to Handling Criminal Cases of
Embezzlement and Bribery, and the Anti-Money Laundering Law
of the PRC. In addition, the Group's "Management Procedures on
Anti-Bribery” applies to all entities among the corporate in order
to regulate all business activities.

The Group embraces responsible business practices and we
expect high moral standards and integrity from the employees and
business partners. To prevent employees from any malpractices
that may potentially threaten the Group's interest and reputation,
we regularly remind our employees to comply with the code of
practices. Anti-corruption training is also provided to directors
and employees regularly. Besides, it is clearly stated that all
capital and assets of the Group shall only be used in a legal and
appropriate manner. Any forms of bribery, extortion, fraud, money-
laundering and embezzlement are strictly forbidden. Employees
are allowed to report on any suspicious misbehavior of unethical
businesses to the senior management directly. All whistle-blowing
procedures are conducted in a confidential manner and the Group
will ensure all measures are undertaken to protect the privacy and
identity of the whistle-blower. The Group accepts zero tolerance to
any dishonesty and unethical business behaviors if any violation
is found, the Group will report to the government authorities
in accordance with the law and the involved employee will be
penalized immediately.

During the reporting period, the Group did not observe nor receive
any legal cases regarding corrupt practices.
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B. SOCIAL PERFORMANCE (coNTINUED) B. it&&RR(»
ASPECT B8: COMMUNITY INVOLVEMENT JEEBS : HESH
The Group endeavors to support the community development by AEEH SRS AL EFBUI AR
participating in social activities. The Group also encourages the BE - AEENSEEBS R A RERR
employees to devote themselves in volunteering services to the %o EmEHE  AREBEOSTES
community. During the reporting period, the Group has sponsored E5 o AEBARBEUESBLUT L2
disposable face masks to charitable institution. The Group will ZEPREMELERELE KIRROE
continue to fulfil its social responsibility by participating in more EmETHEEEMF -

charitable activities and devote more resources to the social and
environmental protection areas.

-

Certificate for sponsoring disposable
face masks to charitable institution

BROETEZER B

# ANTREE 2GRS

MR HEESE 2

Member of the charitable institution
ZEEBCEE
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. CHAN Tsan Lam, aged 60, is the founder of the Group. Mr. Chan is an
executive Director, Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of the Company.
He is primarily responsible for formulating corporate strategies,
overseeing the overall management of business and operation of the
Group. Mr. Chan is also a director of all of the Company's subsidiaries.
Mr. Chan has over 30 years of experience in marketing, strategic
planning and business management in the manufacturing industry.
From 1991 until Mr. Chan founded Sun Leader Mould Industrial Limited
("Sun Leader HK") in September 2000, Mr. Chan worked as a sole
proprietor specializing in mould design and manufacturing. Mr. Chan is
the father of Ms. Chan Yin Yan, an executive Director of the Company,
and Mr. Chan Tsz Wai, a senior management member of the Company.
He is one of the controlling shareholders of the Company.

Ms. POON Po Han Lisa, aged 58, is an executive Director, Chief Financial
Officer and Company Secretary of the Group. Ms. Poon has over 20 years
of experience in financial management, accounting and taxation working
in professional and commercial accounting sectors. Ms. Poon holds a
Bachelor of Science degree in accounting from The University of Hull
in the United Kingdom, and a Master's degree in Corporate Governance
from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University in Hong Kong. Ms. Poon is
a fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants,
an associate of The Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries and an
associate of The Institute of Chartered Secretaries and Administrators.
Ms. Poon joined the Group in May 2008 and was appointed as Chief
Financial Officer and Company Secretary in April 2017 and executive
Director in May 2019.

Ms. CHAN Yin Yan, aged 31, is an executive Director and the Chief
Operating Officer. Ms. Chan is primarily responsible for overseeing
the overall management of business and operation of the Group and
responsible for the marketing of the Group. Ms. Chan joined the Group in
June 2013 and has been responsible for managing part of the business
and developing the Group's customer base and is the key personnel in
developing the Group's e-cigarette business. Ms. Chan holds a Bachelor's
degree in Commerce from Curtin University of Technology in Australia.
Ms. Chan is the daughter of Mr. Chan, an executive Director, Chairman
and Chief Executive Officer of the Company, and the elder sister of Mr.
Chan Tsz Wai, a senior management member of the Company.

EEREREERE

BITES

BRIBMEE 6057 BAEEREIAA - &
EEETARRNNTES - TELKEENT
B -REEZBEHETLERE EEAEEH
BREERTEREE - RAEENAERQRHAT
ENBARIN—REE - MALEREEENE
i REEERESEES T EARERI0FN
KB o B 1991 F =PRI ER 2000F 9 AR HT
FEBEAEEERAA(HFMNEFEB)]) &
EERETBELESE BN EEARTRE
o MAEBRDRRPTEETRBEM AT RA
RERREEENERFELENRE T A
KARERERRR R 2 — ©

BHBMZL 585 RAKERTESR BF
MBERARME - BXLEEXRBESF
RUEEMHEE - STMBF T EEA R0
FRE - BRIHERBEABBABREFTERE
BETBUNEANBEAETIABLRERRE

T8 - BLLREFLARETNAGERS

B WEEAEERIWELTE B AKRES
WENITBRABREEE - FX LN 200845
AMAREE - R 201744 AR 20195
SABRZERERVBERATWEURNTE
% o

REMZL N5 BEERTEENEREE
BE-RALTTIZAEEBASENERBERKE
BREBEYABAREZNE - RLLN20134F
6 AMAREE - —HEREEERMNLD %K
MERASENEFEARERREAEEE
BEEBHERAL - RALHARAFERE
R AXERMEL RN - REXLT RARFHIT
Ex IFREEHTEREENZERAR
AEAREEEK BRI EREA -

AEEEERER AR
2020F F 3]




DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
EERERERE

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. NG Chi Wai, aged 42, is an independent non- executive Director.
He has over 15 years of experience in auditing, accounting and
corporate management. He has worked at the audit department of two
international accounting firms and he has held senior management
positions in different listed companies. He is currently an executive
director of a professional consultancy service company. Mr. Ng
holds a bachelor of art degree in accounting and finance from Leeds
Metropolitan University, the United Kingdom. He is a fellow member of
The Association of Chartered Certified Accountants and a member of The
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Mr. Ng has joined
our Group since May 2019.

Mr. HUNG Chun Leung, aged 54, is an independent non-executive
Director. Mr. Hung joined Messrs. Terry Yeung & Lai, Solicitors as a
consultant solicitor in July 1997 and has become a partner of Messrs.
Terry Yeung & Lai, Solicitors since February 2016. Mr. Hung has
approximately 20 years of experience in handling legal matters in the
areas of conveyancing, mortgage finance transactions, commercial
contracts, acquisition of shares, matrimonial cases, civil litigation and
estate agents disciplinary inquiry hearings. Mr. Hung has joined our
Group since February 2018. Mr. Hung obtained his bachelor of laws
degree with honours and Postgraduate Certificate in Laws from The
University of Hong Kong. Mr. Hung was admitted as a solicitor of the
Supreme Court of Hong Kong in October 1993 and has been a member
of the Law Society of Hong Kong since then.

Mr. CHAN Bing Kai, aged 74, is an independent non-executive
Director. Mr. Chan has over 40 years of experience in the industry of
manufacturing electronic products. Mr. Chan is the co-founder of a
company that designs and manufactures a comprehensive line of audio
and LED products, including CD, DVD, iPod docking or accessories and
other high-fidelity multimedia for LED OEM customers. Mr. Chan has
joined our Group since February 2018.

Tian Chang Group Holdings Ltd.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. WU Chen-Tong, aged 64, joined the Group in December 2015, is
the technical consultant to the Group’s research and development
department and he is primarily responsible for overseeing the
development and manufacturing of new products and quality control.
Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Wu worked as senior management in
Taiwan and Hong Kong companies where he gained vast experiences in
product design and development. Mr. Wu holds a Bachelor's degree in
Electronic Engineering from National Taiwan Ocean University.

Mr. YUEH Yung Chan, aged 48, is the vice general manager of the
Group's engineering department and he is primarily responsible for
overseeing the operation of the Group's production plant. Prior to joining
the Group in February 2015, Mr. Yueh has over 15 years of experience
in project engineering. Mr. Yueh obtained his Bachelor of Engineering
degree in manufacturing engineering, Postgraduate Diploma in
Mechanical Engineering from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University
and Master of Science degree in Mechanical Engineering from The Hong
Kong Polytechnic University.

Mr. CHAN Tsz Wai, aged 26, joined the Group in October 2016, is the
vice president of marketing. Mr. Chan is primarily responsible for the
development and marketing of new products of the Group. Mr. Chan
obtained his Bachelor of Arts degree in Business & Management from
The University of Lincoln in the United Kingdom. Mr. Chan is the son of
Mr. Chan Tsan Lam, an executive Director, Chairman and Chief Executive
Officer of the Company and the younger brother of Ms. Chan Yin Yan, an
executive Director of the Company.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
FREIBKRS

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE MEASURES

The Company is committed to maintaining high standards of corporate
governance to safeguard the interests of shareholders and to enhance
corporate value and accountability. The Board has adopted the principles
and the code provisions of the Corporate Governance Code (the "CG
Code”) contained in Appendix 14 to the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”) to ensure that
the Company's business activities and decision making processes are
regulated in a proper and prudent manner.

During the Period, the Company has applied the principles and code
provisions of the CG Code contained in Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules
(as in effect from time to time) as the basis of the Company's corporate
governance practices. The Company has complied with all the applicable
code provisions of the CG Code, save and except for the code provision
A.2.1. Details of the deviation from the code provision A.2.1 are explained
in the section “Chairman and Chief Executive Officer” of this corporate
governance report.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY
DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing
Rules (the "Model Code”) as its code of conduct regarding dealings in the
securities of the Company by the Directors and the Company's senior
management who, because of his/her office or employment, is likely to
possess inside information in relation to the Company'’s securities.

Upon specific enquiry, all Directors confirmed that they have complied
with the Model Code during the Period. In addition, the Company is
not aware of any non-compliance of the Model Code by the senior
management of the Company during the Period.
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THE BOARD
Board Composition

The Board currently comprises of 6 members, consisting of 3 executive
Directors and 3 independent non-executive Directors.

Executive directors

Mr. Chan Tsan Lam (Chairman)
Ms. Poon Po Han Lisa
Ms. Chan Yin Yan

Independent non-executive directors

Mr. Ng Chi Wai
Mr. Hung Chun Leung
Mr. Chan Bing Kai

The list of directors (by category) is also disclosed in all corporate
communications issued by the Company from time to time pursuant to
the Listing Rules. The independent non-executive Directors are expressly
identified in all corporate communications pursuant to the Listing Rules.

The biographical details of the directors of the Company are set out
under “Directors and Senior Management” section in this annual report.
Save as Ms. Chan Yin Yan is the daughter of Mr. Chan Tsan Lam, none of
the members of the Board is related to one another.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Mr. Chan Tsan Lam (“Mr. Chan") is the chairman of the Board and
chief executive officer of the Company. Although this deviates from the
practice under code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code, where it provides
that the two positions should be held by two different individuals, as
Mr. Chan has considerable experience in the enterprise operation and
management of the Company, the Board believes that it is in the best
interests of the Company and its shareholders as a whole to continue
to have Mr. Chan as chairman of the Board so that it can benefit from
his experience and capability in leading the Board in the long-term
development of the Company. From a corporate governance point of
view, the decisions of the Board are made collectively by way of voting
and therefore the chairman should not be able to monopolize the
decision-making of the Board. The Board considers that the balance
of power between the Board and management can still be maintained
under the current structure. The Board shall review the structure from
time to time to ensure appropriate action be taken should the need arise.

Save as disclosed above, during the year ended 31 December 2020, the
Company has complied with the CG Code.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EREIRIRS

THE BOARD (CONTINUED)
Independent Non-Executive Directors

Throughout the Period, the Board has at all times met the requirements
of the Rules 3.10 and 3.10A of the Listing Rules of having three
independent non-executive Directors (representing at least one third of
the Board) with at least one of them possessing appropriate professional
qualifications, or accounting or related financial management expertise.

The independent non-executive Directors bring a wide range of business
and financial expertise, experience and independent judgement to the
Board and they are invited to serve on the board committees of the
Company. Through active participation at board meeting, taking the
lead in managing issues involving potential conflict of interests, all
independent non-executive Directors have made various contributions
to the effective direction of the Company and provided adequate checks
and balances to safeguard the interests of both the Group and the
shareholders.

The Company has received written confirmation from each independent
non-executive Director of his independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules. The Company considers all independent non-executive
Directors to be independent in light of the independence guidelines set
out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

Appointment and re-election of directors and non- executive
Directors

All Directors of the Company are appointed for a specific term, subject
to renewal upon expiry of the existing term. Each executive Director
is engaged on a service agreement for a term of three years. The
appointment may be terminated by either party by not less than
three months’ written notice. Each of the independent non-executive
Directors of the Company is appointed for a term of three years, which
appointment may be terminated by either party by not less than one
month's written notice.

The procedure and process of appointment, re-election and removal of
Directors are laid down in the Company's Articles of Association (the
“Articles”). The Nomination Committee is responsible for reviewing
board composition, monitoring the appointment of directors and
assessing the independent non-executive Directors.
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THE BOARD (coNTINUED)

Appointment and re-election of directors and non- executive
Directors (Continued)

According to the Articles, one-third of the Directors for the time being
(if their number is not a multiple of three, the number nearest to but
not less than one-third) shall retire from office by rotation at each
annual general meeting provided that every director shall be subject to
retirement at an annual general meeting at least once every three years.
In addition, any new Director appointed by the Board to fill a casual
vacancy in the Board shall hold office only until the first general meeting
after appointment, and any new director appointed by the Board as an
addition to the Board shall hold office until the next following annual
general meeting of the Company. The retiring Directors are eligible for
re-election by the shareholders at the respective general meetings.

At the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company (the "AGM"),
Ms. Chan Yin Yan and Mr. Chan Bing Kai will retire at the AGM pursuant
to the Articles provisions stated in the foregoing paragraph. All the above
retiring Directors, being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election at
the AGM. The Board and the Nomination Committee recommended their
re-appointment. The Company'’s circular, sent together with this annual
report, contains detailed information of the above retiring Directors as
required by the Listing Rules.

Duties performed by the Board and management

The Board is responsible for the overall development of the Group,
approving and monitoring the overall development strategy of the
Group, assessing, monitoring and controlling the operation and financial
performance, ensuring that the Directors perform their proper duties
and act in the best interests of the Group and hold discussions on
various important and proper businesses of the Company in a timely
manner. All Directors are entitled to raise and include any matters
that should be submitted to the Board for discussion in the agenda of
the board meeting. The management shall provide members of the
Board and specialized committees under the Board with appropriate
and sufficient information in a timely manner so as to update them
with the latest developments of the Group and to better facilitate the
discharge of their duties. The management team is accountable to the
Board, executing the strategies and plans formulated by the Board, and
making decisions in relation to the day-to-day operation of the Group.
The management reports monthly to the Board on the operation and
financial performance of the Group.
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THE BOARD (CONTINUED)
Duties performed by the Board and management (Continued)

The Board is also responsible for determining the Company's corporate
governance policies which include:

(@) to develop and review the Company's policies and practices on
corporate governance;

(b)  to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of the Directors and senior management;

(c)  to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

(d)  to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct applicable to
the directors and employees; and

(e)  to review the compliance with the CG Code and disclosures in the
corporate governance report.

Training, induction and continuing development of Directors

Prior to the Listing, all Directors have been given relevant guideline
materials and attended a training regarding the duties and
responsibilities of being a Director, the relevant laws and regulations
applicable to the Directors, duty of disclosure of interest in the Group.
Such induction materials and briefings will also be provided to newly
appointed Directors shortly upon their appointment as Directors.
Continuing briefings and professional development to Directors will be
arranged whenever necessary. The Company will continue to arrange

and fund the training in accordance with code provision A.6.5 of the CG
Code.
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THE BOARD (CONTINUED)
Board Meeting

During the Period, five board meetings were held and the attendance
records of individual Directors are set out below:
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Meeting held
Attendance/ on 28 May 2020

Number of 72020 5
Board Meetings 5H28H
HE EEg BITHRR
BERE BEXE
Executive Directors BITEE

Mr. Chan Tsan Lam (Chairman) PRIZMICHE(E/E) 5/5 171
Ms. Poon Po Han Lisa EBEM L 5/5 1/1
Ms. Chan Yin Yan PRI 2L+ 5/5 11

Independent Non-Executive Directors BUFHTEE
Mr. Ng Chi Wai REEEE 5/5 171
Mr. Hung Chun Leung HEREE 5/5 1/1
Mr. Chan Bing Kai PR SR P ST 5/5 1/1

Board committees
Nomination committee

The Company established a nomination committee (the “Nomination
Committee”) on 8 February 2018 with written terms of reference in
compliance with code provision A5 of the CG Code.

The duties of the Nomination Committee include, without limitation,
(a) to review the structure, size, composition and diversity (including
without limitation, gender, age, cultural and educational background,
ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of
service) of the Board at least annually and make recommendations
on any proposed changes to the Board to complement the Company's
corporate strategy; (b) to determine the policy for the nomination of
directors, identify individuals suitably qualified to become members
of the Board and may select individuals nominated for directorship;
(c) to assess the independence of the independent non-executive
directors; and (d) to make recommendations to the Board on the
appointment or re- appointment of directors and succession planning
for directors, in particular the chairman and the chief executive, taking
into the Company'’s corporate strategy and the mix of skills, knowledge,
experience and diversity needed in the future.
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THE BOARD (cONTINUED)
Board committees (Continued)
Nomination committee (Continued)

The Nomination Committee consists of Mr. Chan Tsan Lam, Mr. Hung
Chun Leung and Mr. Ng Chi Wai. Mr. Chan Tsan Lam is the chairman of
the Nomination Committee.

During the Period, the Nomination Committee met once to review the
structure, size and composition of the Board, assess the independence
of the independent non-executive Directors and other related matters of
the Company.

Board Diversity Policy

The Board has adopted a board diversity policy (the "Board Diversity
Policy”) which sets out the approach to achieve a sustainable and
balanced development of the Company and also to enhance the quality
of performance of the Company.

Implementation

The Nomination Committee will review annually the structure,
size and composition of the Board and, where appropriate, make
recommendations on changes to the Board to complement the
Company'’s corporate strategy.

In reviewing and assessing the Board composition and the nomination
of directors (as applicable), board diversity has to be considered from a
number of aspects, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
educational background, professional qualifications, skills, knowledge,
industry and regional experience and length of services.

The Company will also take into account factors relating to its own
business model and specific needs from time to time. The ultimate
decision is based on merit and contribution that the selected candidates
will bring to the Board.
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THE BOARD (CONTINUED)
Board committees (Continued)
Nomination committee (Continued)

Nomination Policy

A “Nomination Policy” for Directors was formally adopted and this
incorporated the nomination criteria and principles for Directors that
are set out in the Nomination Committee's terms of reference. The
Nomination Policy applies to the directors of the Company and where
applicable, senior management prepared for Board positions under the
succession planning of the Company.

The Nomination Policy aims to (i) set out the criteria and process in the
nomination and appointment of directors of the Company; (ii) ensure
that the Board of the Company has a balance of skills, experience and
diversity of perspectives appropriate to the Company; and (iii) ensure the
Board continuity and appropriate leadership at Board level.

In evaluating and selecting any candidate for directorship, the following
criteria should be considered:

. Character and integrity;

. Qualifications including professional qualifications, skills,
knowledge and experience and diversity aspects under the Board
Diversity Policy that are relevant to the Company’s business and
corporate strategy;

. Any measurable objectives adopted for achieving diversity on the
Board;

° Requirement for the Board to have independent directors in
accordance with the Listing Rules and whether the candidate
would be considered independent with reference to the
independence guidelines set out in the Listing Rules;

. Any potential contributions the candidate can bring to the Board
in terms of qualifications, skills, experience, independence and
gender diversity;
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THE BOARD (cONTINUED)

Board committees (Continued)

Nomination committee (Continued)

Nomination Policy (Continued)

Willingness and ability to devote adequate time to discharge duties
as a member of the Board and/or Board committee(s) of the
Company; and

Such other perspectives that are appropriate to the Company's
business and succession plan and where applicable, may be
adopted and/or amended by the Board and/or the Nomination
Committee from time to time for nomination of directors and
succession planning.

Nomination process

Appointment of new directors

(i)

(if)

(iii)

(iv)

The Nomination Committee and/or the Board may select
candidates for directorship from various channels, including but
not limited to internal promotion, re-designation, referral by other
member of the management and external recruitment agents.

The Nomination Committee and/or the Board should, upon
receipt of the proposal on appointment of new director and the
biographical information (or relevant details) of the candidate,
evaluate such candidate based on the criteria as set out above to
determine whether such candidate is qualified for directorship.

If the process yields one or more desirable candidates, the
Nomination Committee and/or the Board should rank them by
order of preference based on the needs of the Company and
reference check of each candidate (where applicable).

The Nomination Committee should then recommend to the
Board to appoint the appropriate candidate for directorship, as
applicable.

For any person that is nominated by a shareholder for election as
a director at the general meeting of the Company, the Nomination
Committee and/or the Board should evaluate such candidate
based on the criteria as set out above to determine whether such
candidate is qualified for directorship.
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THE BOARD (CONTINUED)
Board committees (Continued)
Nomination committee (Continued)

Nomination process (Continued)

Appointment of new directors (Continued)

Where appropriate, the Nomination Committee and/or the Board should
make recommendation to shareholders in respect of the proposed
election of director at the general meeting.

Re-election of directors at general meeting

(i) The Nomination Committee and/or the Board should review the
overall contribution and service to the Company of the retiring
director and the level of participation and performance on the
Board.

(i) The Nomination Committee and/or the Board should also review
and determine whether the retiring director continues to meet the
criteria as set out above.

(i) The Nomination Committee and/or the Board should then make
recommendation to shareholders in respect of the proposed re-
election of director at the general meeting.

Where the Board proposes a resolution to elect or re-elect a candidate
as director at the general meeting, the relevant information of the
candidate will be disclosed in the circular to shareholders and/or
explanatory statement accompanying the notice of the relevant general
meeting in accordance with the Listing Rules and/or applicable laws and
regulations.
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THE BOARD (cONTINUED)
Board committees (Continued)
Nomination committee (Continued)

Details of attendance of members at meeting of the Nomination
Committee held during the Period are set out as follows:

REZEGNERNAHRLFIREZESSE

/7

Attendance/

Number of

Meetings

HE EBXE

Mr. Chan Tsan Lam (Chairman) FRIEMAE(FE) A

Mr. Hung Chun Leung R EE 171

Mr. Ng Chi Wai REERLE 111
Audit committee EREEE

The Company established an audit committee (the “Audit Committee”)
on 8 February 2018 with written terms of reference in compliance with
Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules and code provision C3 of the CG Code.

The duties of the audit committee include, without limitation, (a) to be
primarily responsible for making recommendation to the Board on the
appointment, reappointment and removal of the external auditor, and
to approve the remuneration and terms of engagement of the external
auditor, and any questions of its resignation or dismissal; (b) to review
and monitor the external auditor's independence and objectivity and
the effectiveness of the audit process in accordance with applicable
standards; and (c) to discuss the risk management and internal control
system with management to ensure that management has performed
its duty to have effective systems.

The audit committee consists of Mr. Ng Chi Wai, Mr. Hung Chun Leung
and Mr. Chan Bing Kai. Mr. Ng Chi Wai is the chairman of the audit
committee.

During the Period, the audit committee met thrice to review the annual
financial statements of the Company and the effectiveness of the
Company's financial controls, internal control and risk management
systems.
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THE BOARD (CONTINUED)
Board committees (Continued)
Audit committee (Continued)

Details of attendance of members at meetings of the audit committee
held during the Period are set out as follows:
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EREEENERAPHERERZESSH
BT

Attendance/

Number of

Meetings

HESERE

Mr. Ng Chi Wai (Chairman) REREE(EE) 3/3
Mr. Hung Chun Leung R EE 3/3
Mr. Chan Bing Kai PR SR PR ST A 3/3

Remuneration committee

The Company established a remuneration committee (the
“Remuneration Committee”) on 8 February 2018 with written terms
of reference in compliance with Rule 3.25 of the Listing Rules and
paragraph B1 of the CG Code as set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing
Rules.

The duties of the remuneration committee, under the principle that
no Director should be involved in deciding his own remuneration,
include, without limitation, (a) to make recommendations to the Board
on the Company’s policy and structure for all directors and senior
management remuneration and on the establishment of a formal
and transparent procedure for developing remuneration policy; (b) to
make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration packages of
individual executive directors and senior management; and (c) to review
and approve the management's remuneration proposals with reference
to the Board's corporate goals and objectives.

The remuneration committee consists of Mr. Chan Bing Kai, Mr. Ng Chi
Wai and Mr. Chan Tsan Lam. Mr. Chan Bing Kai is the chairman of the
remuneration committee.
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THE BOARD (cONTINUED)
Board committees (Continued)
Remuneration committee (Continued)

During the Period, the remuneration committee met twice to review the
remuneration policy for all directors and senior management. Details of
attendance of members at meeting of the remuneration committee held
during the Period are set out as follows:

EFE®w
EESZES(H)
BHESEE)

RAHRE  FFMEESERTMAGRNERH
PRESNSRERBZHFMNER - FHES
eRERAHREETFMEEeERNFBN
TS s

Attendance/

Number of

Meetings

HEEBRE

Mr. Chan Bing Kai (Chairman) PR SEE(EE) 2/2

Mr. Chan Tsan Lam FRIE M £ 2/2

Mr. Ng Chi Wai RERLELE 2/2
COMPANY SECRETARY NEWE

The company secretary of the Company is Ms. Poon Po Han Lisa, who
fulfils the qualification requirements laid down in the Listing Rules.
Biographical details of Ms. Poon are set out under “Directors and Senior
Management” section in this annual report.

EXTERNAL AUDITORS AND REMUNERATION

The statement of the external auditor of the Company about their
reporting responsibilities for the Company's financial statements for the
year ended 31 December 2020 is set out in the Independent Auditor’'s
Report on pages 61 to 68 of this annual report.

The fees paid/payable to TANDEM (HK) CPA Limited, the Company's
auditors, in respect of audit services and non-audit services for the year
ended 31 December 2020 are analysed below:

ARBZARAMERBTERLL R/ LT
RAFFE c EERE - BLLZBEFIFHERN
AEREEZRSRERE | -

FhES 1% BY B K BN &

AN A E NS R BT A 18 5 N R B L E 2020
F12AN HLEFENMBRRNERTENE
RENAFERESE 61 B X 68 BRVBH X BEAD
HENA -

HZE202006 12831 BIEFE - BN/ ENK
RNAZEBEMBXR(EE)CHAMEBEEMBER A A
RIZE R IEZBREERSTWOT ¢

Fees paid/
payable
Types of services provided by the external auditors SNEREET IR MRS ESE B ENER
HK$'000
FH&T

Audit services fee for the year ended 31 December 2020 HZE2020F12 A31 BHIEFER
RERGE 900
Agreed-upon procedures of interim financial statements PHAB IR W R IR T 130
Total e 1,030

The auditor’s remuneration disclosed in note 9 to the consolidated financial
statements included HK$222,000, which was paid/payable to the statutory
auditors of the PRC subsidiaries of the Company (not TANDEM (HK) CPA Limited).
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR FINANCIAL
STATEMENT

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements for each financial year, which
give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Group and of the
results and cash flows of the Group for that year and in compliance with
relevant law and disclosure provisions of the Listing Rules. In preparing
the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2020, the
Directors have selected appropriate accounting policies and applied
them consistently, made judgements and estimates that are reasonable,
and have prepared disclosure of the financial position of the Group with
reasonable accuracy at any time.

The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating to
events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company’'s
ability to continue as a going concern.

INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board is responsible for maintaining sound and effective internal
control and risk management systems in order to safeguard the
Group's assets and shareholders’ interests, and review and monitor
the effectiveness of the Group's internal control and risk management
systems on a regular basis so as to ensure that the internal control
and risk management systems in place are adequate. The purpose is
to provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance against material
misstatements, errors, losses or fraud, and to manage rather than
eliminate risks of failure in achieving the Group's business objectives.

The Group does not have an internal audit function due to the size of
the Group and for cost effectiveness consideration. During the year
ended 31 December 2020, the Board, through its Audit Committee
carries out reviews on the effectiveness of the internal control and risk
management systems. The Audit Committee had reported during the
Audit Committee meetings the key findings identified by the Company’s
external auditor in respect of the Group’'s internal controls and risk
management and discussed findings and actions or measures taken in
addressing those findings. The Company considers the internal control
and risk management system is effective during the year under review.
No material issues on the Group's internal control and risk management
system have been identified during the year ended 31 December 2020
which required significant rectification works.
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SHAREHOLDER RIGHTS

Procedures for shareholders to convene an extraordinary general
meeting

Pursuant to Article 58 of the Articles, the Board may whenever it thinks
fit call extraordinary general meetings. Any one or more members
holding at the date of deposit of the requisition not less than one-
tenth of the paid up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting
at general meetings of the Company shall at all times have the right,
by written requisition to the Board or the secretary of the Company,
to require an extraordinary general meeting to be called by the Board
for the transaction of any business specified in such requisition; and
such meeting shall be held within two (2) months after the deposit
of such requisition. If within twenty-one (21) days of such deposit the
Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting the requisitionist(s)
himself (themselves) may do so in the same manner, and all reasonable
expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the
Board shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

Procedures for shareholders to put forward proposals at
shareholders’ meeting

If a shareholder wishes to put forward proposals at a shareholders’
meeting, the shareholder, who has satisfied the shareholding
requirements set out in the above paragraph headed "Procedures for
shareholders to convene an extraordinary general meeting”, may follow
the same procedures by sending a written requisition to the Board
or the company secretary at the principal place of business of the
Company in Hong Kong. The shareholder should state his/her proposals
in the written requisition and submit the written requisition as early
as practicable to enable the company secretary to make necessary
arrangement.
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SHAREHOLDER RIGHTS (CONTINUED)
Procedures for directing shareholder’s enquiries to the Board

Shareholders may send written enquiries to the Company for putting
forward any enquiries or proposals to the Board. Contact details are as

follows:

Address: Workshop Unit 6, 13th Floor, Block B, Hoi Luen Industrial
Centre, 55 Hoi Yuen Road, Kwun Tong, Hong Kong

Email: info@hktcgroup.com

For the avoidance of doubt, shareholder(s) must deposit and send the
original duly signed written requisition, notice or statement, or enquiry
(as the case may be) to the above address and provide their full name,
contact details and identification in order to give effect thereto.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company considers that effective communication with
shareholders is essential for enhancing investor relations and investors’
understanding of the Groups’ business performance and strategies. The
Company also recognises the importance of transparency and timely
disclosure of corporate information, which will enable shareholders and
investors to make the best investment decisions.

The general meetings of the Company provide a platform for
communication between the Board and the shareholders. The Chairman
of the Board as well as chairmen of the Nomination Committee,
Remuneration Committee and Audit Committee or in their absence,
other members of the respective committees, and, where applicable, the
chairman of the independent board committee are available to answer
questions at the shareholders’ meeting.

To promote effective communication, the Company maintains a website
at www.hktcgroup.com where up-to-date information and updates
on the Company's business operations and development, financial
information and other information are available to public access.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

During the Period, the Company did not make any changes to its Articles.
An up-to-date version of the Articles is available on the websites of the
Stock Exchange and the Company respectively.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EERGHRE

The Directors are pleased to present the annual report and the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2020.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND BUSINESS REVIEW

The principal activities of the Company is investment holding. Principal
activities of the subsidiaries are set out in Note 15 to the consolidated
financial statements.

A review of the business of the Group during the year, a discussion on
the Group's future business development and an analysis of the Group's
performance during the year using key financial performance indicators
are provided in the "Chairman’s Statement” on pages 4 to 5 and the
“Management Discussion and Analysis” on pages é to 12 of this annual
report.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE RELEVANT LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group was not aware of
material non-compliance with the relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the business and operations of the Group.

RELATIONSHIPS WITH CUSTOMERS, SUPPLIERS AND
EMPLOYEES

We recognise that employees, customers and suppliers are keys to our
sustainable development. We are committed to establishing a close and
caring relationship with our employees, providing high quality products
and services to our customers and maintaining cooperation with our
suppliers.

We provide a fair and safe workplace, promote diversity, and provide
competitive remuneration packages and career development
opportunities for our employees based on their performance and
experience. The Group also provides regular training and development
resources to the employees so that they can keep abreast of the latest
development of the market and the industry and, at the same time,
improve their performance and self-fulfillment in their positions.
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PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The principal risks and uncertainties faced by the Group include market
and financial risks.

Market Risks

The fluctuation of prices of raw materials exposes us to risks. While
we monitor the price of raw materials and adjust our price quotations
accordingly, we may not be able to directly pass on any increase in the
price of raw materials to our customers in time or at all, which may have
a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results
of operations.

Financial Risks

The financial risk management objectives and policies of the Group are
shown in Note 34(b) to the consolidated financial statements.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

The Group recognises the importance of environmental protection and
has adopted stringent measures for environmental protection in order
to ensure our compliance with the prevailing environmental protection
laws and regulations.

During the year, the Group did not have any violation of relevant
environmental regulations and rules which gives rise to significant
impact to the Group's development, performance and businesses.

The environmental, social and governance report are provided in the
“Environmental, Social and Governance report” on pages 13 to 30 of this
annual report.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2020 and
the financial position of the Group as at that date are set out in the
consolidated financial statements on pages 69 to 187 of this annual
report.

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board recommends the payment of a final dividend of HK1.5 cents
per share for the year ended 31 December 2020 to the shareholders
whose names appear on the register of members of the Company at
the close of business on 17 June 2021. The proposed final dividend is
subject to the approval of the shareholders at the forthcoming annual
general meeting. The final dividend, if approved, is expected to be paid
on 28 June 2021.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EEBHRE

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

For determining the entitlement to attend and vote at the AGM to be held
on 28 May 2021, the register of members of the Company will be closed
from 25 May 2021 to 28 May 2021, both dates inclusive, during which
period no transfer of shares will be registered. In order to be eligible to
attend and vote at the AGM, unregistered holders of the Company should
ensure that all share transfer documents, accompanied by the relevant
share certificates, are lodged with the Company's branch share registrar
in Hong Kong, Tricor Investor Services Limited, at Level 54, Hopewell
Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong for registration not later than
4:30 p.m. on 24 May 2021.

The register of members of the Company will be closed from 15
June 2021 to 17 June 2021 (both days inclusive) for the purpose of
determining the identity of members who are entitled to the final
dividend for the year ended 31 December 2020, during which period no
transfer of shares of the Company will be registered. In order to qualify
for the final dividend, all transfers accompanied by the relevant share
certificates, must be lodged with the Company’'s Hong Kong branch
share registrar in Hong Kong, Tricor Investor Services Limited, at Level
54, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong for registration
not later than 4:30 p.m. on 11 June 2021.

FIVE YEARS FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the Group's results, assets and liabilities for the past
five financial years are set out on page 188 of this annual report. The
summary does not form part of the audited financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movement in the Group's property, plant and equipment
during the year are set out in Note 16 to the consolidated financial
statements.

BANK BORROWINGS

Particulars of the bank borrowings of the Group as at 31 December 2020
are set out in Note 24 to the consolidated financial statements.

Tian Chang Group Holdings Ltd.
Annual Report 2020

EFmERMEFRERFR

AEFELESN 202145 A 28 HETHREE
FRERNEG LREMEF zkﬂaﬂﬁ%ﬁézom
F5A25H 22021 F5 AR (R 2 B EM
R)EEHERNDBEELFE HHF%EM\@F‘
BEMBRHOBFERL - AHAEREFERER
FRAEMNE ERE  ARAMAERZRFEA
ERERATA RS aﬁﬁxﬁ@ﬁ*ﬁﬁﬁﬁ&%—iﬂ;ﬁzﬁé
2021 F5 A2 H TN FUB =+ D EERARAT
BERNBPELIRESEESFELARARGE
IAEBE2RAER 18354 M0 541 ) P18
%i‘aa?%,a

A EAEEREE2020F12A3BIEEE
REREMB R FH - AREHEK2021F 6 B
1I5EE2021F6A17TH(BEEREMKR)EF
HERHBPERFE  BHRARRAETER
ii&ﬂﬂ%}zﬂﬁ’éua ERFAERERAHRK

BT AR S ERMEREETER 2021
iéﬂ MBEBTFUE=FTDXERABRES
NEBRNBFERIESEFEFELBRA
7(%%%%&% JE KIEHR 18354 A A ()54

B RBERFE o
AEMBEHEL

AEEREREMBFEENEE EERBE
VL BN A FIRE 188 B o ZBLR I THEAKE
BRZUBHRERO—ED
W% - BB Rxm

AEENME BELRBREFRNEBSHNFE
WA M IBERERMTE 16 ©

|ITER

REBER2020F12 A31 BRRITERFISE
RER A TS IRTRMIFE 24 ©



SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movement in the Company's share capital during the
Period are set out in Note 28 to the consolidated financial statements.

DIVIDEND POLICY

On 28 December 2018, the Board approved and adopted a dividend
policy that, in recommending or declaring dividends, the Company
shall maintain adequate cash reserves for meeting its working capital
requirements, future business growth and its shareholding value.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles or the
laws of the Cayman Islands which would oblige the Company to offer
new shares on a pro rata basis to existing shareholders of the Company.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

Neither the Company, nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company's listed securities during the Period.

RESERVES

Details of the movement in reserves of the Company and the Group
during the Period are set out in Note 29 to the consolidated financial
statements.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the Period and up to the date of this report are:

Executive Directors

Mr. Chan Tsan Lam (Chairman)
Ms. Poon Po Han Lisa
Ms. Chan Yin Yan

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Ng Chi Wai
Mr. Hung Chun Leung
Mr. Chan Bing Kai

Pursuant to Article 84 of the Company's Articles, Ms. Chan Yin Yan and
Mr. Chan Bing Kai will retire at the AGM and, being eligible, will offer
themselves for re-election at the AGM.
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FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

Details of the five highest paid individuals in the Group are set out in
Note 11 to the consolidated financial statements.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE AGREEMENTS

Each of the executive Directors entered into a services agreement with
the Company for a term of three years commencing from the Listing
Date, which may be terminated by either party giving not less than three
months’ notice in writing.

The Company has issued a letter of appointment to each of the
independent non-executive Directors for a term of three years
commencing from the Listing Date, unless terminated by either party
giving to the other not less than one month’s notice in writing.

No director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual general
meeting has a service agreement which is not determinable by the
Group within one year without payment of compensation, other than
statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in the section headed "Related Party Transactions”
in this report and Note 32 to the consolidated financial statements,
no Director had a material interest, either directly or indirectly, in
any contract of significance to the business of the Group to which the
Company, its holding company, or any of its subsidiaries or fellow
subsidiaries was a party during the Period.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHT TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR DEBENTURE

At no time during the Period was the Company or any of its subsidiaries
a party to any arrangements to enable the directors of the Company to
acquire by means of acquisition of shares, or debt securities, including
debentures, of the Company or any other body corporate.
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DIRECTORS ' INTERESTS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at the date of this report, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and chief executive of the Company in the shares, underlying
shares and debentures of the Company and its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinances
(the "SF0")), as recorded in the register required to be kept under
Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as set out in Appendix
10 of the Listing Rules were as follows:

Long position in issued ordinary shares of the Company
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EEREM  HRERMRREENE

b 4

RABERH  ARAEERTIETHRAERR
AR R EEEAE (E & R(E 7 LB FRH)
(TBERAEHFRH ) EXVE) D - HEE RN
KAEREZ D HEA L TRIEE S NS P15 352
RSN Z G E M AN ERIOXE
HRE EMAR RSB EMETAESRE
TRFXZHRETAN(MRETFA DAEMER
N SR B R A s SRR

X7

REQFCRITEBRNER

Number of
Number of underlying Approximate
shares of shares of Total percentage of
the Company the Company interests shareholding
Name of Director Capacity RAT] ARA T HEE REBN
o -3 RHEE R EE BrER Batt
(Note 2)
(Kiat 2)
Mr. Chan Tsan Lam Interest in controlled 373,395,000 - 379,923,000 61.3%
corporation (Note 1)
BRIGMR T & Rt EE RS (A1)
Beneficial interest 5,908,000 620,000
BEan
Chan Yin Yan Beneficial interest - 6,200,000 6,200,000 1%
BER SRR BamEn
Poon Po Han Lisa Beneficial interest - 6,200,000 6,200,000 1%
A E I BatEn
Hung Chun Leung Beneficial interest - 500,000 500,000 0.08%
HIER EatEn
Chan Bing Kai Beneficial interest - 500,000 500,000 0.08%
BoR SR i BamEn

Note 1. These shares are held by Oceanic Green Group Limited ("Oceanic Green"),
New Strength Ventures Limited ("New Strength”), Gold Alliance Ventures
Limited ("Gold Alliance”) and Treasure Line Holdings Limited (“Treasure
Line"), all of which are wholly owned by Mr. Chan Tsan Lam. By virtue of the

SFO, Mr. Chan Tsan Lam is deemed to be interested in the shares held by

Oceanic Green, New Strength, Gold Alliance and Treasure Line.

Note 2: These represent the Shares to be issued and allotted by the Company upon
exercise of the options granted under the Option Scheme (as defined herein

below).

Mt ZERMHTIBEREEERAF(ER]) - ¥
HEIBERRTHLD 2 HERERA
A)([£ 1 |) & Treasure Line Holdings Limited
([Treasure Line ) ¥ 5 © 525 R A1 AREMN
KERERE - RIBZESRIE KA - BRIEMT
HEWHERBRER - ¥ - &1 K Treasure Line
RENRMDPHEER -

Hrit2 - ZERMIDERARARREBERESSI(ERR
TO)FEZ BT ER S T RITREEZ
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DIRECTORS ' INTERESTS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES (CONTINUED)

Long position in issued ordinary shares of the Company (Continued)

Save as disclosed above, as at the date of this report, none of the
Directors or chief executive of the Company had any interests or short
positions in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company
and its associated corporation (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFQO)
as recorded in the register required to be kept under Section 352 of the
SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS INTERESTS IN SHARES
AND UNDERLYING SHARES

As at the date of this report, the following persons (other than the
Directors and chief executive of the Company) had interests in the
shares and underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the
register required to be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the
SFO:

EEREM  HRERMRREENE

8@
REQATCBRITZERNTA @)

BREXIEEIN  RABREEH  $EAR
AEERETETRABRARAKEBEEE
(EERBHF LG GRS XV ER) et - 187
B ERE R A RIEE S R P 352
RACERMN Z RIS B M ARV E R SOR R
HARBIFETRIFME AN F MR ER
FOKR °

F R BRI AR 17 B 46 BR AR 7 B HE &=
RARERH > UTAL(RRREZREELT
BABBRINRAR R KRBT HEER

BES LG IENE 336 (G R B REEE L IGAT
BB MRS

REAFCBRITEBRRNER

Long position in issued ordinary shares of the Company

Number of
ordinary shares of

Number
of underlying
shares of the

Approximate
percentage of

the Company held Company held® Total  shareholding
Name of shareholder(s) Capacity e NG| ¥ NG| R #E
REREREHE 514 ZERYE HERGHEHB® w3t #Esk
Oceanic Green" Beneficial Owner 127,100,000 shares - 127,100,000 shares 20.5%
skl EREBA 127,100,000 A% 1% ~ 127,100,0008% %5 20.5%
New Strength™ Beneficial Owner 127,100,000 shares - 127,100,000 shares 20.5%
vk EREEA 127,100,0008 X 17 - 127,100,000/% %15 20.5%
Gold Alliance™ Beneficial Owner 94,395,000 shares - 94,395,000 shares 15.2%
T EnEAA 94,395,000 A% 0 - 94,395,000%8% (% 15.2%
New Straits Ventures Limited® Beneficial Owner 79,205,000 shares - 79,205,000 shares 12.8%
BREIRBR AR EREBA 79,205,000 8% A7 - 79,205,0008%8& 1% 12.8%
Treasure Line™ Beneficial Owner 24,800,000 shares - 24,800,000 shares 4.0%
Treasure Line!" EREEA 24,800,0008 A& 17 - 24,800,000/%R% 1% 4.0%
Ms. Fung Suk Yee May"? Interest of Spouse 379,923,000 shares - 379,923,000 shares 61.3%
g L2 [T e 379,923,0008% 3% 15 - 379,923,0008%% 1% 61.3%
Mr. Cheng Chak® Interest in controlled 79,205,000 shares - 79,825,000 shares 12.9%

corporation
) e o] R HhEE RS 79,205,0000% %15 - 79,8250008%8 1% 12.9%
Beneficial Owner - 620,000 shares
EnEAA - 620,000/ 1%

Ms. Chong Po Lin Pauline Interest of Spouse 79,825,000 shares - 79,825,000 shares 12.9%
HEgELLY fliBtks 79,825,000% A% {5 - 79,825,000/ 10 12.9%
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS INTERESTS IN SHARES
AND UNDERLYING SHARES (CONTINUED)

Long position in issued ordinary shares of the Company (Continued)

Notes:

(1) Each of Oceanic Green, New Strength, Gold Alliance and Treasure Line is wholly-
owned by Mr. Chan, who is therefore deemed to be interested in all the Shares
held by each of Oceanic Green, New Strength, Gold Alliance, and Treasure Line.

(2) Ms. Fung Suk Yee May is the spouse of Mr. Chan. Therefore, she is deemed to be
interested in the Shares in which Mr. Chan is interested for the purpose of the
SFO.

(3) New Straits Ventures Limited is wholly owned by Mr. Cheng Chak. By virtue
of the SFO, Mr. Cheng Chak is deemed to be interested in the shares of the
Company held by New Straits Ventures Limited.

(4) Ms. Chong Po Lin Pauline is the spouse of Mr. Cheng Chak. Therefore, she is
deemed to be interested in the shares of the Company in which Mr. Cheng Chak
is interested for the purpose of the SFO.

(5) These represent the Shares to be issued and allotted by the Company upon
exercise of the options granted under the Option Scheme (as defined herein
below).

Save as disclosed above, as at the date of this report, the Directors
were not aware of any other person (other than the Directors or chief
executive of the Company) who had an interest or short position in the
shares or underlying shares of the Company which would fall to be
disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of
Part XV of the SFO or, who is, directly or indirectly, interested in 5% or
more of the nominal value of any class of share capital carrying rights
to vote in all circumstances at general meetings of any other members
of the Group, or any other substantial shareholders whose interests or
short positions were recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company under Section 336 of the SFO.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME AR EsTR

On 28 May 2019, the Company adopted a share option scheme (the 201945 A 28 H @ ANA R ERAN— BB M AERT
“Option Scheme”) for the purpose of providing reward to selected 2|([FEBREE ) BEEHUYAEEEHE
participants for their contribution to the Group. Eligible participants of EIRILB TR EE - BRETEINA EIKLHE
the Option Scheme include, without limitation, employees, executive HEIEERER)IEE - 11725 - IEH1TE
directors, non-executive directors, shareholders, advisers and = * f%3R « B Ki&AE ©

consultants.

For the year ended 31 December 2020, the Company has the following & ZE2020F 12 A31HILFE » AR BB IRE
share options granted to the eligible participants under the Option  BERXAE:TEIMA BIRREE R H A TEERHE

Scheme:
Options
cancelled/
Options Options Options lapsed/ Options
outstanding at granted exercised forfeited outstandingat Exercisable at
1 January during during during 31 December 31 December
2020 the year the year the year 2020 2020
R20205F R2020F
1A1A FRis/ 12318 R2020%
Grantees Date of grant Exercise price MARTHE FREH FRETE  KRRK o RATHE 12A31H
REA BB TRE R IR MR IR MR IR R IR A MR IR AFTE
(Note) (HK$)
(Hat) (1)
Directors, chief executives
and substantial shareholders
EE FEHAE
REERR
Chan Tsan Lam 13 May 2020 0.355 - 620,000 - - 620,000 310,000
BRI 2020%5A13H
Chan Yin Yan 13 May 2020 0.355 - 6,200,000 - - 6,200,000 3,100,000
BRAM 20206 5A138
Poon Po Han Lisa 13 May 2020 0.355 - 6,200,000 - - 6,200,000 3,100,000
RER 202065A13H
Hung Chun Leung 13 May 2020 0.355 - 500,000 - - 500,000 250,000
HER 20206 5A13H
Chan Bing Kai 13 May 2020 0.355 - 500,000 - - 500,000 250,000
TR 20206 5A138
Cheng Chak 13 May 2020 0.355 - 620,000 - - 620,000 310,000
B 202065A13H
Employees and senior management 13 May 2020 0.355 - 19,900,000 - - 19,900,000 9,950,000
EEREREER 20206 5A13H
Others 13 May 2020 0.355 - 3,300,000 - - 3,300,000 1,650,000
Hity 20206 5A138
- 37,840,000 - - 37,840,000 18,920,000

Note: On 13 May 2020, options to subscribe for 37,840,000 ordinary shares were it ©  H2020F5813H * AR RIRBERETEEE

granted to eligible participants under the Option Scheme. 50% of the share B2 EERH T RE37,840,0000 L@ HE
options were exercisable and vested on the date of grant and the remaining AR - BEARERMS0% AR L B EIR] F1TE M5
50% of the share options shall be vested and exercisable from 13 May 2021 to B - MBS T50% 15 2021F5 8138 &
12 May 2030. 203055 A 120 B8 ] Al TATME -

Tian Chang Group Holdings Ltd.
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NON-COMPETITION UNDERTAKING BY CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDERS

The Company has received annual confirmations from the controlling
shareholders, Mr. Chan Tsan Lam, Oceanic Green, New Strength, Gold
Alliance, and Treasure Line and, in respect of their compliance with
the non-competition undertaking provided in favour of the Company.
The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the said
undertaking and are of the view that Mr. Chan Tsan Lam, Oceanic Green,
New Strength, Gold Alliance and Treasure Line have complied with the
non-competition undertaking since the Listing Date up to the date of this
report.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTION

Related party transactions entered into by the Group for the year ended
31 December 2020 are disclosed in note 32 to the consolidated financial
statements. These transactions had either been discontinued before the
Company was listed on the Stock Exchange or constitute fully-exempted
continuing connected transactions under the Listing Rules as at the date
of this report.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The information in respect of the Group's revenue and purchases
attributable to the major customers and suppliers respectively during
the Period is as follows:
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THHEREEARE BHILARRETIRS
G o

RBKARS
AREEEHZE2020512831BIEFEFT VWA
BERGWERGE T IERMERMTEI2 - RAR
ERH ZEXRSIERARARREE AT ETA]
HWIESIRIE EMRRIER 2 ERRIFERER
% o

FEERRMER

RAHRE  BRAXTEEFPRMHERSEHARE
B R REEBRAE R T

Percentage of the Group's total

HREEUTHABENE S
Revenue Purchases
g HigsE
The largest customer BAEF 57% N/A N3 A
The five largest customers in aggregate AREFAEE 88% N/A i
The largest supplier BAMER N/A i A 31%
The five largest suppliers in aggregate AREEEEE N/A TiE A 52%

Save as disclosed above and so far as the Board are aware, neither the
Directors, their associates nor any shareholders of the Company (which
to the knowledge of the Directors own more than 5% of the Company's
share capital) had any beneficial interest in these major customers and
suppliers.

BREXBBEEINEBESTSHMAN EF K
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PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors as at the date of this annual
report, there was a sufficient prescribed public float of the issued shares
of the Company under the Listing Rules.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The articles of association of the Company provides that every Director
shall be indemnified and secured harmless out of the assets and profits
of the Company from and against all actions, costs, charges, losses,
damages and expenses which he/she may sustain or incur by the
execution of his/her duty, provided that the indemnity shall not extend to
any matter in respect of any fraud or dishonesty which may attach to any
of the said persons. The Company has arranged appropriate directors
liability insurance in respect of legal action against the Directors.

TAX RELIEF
The Directors are not aware of any relief from taxation available to the
shareholders by reason of their holding of the shares of the Company.

PROFESSIONAL TAX ADVICE

If the shareholders of the Company are unsure about the taxation
implications of purchasing, holding, disposing of, dealing in, or the
exercise of any rights in relation to the shares of the Company, they are
advised to consult an expert.

AUDITOR

During the year, Mazars CPA Limited resigned and TANDEM (HK) CPA
Limited was appointed as the auditor of the Company. A resolution to re-
appoint the retiring auditors, Messrs. TANDEM (HK) CPA Limited, is to be
proposed at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company.

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD

Chan Tsan Lam
Chairman

Hong Kong, 30 March 2021

Tian Chang Group Holdings Ltd.
Annual Report 2020

LRBKRE
REARBMSAREREBESHA KA
FERSEY  ARFACHETROEFLTR
AR ENTERRTGIE -

¥ HERT M R 3

ANAERBMERHSESERLBETHRBGER
IREXRELEZMABFRR R WE- &
X BERAXAARRRZEERGNTER
REMNERREMUZEMEE  ERETT
PR 2= SAE ] bl A B AT 88 H IR ) (E AT R =X
THETREBENEN - ARFEREFNE
BITRRHHEENESTEETRR

MR %

MREERAARARY  RELTMEAM
BRBHPUARS -

BEAERREER

WARRBRIEERE  KH HE BE
ARBBDHATEE R TARANHEZE
BRRAERER

R BYEm

FR- PERR(BR)GIMEFEAERIA]
BERRKX(BZRE)GMEBMERARESR
ERARRRZREED o KRR A5 &R RASF
ARELRE-FEBRERBEBER(FR)S
SHEMEEF AR AR EREASR o

REREET

E1
BR AR

F& 2021 FE3H30H



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'’S REPORT

TANDEM

To the members of
Tian Chang Group Holdings Ltd.
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Tian Chang
Group Holdings Ltd. (the "Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 69 to 187, which comprise
the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2020,
and the consolidated income statement, the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity
and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended,
and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary
of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2020, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards ("HKFRSs") issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants ("HKICPA") and have
been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the "Auditor's Responsibilities
for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements” section of
our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and
we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the
Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

i N7 % BX Bl ¥ 25

TANDEM (HK) CPA Limited

RN (BB G EBAMAR AR
6th Floor, No. 80 Gloucester Road,
Wanchai, Hong Kong
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate

opinion on these matters.

Key audit matters

MEENER

MRBTFHESRERMANERAE Rl
ARG AMBERRNBIRAEENER -
ZERHERERMEBREAMBRER LD
AERRETEEN - LATSHRSTFHAEIE
HEBHESR -

How our audit addressed the key audit matters

RRETER

Going concern
At 31 December 2020, the Company had net current liabilities
of HK$48,673,000.

MR20208F12A831H BERARANAHEEFTHEBE
48,673,000 7T ©

The directors of the Company evaluated the Group's ability
to continue as a going concern based on projections of
the Group's results and cash flows from operations and
the ability of the Group to renew existing bank borrowings
and / or obtain new bank facilities to finance its continuing
operations. As a result of the assessment, the directors of
the Company believe that the Group will generate sufficient
cash flows to meet its liabilities as and when they fall due
in the next twelve months and concluded that there are no
material uncertainties related to events or conditions which,
individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern.

BERREZEREY BEEEXERKERSREMNTRAN
% BEEBRERRBRTERRKBEHRITHRENR
HISERERTESHRNUNE EEENHERLER
N BFHER - BERREERA BEEESSELTHN

RenEABRNERRRTZEAZIHNEE  WELER

AMERREENRKARAY BERERBELLENERE
AEFEHNSEHHIMREBANERTRERR -

Tian Chang Group Holdings Ltd.
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EMWETNNEERRENSEE

Our audit procedures to assess whether a material
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may
cast significant doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a
going concern included the following:

RAEFETREHY BRESREEENELEAR
B FEANR R B EATRE LA T AT B
1

1) compared the future expected cash flows in
management’'s cash flow forecast with the Group's
business plan approved by the directors of the
Company;

HERENRERERUTFNRKERNRSRE
B BERRESIEN SREXBHEFYHTL

2) evaluated the key assumptions adopted by
management in the preparation of the cash flow
forecast, and comparing these key assumptions with
the historical performance of the Group and financial
budgets approved by the directors of the Company;

HEEEEEREASRERANMRANTIER
FOUHZETERRE BEXENELRRR
& BERRERHENTBREETLER



KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key audit matters

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
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FREBFHER »

How our audit addressed the key audit matters

HARETFEE

Going concern (Continued)

FFEAE ()

We identified the assessment of the Group's ability to
continue as a going concern as a key audit matter because
the Group has been in a net current liabilities position for the
past three years which has increased the risk that the Group
may not be able to continue to operate as a going concern
and because the assessment of the Group's ability to continue
as a going concern is dependent upon certain management
assumptions and judgements and the ability of the Group to
renew existing bank loans and / or obtain new bank facilities.

BACKHE BEEERELLNENTES—BERERT
FE hR BEEEREE=F—EHERNFRDAGNK
Mo WHEMT BEREFRGERFELEERBELLNE
B RARFE BEEERECENENTIEAREREDN
ETRERAE - AR EXREREERBRITERR
BSHRITRENRENFIE °

EMNETNNEEFARENSEE

3)

4)

compared future expected cash flows with
historical data, assessed whether any variations
were consistent with our expectations based on
our understanding of the Group’'s business and
considered the accuracy and reliability of past cash
flow forecasts made by management by comparing
them with the current year's results;

BAKREHRESRELFELBBETHLER - 7EF
BEAZHHNARMERY BEREXRHIER
WEH - UESEEEMELMEERESRERR
EARFEEREETHBAZ BEERER AT

assessed the Group's ability to renew or refinance
existing bank facilities upon maturity by performing
a retrospective review of past renewal or roll-over
history of bank facilities in prior years, and inspecting
loan agreements and underlying documentation for
bank borrowings and bank facilities borrowed and
repaid after year end; and

BEBEPERTBEFEZRITREENIBREN
ek UEHE BERERAARITREDREETE
HiBRE 2N RelRFEREEEARENZ
RITRARTTRVE 2 Bk as RARR XM+ 2

compared the available bank facilities and
arrangements with underlying documentation and
assessed the impact of any covenants and other
restrictive terms thereto.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key audit matters

FREEHER o

How our audit addressed the key audit matters

HARESFEE

Impairment assessment of trade receivables

B S BN B R E T

At 31 December 2020, the carrying amount of trade
receivables amounted to approximately HK$145,334,000
(after the loss allowance provision of approximately
HK$5,893,000), which approximated 12% of the Group's total
assets.

R2020F12A31B ES5 R AKRENERAEBELY B
145,334,000/ Jt(B &1 42 /&5 18 # & 495,893,000/ T )
fh BEEBEEN12%-

Management performed credit evaluations for the Group's
customers and assessed expected credit losses ("ECL") of
trade receivables. The impairment assessments separately
assess individual customer’s settlement record, and taking
into account of information specific to respective customer as
well as pertaining to the economic environment in which the
customer operated. In addition, the impairment assessments
establish a provision matrix by applying provision rates
based on aging of debtors, as well as the Group's historical
default rates and forward-looking information.

BEEY BERENFPETEEMMALTGEE S EEFR
MEMEEBER((BAMEEER]) - ZFREN HEBRN G
EREFPMEELE  TEERBEL, B MEEEMERL
BRFENABER - 5N REFGEBEAREES AR
AN BESEEELEBOLERABEERAEORELE
RSB B o

The determination of the ECL of trade receivables which
is important for overall financial statements involves the
management’s usage of significant accounting estimates and
judgements. Accordingly, we identified this as a key audit
matter. Disclosure for trade receivables are included in Notes
20 and 34(b) to the consolidated financial statements.

ETHEEHEHRRN s BEENEFRUGEEREES
BAREREEREAG T ETRAE - At - BHMEHBE
ERABRETEZE - EHRUKENE BN GRS T HH
FHTEE 20 K 34(b) o
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Our procedures to assess the Group's impairment
assessment of trade receivables included the following:

B EEEESEREFRNRBENHIZF2E T
&8 :

1) obtained management’'s assessment of ECL of trade
receivables and assessed the reasonableness of
the key underlying information referenced by the
management;

NEERENE ZEIGIENEREEBBETH
il WA EEEM2ENEREEENRESTS
pic

2) in respect of trade receivables of which identified by
management for individually assess for impairment,
we discussed with management about the status
of significant individual debtors’ balances and
consideration of debtors’ specific profiles and
risks, reviewed settlement history and assessed
management’'s assumptions used to determine the
ECL provision;

SLEIEE R A ERRER G2 B 5 RERIAM
5 RACEEEENRBBENEHAZTERNGR
ZAI B EHER ABROR R AR 2 Z & - BEHE
FRELEFGEEERARNEERAEEBREED

i

3) for those trade receivable whose credit loss were
using provision matrix, checked and assessed
whether the loss allowance provision is properly
supported by considering the debtors’ aging analysis
and settlement records, history of bad debt and
available forward-looking information; and

REEERERREGEERENZEE S EKFIAM
- BffiRE N EERREREKEREBARK
WO - BERH  BRES KAISAEILEER M
ZRER &

4) we further considered the adequacy of the Group's

disclosure regarding the estimation uncertainty
involved in determining the ECL provision.

BE—FEE BEREAEETCRAEEERRRE
BATS R T EE GO RBERT RS -



OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises the information included in the annual
report but does not include the consolidated financial statements and
our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work
we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement
of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have
nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE CHARGED
WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the
Group's financial reporting process.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance
with our agreed terms of engagement and for no other purpose. We do
not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person
for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of
assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance
with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis
of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

. Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE BB E GRS MERRRENRE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued) (&)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our
auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However,
future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to
continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group
to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements.
We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance
of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit
opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant

audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control

that we identify during our audit.

HEZRAFECE ST EMNREEE
Mg BRBAERNETRE @ BE
EEFERSFHIBEREBENERNTEE
MEMAREERYE BERENFECEREN
EAEARE - MRBARRFEERT
FEENE - RIB M EEZBENRE T IRFE
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HEEERETR  REREZRFREER
R BfMEREENEEREENRE R
LEFRERS BV ERHRRE © AT - REFHEK
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence,
and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards
applied.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance,
we determine those matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period
and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters
in our auditor’'s report unless law or regulation precludes public
disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances,
we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement director on the audit resulting in the independent
auditor's report is Lam Kin Hang.

TANDEM (HK) CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong, 30 March 2021

Practising Certificate number: P07531
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT

inB X

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #Z 2020412 A 31 HILFE

2020 2019
2020 F 2019 4
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B5E F#&T T
Revenue e 6 787,394 1,251,074
Cost of goods sold P iHE A (593,697) (937,715)
Gross profit ER 193,697 313,359
Other income Hib A 7 7,588 4,925
Other gains and losses Hahueas & Es1E 8 818 1,914
Impairment losses recognised RE 5 R IEERR
on trade receivables REEE (1,101) -
Selling and distribution costs SHE Ry SRR (8,477) (11,374)
Administrative and other TR EMEERT
operating expenses (96,175) (135,404)
Finance costs SR I 9 (8,822) (9,069)
Profit before tax RRBE A ER F 9 87,528 164,357
Income tax expenses FrigBiF sz 12 (13,814) (37,155)
Profit for the year, attributable to AATERFEA
equity holders of the Company EEFERRF 73,714 127,196
Earnings per share attributable to RATERFEA HK cents HK cents
equity holders of the Company ELEERER &4l il
Basic BN 14 11.89 20.52
Diluted e 14 11.88 20.52

AREEERAR AR
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

S ET] D TS

Year ended 31 December 2020 #ZE 202012 A31 HIEFE

2020 2019
2020 2019 4F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Profit for the year FREF 73,714 127,196
Other comprehensive income (loss): Hih2mEk R (FE) ¢
Item that may be reclassified subsequently A& & EHIIA Rz 2 HH
to profit or loss
Exchange differences on translation of BB IMEE R H E 58
foreign operations 34,542 (13,312)
Total comprehensive income for the year, EAAEEFEAEBGER
attributable to equity holders 2EWKEEE
of the Company 108,256 113,884

Tian Chang Group Holdings Ltd.
Annual Report 2020




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
fm O B A I R

At 31 December 2020 7 20204 12 A 31 H

2020 2019
20204 20194
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B5E FET T
Non-current assets FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - RE MR 16 720,736 621,025
Financial assets at FVPL BRAABEFAB=NEREE 17 29,586 28,419
Finance lease receivables JEM B E FE E R TE 18 4,042 =
Rental deposits Heke 229 210
Deferred tax assets R IBEE 27 1,256 1,238
755,849 650,892
Current assets RBEE
Finance lease receivables M B E R ERIE 18 2,425 =
Inventories FE 19 99,187 83,882
Trade and other receivables 5 & H At fE IR 20 188,828 153,155
Income tax recoverable AR B AT R 35 33
Bank balances and cash wITEHRRIES 21 116,966 85,567
407,441 322,637
Current liabilities REBEE
Trade and other payables B 5 REMENFIR 22 202,302 211,031
Income tax payables JERETIS R 17,989 2,603
Payables for construction in progress JEREETRERE 23 24,609 35,642
Interest-bearing borrowings FFEER 24 193,259 105,113
Deferred income R 2= 25 1,064 58
Lease liabilities HEBE 26 16,891 18,625
456,114 373,072
Net current liabilities REBEEFE (48,673) (50,435)
Total assets less current liabilities BEERRBAE 707,176 600,457

AEEEERER AR
2020 F 3§




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

imeRITHINAER

At 31 December 2020 72020412 A 31 H

2020 2019
20204 20194
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B5E F#& T T
Non-current liabilities FRBERE
Payables for construction in progress I EE TR RIE 23 1,992 12,280
Interest-bearing borrowings FTEMER 24 36,739 14,517
Deferred income PRIE W 2 25 9,222 507
Lease liabilities HEBE 26 10,534 27,413
Deferred tax liabilities RIERIBERE 27 10,461 8,515
68,948 63,232
NET ASSETS EEFE 638,228 537,225
Capital and reserves ERRHE
Share capital % 28 62,000 62,000
Reserves e 29 576,228 475,225
TOTAL EQUITY AR 638,228 537,225

These consolidated financial statements on pages 69 to 187 were 569 B £ 187 BEMZFHEA P BRERMN 2021 4F
approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 30 March 3 A 30 B EEF @t/ MIRET|E - WHIAT

2021 and signed on its behalf by ERERREY
CHAN Tsan Lam CHAN Yin Yan

Director Director

EZE EFE

Tian Chang Group Holdings Ltd.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
inoIEmE2EE

Year ended 31 December 2020 #ZE 2020 12 A31 HILFE

Attributable to equity holders of the Company
NG $5352=PN 31
Share
Share Share Capital Statutory  Translation option Accumulated
capital premium reserve reserve reserve reserve profits Total

BEA  ROBE EXRE  LAERE AERE BRERE | RHEA st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT THT THT FHT THT THT THT THT
(Note 28)  (Note 29(a))  (Note 29(b))  (Note 29(c))  (Note 29(d))  (Note 29(e))

(Mzt28)  (FfaE29(a)) (B¥aE29(b)) (B¥aE29(c) (BRE29(d) (RFaE29(e))

At 1 January 2019 H2019E1818 62,000 34,203 77,810 12335 (2.971) - 267,864 451,241
Profit for the year FRRF > = = ° = o 127,196 127196
Other comprehensive loss: Hith2EEE
Item that may be reclassified A#SEEHIIA

subsequently to profit or loss Bm 2 HH
Exchange difference on REBIMTEER 28

translation of foreign operations - - S = (13312) S e (13312)
Total comprehensive (loss) FR2AE(ER)

income for the year eyt - - - - (13,312) - 127,196 113,884
Transactions with equity holders: EERFEANKS :
Appropriation of statutory reserve  1REUATE &t - - - 11,659 - - (11,659) -
Dividends (Note 73) BB (HEE13) - - = - - - (27.900) (27900)
Total transactions with FREEGHEARN

equity holders for the year RHEE - - - 11,659 - - (39,559) (27,900)
At 31 December 2019 H2019F 128318 62,000 34,203 77,810 23,994 (16,283) - 355,501 537,225
At 1 January 2020 M2020E1R18 62,000 34,203 77,810 23,994 (16,283) = 355,501 537,225
Profit for the year FREF - - - - - - 73,714 73,714

Other comprehensive income: HEih 2@k
Iten that may be reclassified ABIEERFIA

subsequently to profit or loss Ba2ER
Exchange difference on REGIMCEER S

translation of foreign operations - - - - 34,542 - - 34,542
Total comprehensive income FAZENEER

for the year - - - - 34,542 - 73,714 108,256
Transactions with equity holders: SEXREEANRS :
Appropriation of statutory reserve  JREUATE #1E - - - 4,202 - - (4,202) -
Recognition of equity-settled RN EEEEORH

share-based payment MERA (At 30)

expenses (Note 30) - - - - - 2,047 - 2,047
Dividends (Note 13) BBH13) - - - - - - (9,300) (9,300)
Total transactions with FREEGFEARN

equity holders for the year RGBT - - - 4,202 - 2,047 (13,502) (7,253)

At 31 December 2020 R2020612831H 62,000 34,203 77,810 28,196 18,259 2,047 415,713 638,228

AEEEIERAR AT
2020 F 3§




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

iRBIHEREXR

Year ended 31 December 2020 #ZE 202012 A31 HIEFE

2020 2019
2020 F 2019 F
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B5E F#&T FET
OPERATING ACTIVITIES BT
Cash generated from operations LESES 31 81,600 277,501
Income tax refund (paid) RO (BERATEH 2,677 (50,603)
Net cash from operating activities RESTE TSRS FE 84,277 226,898
INVESTING ACTIVITIES REER
Receipt of government grants in relation WERE A%
to acquisitions of property, plant R M SR A B BUR 4 B
and equipment 9,518 592
Interest received BUFE 575 791
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant HEYE - BEX
and equipment R PSR 1,316 3,628
Receipt of finance lease receivables I EL e me B & 7R 808 =
Proceeds from settlement of financial assets ~ #&IZ A EFF AEZ
at FVPL B2 BB E TSR 1,196 =
Purchase of property, plant and equipment EEME  BER&HE (99,200) (113,542)
Purchase of financial assets at FVPL BERAAETAEBR
WL REE (732) (731)
Net cash used in investing activities RETEFMAREEHE (86,519) (109,262)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES REER
Dividends paid BRIRE (9,300) (27,900)
Inception of interest-bearing borrowings SIAGTBfERK 33(b) 318,282 241,957
Repayment of interest-bearing borrowings BB EER 33(b) (207,380) (269,180)
Repayment of payables for construction EERNEEIENRIEA
in progress 33(b) (38,856) (7,549)
Repayment of lease liabilities BEHEaE 33(b) (19,116) (23,130)
Interest paid BRFE 33(b) (8,124) (8,175)
Net cash from (used in) financing activities ~ BAEEEN TS (FTH)
HEFE 35,506 (93,977)
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents REeERESEEYEMTE 33,264 23,659
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning FHRERFALEEY
of the year 85,567 61,414
Effect on exchange rate changes EXEHHTE (1,865) 494
Cash and cash equivalents at the end FRESRRSEEY -
of the year, represented by bank balances BRITHEBEERS
and cash 116,966 85,567
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

GENERAL INFORMATION

Tian Chang Group Holdings Ltd. (the “Company”) was incorporated
as an exempted company with limited liability in the Cayman
Islands on 26 April 2017 and its shares are listed on the Main
Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “"Stock
Exchange”) on 8 March 2018. The ultimate controlling party of the
Group is Mr. Chan Tsan Lam (the "Ultimate Controlling Party”).
The registered office of the Company is situated at Cricket Square,
Hutchins Drive, P.0. Box 2681, Grand Cayman KY1-1111, Cayman
Islands. The Company’s principal place of business is situated at
Unit 6, 13/F, Block B, Hoi Luen Industrial Centre, 55 Hoi Yuen Road,
Kwun Tong, Kowloon, Hong Kong.

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The
Company together with its subsidiaries (hereinafter collectively
referred to as the "Group”) is principally engaged in manufacturing
and sales of electronic cigarettes products (“e-cigarettes
products”) and medical consumable products, and providing
integrated plastic solutions in Hong Kong and in the People's
Republic of China (the "PRC"). The details of the subsidiaries are
set out in Note 15 to the consolidated financial statements.

Other than those subsidiaries established in the PRC which
functional currency is Renmenbi ("/RMB”), the functional currency of
the Company and its other subsidiaries is Hong Kong dollars ("HK$").
The consolidated financial statements are presented in HK$ and
rounded to the nearest thousands unless otherwise indicated.

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs")

Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily effective for
the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the Amendments to
References to the Conceptual Framework in HKFRS Standards
and the following amendments to HKFRSs issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants ("HKICPA”) for the
first time, which are mandatorily effective for the annual period
beginning on or after 1 January 2020 for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements:

Amendments to HKAS 1
and HKAS 8
Amendments to HKFRS 3 Definition of a Business

Definition of Material

Amendments to HKFRS 9, Interest Rate Benchmark Reform
HKAS 39 and HKFRS 7

&m 8 Hil 15 #h 2% bl 5

Year ended 31 December 2020 EZ= 2020912 A31 HIEFE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
&m 5 il 15 ¥R 2} Bl 5F

Year ended 31 December 2020 #(ZE 202012 31 HIEFE

2. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG 2. EREABAYEREEN(EEY

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSS")
(CONTINUED)

The application of the Amendments to References to the
Conceptual Framework in HKFRS Standards and the amendments
to HKFRSs in the current year had no significant impact on the
Group's financial positions and performance for the current and
prior years and/or on the disclosures set out in these consolidated
financial statements.

Impacts on application of Amendments to HKAS 1 and
HKAS 8 Definition of Material

The amendments provide a new definition of material that states
“information is material if omitting, misstating or obscuring it
could reasonably be expected to influence decisions that the
primary users of general purpose financial statements make on
the basis of those financial statements, which provide financial
information about a specific reporting entity.” The amendments
also clarify that materiality depends on the nature or magnitude
of information, either individually or in combination with other
information, in the context of the financial statements taken as a
whole.

The application of the amendments in the current year had no
significant impact on the consolidated financial statements.

Impacts on application of Amendments to HKFRS 3
Definition of a Business

The amendments clarify that while businesses usually have
outputs, outputs are not required for an integrated set of
activities and assets to qualify as a business. To be considered a
business, an acquired set of activities and assets must include,
at a minimum, an input and a substantive process that together
significantly contribute to the ability to create outputs.

The amendments remove the assessment of whether market
participants are capable of replacing any missing inputs or
processes and continuing to produce outputs. The amendments
also introduce additional guidance that helps to determine
whether a substantive process has been acquired.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs")
(CONTINUED)

Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily effective for
the current year (Continued)

Impacts on application of Amendments to HKFRS 3
Definition of a Business (Continued)

In addition, the amendments introduce an optional concentration
test that permits a simplified assessment of whether an acquired
set of activities and assets is not a business. Under the optional
concentration test, the acquired set of activities and assets is not
a business if substantially all of the fair value of the gross assets
acquired is concentrated in a single identifiable asset or group of
similar assets. The gross assets under assessment exclude cash
and cash equivalents, deferred tax assets, and goodwill resulting
from the effects of deferred tax liabilities. The election on whether
to apply the optional concentration test is available on transaction-
by-transaction basis.

The amendments had no impact on the consolidated financial
statements of the Group but may impact future periods should the
Group make any acquisition.

Impacts on applicable of Amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS
39 and HKFRS 7 Interest Rate Benchmark Reform

The amendments modify specific hedge accounting requirements
to allow hedge accounting to continue for affected hedges during
the period of uncertainty before the hedged items or hedging
instruments affected by the current interest rate benchmarks
are amended as a result of the on-going interest rate benchmark
reform.

The amendments had no impact on the consolidated financial
statements of the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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2. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs")

(CONTINUED)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet

effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet

effective:

HKFRS 17

Amendment to HKFRS 16

Amendments to HKFRS 3

Amendments to HKFRS 9,

HKAS 39, HKFRS 7,
HKFRS 4 and HKFRS 16

Amendments to HKFRS
10 and HKAS 28

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 16

Amendments to HKAS 37

Amendments to HKFRSs

Insurance Contracts and the related
Amendments'

COVID-19-Related
Rent Concessions*

Reference to the Conceptual
Framework?

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform —
Phase 2°

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture®

Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current and
related amendments to Hong Kong
Interpretation 5 (2020) '

Property, Plant and Equipment —
Proceeds before Intended Use?

Onerous Contracts — Cost of Fulfilling
a Contract?

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs
2018-2020?

i Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023.

g Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022.

£ Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be
determined.

& Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 June 2020.

& Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs")
(CONTINUED)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet
effective (Continued)

Except for the new and amendments to HKFRSs mentioned below,
the directors of the Company anticipate that the application of
all these new and amendments to HKFRSs will have no material
impact on the financial performance and financial position of the
Group.

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual
Framework

The amendments:

. update a reference in HKFRS 3 Business Combinations so
that it refers to the Conceptual Framework for Financial
Reporting 2018 issued in June 2018 (the “Conceptual
Framework") instead of Framework for the Preparation
and Presentation of Financial Statements (replaced by the
Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting 2010 issued
in October 2010);

° add a requirement that, for transactions and other events
within the scope of HKAS 37 Provisions, Contingent
Liabilities and Contingent Assets or HK(IFRIC)-Int 21 Levies,
an acquirer applies HKAS 37 or HK(IFRIC)-Int 21 instead of
the Conceptual Framework to identify the liabilities it has
assumed in a business combination; and

. add an explicit statement that an acquirer does not recognise
contingent assets acquired in a business combination.

The Group will apply the amendments prospectively to business
combinations for which the date of acquisition is on or after
the beginning of the first annual period beginning on or after 1
January 2022.
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2. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)
(CONTINUED)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet
effective (Continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS 39, HKFRS 7, HKFRS 4
and HKFRS 16 Interest Rate Benchmark Reform — Phase 2

Amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS 39, HKFRS 7, HKFRS 4 and
HKFRS 16 Interest Rate Benchmark Reform - Phase 2 relate
to the modification of financial assets, financial liabilities and
lease liabilities, specific hedge accounting requirements and
disclosure requirements applying HKFRS 7 Financial Instruments:
Disclosures to accompany the amendments regarding
modifications and hedge accounting.

. Modification of financial assets, financial liabilities and
lease liabilities A practical expedient is introduced for
modifications required by the reform (modifications required
as a direct consequence of the interest rate benchmark
reform and made on an economically equivalent basis).
These modifications are accounted for by updating the
effective interest rate. All other modifications are accounted
for using the current HKFRSs requirements. A similar
practical expedient is proposed for lessee accounting
applying HKFRS 16 Leases ("HKFRS 16");

o Hedge accounting requirements Under the amendments,
hedge accounting is not discontinued solely because of
the interest rate benchmark reform. Hedging relationships
(and related documentation) are required to be amended to
reflect modifications to the hedged item, hedging instrument
and hedged risk. Amended hedging relationships should
meet all qualifying criteria to apply hedge accounting,
including effectiveness requirements; and
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs")
(CONTINUED)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet
effective (Continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS 39, HKFRS 7, HKFRS 4
and HKFRS 16 Interest Rate Benchmark Reform — Phase 2

(Continued)

. Disclosures The amendments require disclosures in order
to allow users to understand the nature and extent of risks
arising from the interest rate benchmark reform to which
the Group is exposed to and how the entity manages those
risks as well as the entity’'s progress in transitioning from
interbank offered rates to alternative benchmark rates, and
how the entity is managing this transition.

As at 31 December 2020, the Group has certain interest-bearing
borrowings which may be subject to interest rate benchmark
reform. The Group expects no significant gains or losses should
the interest rate benchmark for these financial liabilities change
resulting from the reform on application of the amendments.

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current and related amendments to Hong
Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)

The amendments provide clarification and additional guidance
on the assessment of right to defer settlement for at least twelve
months from reporting date for classification of liabilities as
current or non-current, which:

o specify that the classification of liabilities as current or non-
current should be based on rights that are in existence at the
end of the reporting period. Specifically, the amendments
clarify that:

(i) the classification should not be affected by
management intentions or expectations to settle the
liability within 12 months; and

(i) if the right is conditional on the compliance with
covenants, the right exists if the conditions are met at
the end of the reporting period, even if the lender does
not test compliance until a later date; and
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs")
(CONTINUED)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet
effective (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current and related amendments to Hong
Kong Interpretation 5 (2020) (Continued)

° clarify that if a liability has terms that could, at the option
of the counterparty, result in its settlement by the transfer
of the entity's own equity instruments, these terms do not
affect its classification as current or non-current only if
the entity recognises the option separately as an equity
instrument applying HKAS 32 Financial Instruments:
Presentation.

In addition, Hong Kong Interpretation 5 was revised as a
consequence of the Amendments to HKAS 1 to align the
corresponding wordings with no change in conclusion.

Based on the Group’'s outstanding liabilities as at 31 December
2020, and the related terms and conditions stipulated in the
agreements between the Group and the relevant lenders, the
application of the amendments will not result in reclassification of
the Group's liahilities.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

3.1 Basis of preparation of consolidated financial
statements

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. The
consolidated financial statements include applicable
disclosures required by the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
("Listing Rules”) and by the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.1

Basis of preparation of consolidated financial
statements (Continued)

Going concern assessment

At 31 December 2020, the current liabilities of the Group
exceeded its current assets by approximately HK$48,673,000
(2019: HK$50,435,000).

At 31 December 2020, the Group had unutilised banking
facilities of approximately HK$209,568,000 (2079:
HK$237,517,000).

The directors of the Company is of the opinion that, taking
into account the cashflow forecast projection and business
plan, the confirmed credit commitments from financial
institutions and internal financial resources of the Group,
the Group has sufficient working capital for its present
requirements. Hence, the consolidated financial statements
have been prepared on a going concern basis. Should the
Group be unable to operate as a going concern, adjustments
would have to be made to write down the value of assets to
their recoverable amounts, and to provide for any further
liabilities which might arise. The effect of these adjustments
has not been reflected in the consolidated financial
statements.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
on the historical cost basis except for certain financial
instruments that are measured at fair values at the end of
each reporting period, as explained in the accounting policies
set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.1

Basis of preparation of consolidated financial
statements (Continued)

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an
asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date,
regardless of whether that price is directly observable or
estimated using another valuation technique. In estimating
the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into
account the characteristics of the asset or liability if market
participants would take those characteristics into account
when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date.
Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in
these consolidated financial statements is determined on
such a basis, except for share-based payment transactions
that are within the scope of HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment,
leasing transactions that are accounted for in accordance
with HKFRS 16, and measurements that have some
similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such as net
realisable value in HKAS 2 /nventories or value in use in
HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets.

For financial instruments which are transacted at fair value
and a valuation technigue that unobservable inputs is to
be used to measure fair value in subsequent periods, the
valuation technique is calibrated so that at initial recognition
the results of the valuation technigue equals the transaction
price.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3
based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value
measurements are observable and the significance of the
inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety, which
are described as follows:

° Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity
can access at the measurement date;

° Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for the
asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

° Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. REGASMEREMNEEREE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT BHBE®

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
3.2 EEGEE

3.2 Significant accounting policies

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the
financial statements of the Company and entities controlled
by the Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved
when the Company:

° has power over the investee;

° is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

. has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee
if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to
one or more of the three elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses
control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses
of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are
included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss from
the date the Group gains control until the date when the
Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income
are attributed to the equity holders of the Company and to
the non-controlling interests (if any). Total comprehensive
income of subsidiaries is attributed to the equity holders of
the Company and to the non-controlling interests (if any)
even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a
deficit balance.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. REGAMBBRNELEREE

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT BEEn

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued) 3.2 EESTEE®
Basis of consolidation (Continued) LA EEE)
All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses SEANRRIFANMEEERERE
and cash flows relating to transactions between members of - A A REEAREEK
the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation. ERAARINBESTEINGEE

FRERZEYH -

Changes in the Group's interests in subsidiaries that do not 1ﬁ$$ ERHER A=A EE
result in the Group losing control over the subsidiaries are mAEREEYNEB R R KX EEH
accounted for as equity transactions. The carrying amounts ﬁé CAEAEBRARS AR AEE
of the Group's relevant components of equity and the non- B RS D MIEERERE MR
controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the changes @{EAT’FﬁmﬁMﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁE@ﬁE
in their relative interests in the subsidiaries, including re- REIMEBAEREZE  BREBER
attribution of relevant reserves between the Group and the SENEERESNESLPIES
non-controlling interests according to the Group's and the FERNAEEEEZERES M
non-controlling interests’ proportionate interests. *Eigfﬁﬁﬁ
Revenue from contracts with customers KEEPE AWz
The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance REERTHBLOEERFERL)
obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or BRWE  IREFEEBRAOEEE F%
services underlying the particular performance obligation is B 78 o sk AR TS B[ 128 6l 7 J 88 T
transferred to the customer. SIS
A performance obligation represents a good or service (or BHE i —EREERIRB (K
a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of —HERB RS Mk AR S ) 3k — R P K EL
distinct goods or services that are substantially the same. HERIFYBRRER Mk R TS ©
Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised WAFE A TER—IB GG & %‘J%
over time by reference to the progress towards complete FIRERER  mMikm2E T
satisfaction of the relevant performance obligation if one of BITHBERHNEXNEEIRE FEﬁﬁE
the following criteria is met: R
e the customer simultaneously receives and consumes o RAKERBRAOR  BFFRKE
the benefits provided by the Group's performance as BUFEAREERAMEHRD
the Group performs; M
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Year ended 31 December 2020 #ZE 2020 12 A 31 HILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. REGASMEREMNEEREE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT BETHE )

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

3.2 EEGSTTHE®

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

o the Group's performance creates or enhances an asset
that the customer controls as the Group performs; or

o the Group's performance does not create an asset
with an alternative use to the Group and the Group
has an enforceable right to payment for performance
completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the distinct good or service.

A contract asset represents the Group's right to
consideration in exchange for goods or services that
the Group has transferred to a customer that is not yet
unconditional. It is assessed for impairment in accordance
with HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments ("HKFRS 97). In contrast,
a receivable represents the Group's unconditional right to
consideration, i.e. only the passage of time is required before
payment of that consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the Group's obligation to
transfer goods or services to a customer for which the Group
has received consideration (or an amount of consideration is
due) from the customer.

A contract asset and a contract liability relating to the same
contract are accounted for and presented on a net basis.

Nature of goods or services:

The nature of the goods or services provided by the Group is
as follows:

(i) manufacturing and sales of e-cigarettes products;

(i)  manufacturing and sales of moulds and plastic
products; and

(i) manufacturing and sales of medical consumable
products.

KEEP BRI Kz (#)
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HIRF R E PRS- 3K
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PR 755 042 11| 8 0 B FRD B R

BREERASERASEECDER
TEPHNAEMIIRG BRI BEAE
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TR 58 7N SR BN A (B RO S (R 1 1
Ao BIARE — R R AN ZA X %
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Year ended 31 December 2020 #(ZE 202012 31 HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. REGAMBHRERNHELEREE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT BRHBE ()
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued) 3.2 EESTEE®
Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued) KEEFEALIA K a (4)
Sales of e-cigarettes products, moulds and plastic products HEBSTEER KRARBRBRR
and medical consumable products are recognised at a point AR EE R EFE MmN S P ERTAE
in time at which the customer obtains the control of the BEMZEGERSTURER  S65
promised asset, which generally coincides with the time MRMEREF BEEER RN
when the goods are delivered to customers and the title is RNEB—H -
passed.
For the business of sales of e-cigarettes products and RETEERAREARBBR R
moulds and plastic products, it is common for the Group HEEBME  AEBBRETED
to receive from the customer the whole or some of the REFZAIAEFPWBEE KD E
contractual payments before the goods are delivered (i.e. A SR BN It 38 22 5 |9 i a5 T 7R B
the timing of revenue recognition for such transactions). The A) - "EBEERRGHNABERERA
Group recognises a contract liability until it is recognised as R AW
revenue.
For contracts where the period between payment and TR E R RS & S B B R
transfer of the associated goods or services is less than MR —FHNaa  RNEEERMB
one year, the Group applies the practical expedient of not SEBRBELE  TRHEMNERR
adjusting the transaction price for any significant financing BERD AR ZER -
components.
Leases HE
Definition of a lease HETE=
A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the MEHNRBIREME TE—BF
right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of MG A EEERNERN -
time in exchange for consideration. BlZaAHEERRSHE -
For contracts entered into or modified on or after the date PR VEER B Bk 2 BT LS8
of initial application or arising from business combinations, N EBEHEENENOMSE -
the Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a REBBBEAVB@mEERZE16
lease based on the definition under HKFRS 16 at inception, FEEERRNUIA - B2k B B
modification date or acquisition date, as appropriate. Such HE(EA) I HEeAREAHEE
contracts will not be reassessed unless the terms and SBEHE - RIS OB RGN
conditions of the contract are subsequently changed. BEkE% DREBEAHNETTE
et o
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Year ended 31 December 2020 #ZE 2020 12 A 31 HILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. REGASMEREMNEEREE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT BHBE®

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

3.2 EEEHBER®

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

For a contract that contains a lease component and one or
more additional lease or non-lease components, the Group
allocates the consideration in the contract to each lease
component on the basis of the relative stand-alone price of
the lease component and the aggregate stand-alone price of
the non-lease components.

The Group has elected not to separate non-lease
components from lease components, and instead accounts
for each lease component and any associated non-lease
components as a single lease component.

Short-term leases

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to leases that have a lease term of 12 months
or less from the commencement date and do not contain
a purchase option. Lease payments on short-term leases
are recognised as expense on a straight-line basis over the
lease term.

Right-of-use assets

The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

° the amount of the initial measurement of the lease
liability;

° any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, less any lease incentives
received,;
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Year ended 31 December 2020 #(ZE 202012 31 HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. HREGAMERRENEEREE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT | 404 10

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
3.2 EESTBE®

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Right-of-use assets (Continued)

o any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

L an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group in
dismantling and removing the underlying assets,
restoring the site on which it is located or restoring
the underlying asset to the condition required by the
terms and conditions of the lease.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably certain
to obtain ownership of the underlying leased assets at the
end of the lease term are depreciated from commencement
date to the end of the useful life. Otherwise, right-of-use
assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the
shorter of its estimated useful life and the lease term.

When the Group obtains ownership of the underlying leased
assets, upon exercising purchase options, the carrying
amount of the relevant right-of-use assets are transferred
to property, plant and equipment.

The Group presents right-of-use assets in “property, plant
and equipment’, the same line item within which the
corresponding underlying assets would be presented if they
were owned.
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Year ended 31 December 2020 #ZE 2020 12 A 31 HILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. REGSMEBEERMNEEREE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT BHBE®
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTINUED)
3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued) 3.2 EESTEE®
Leases (Continued) HE#)
The Group as a lessee (Continued) REBERBABEA )
Refundable rental deposits AR EIFEE 2

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted for under
HKFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments to
fair value at initial recognition are considered as additional
lease payments and included in the cost of right-of-use
assets.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group recognises
and measures the lease liability at the present value of
lease payments that are unpaid at that date. In calculating
the present value of lease payments, the Group uses the
incremental borrowing rate at the lease commencement
date if the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily
determinable.

The lease payments include:

. fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments) less any lease incentives receivable;

. variable lease payments that depend on an index or
a rate, initially measured using the index or rate as at
the commencement date;

° amounts expected to be payable by the Group under
residual value guarantees;
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Year ended 31 December 2020 #(ZE 202012 31 HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Lease liabilities (Continued)

o the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is
reasonably certain to exercise the option; and

° payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if the
lease term reflects the Group exercising an option to
terminate the lease.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted
by interest accretion and lease payments.

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a
corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use assets)
whenever:

° the lease term has changed or there is a change in
the assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in
which case the related lease liability is remeasured
by discounting the revised lease payments using a
revised discount rate at the date of reassessment.

° the lease payments change due to changes in market
rental rates following a market rent review, in which
cases the related lease liability is remeasured by
discounting the revised lease payments using the
initial discount rate.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item
on the consolidated statement of financial position.
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Year ended 31 December 2020 #ZE 2020 12 A 31 HILFE

REGAMERENEEREE
BHEE =

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

3.2 EEEHBER®

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Lease modifications

The Group accounts for a lease modification as a separate
lease if:

the modification increases the scope of the lease by
adding the right to use one or more underlying assets;
and

the consideration for the leases increases by an
amount commensurate with the stand-alone price for
the increase in scope and any appropriate adjustments
to that stand-alone price to reflect the circumstances
of the particular contract.

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as a
separate lease, the Group remeasures the lease liability,
less any lease incentives receivable, based on the lease
term of the modified lease by discounting the revised lease
payments using a revised discount rate at the effective date
of the modification.

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease
liabilities by making corresponding adjustments to the
relevant right-of-use asset. When the modified contract
contains a lease component and one or more additional
lease or non-lease components, the Group allocates
the consideration in the modified contract to each lease
component on the basis of the relative stand-alone price of
the lease component and the aggregate stand-alone price of
the non-lease components.
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Year ended 31 December 2020 #(ZE 202012 31 HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. HREGAMERRENEEREE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT | 404 10
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTINUED)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

3.2 EEETHER

i

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessor

Classification and measurement of leases

Leases for which the Group is a lessor are classified as
finance or operating leases. Whenever the terms of the lease
transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to
ownership of an underlying asset to the lessee, the contract
is classified as a finance lease. All other leases are classified
as operating leases.

Amounts due from lessees under finance leases are
recognised as receivables at commencement date at
amounts equal to net investments in the leases, measured
using the interest rate implicit in the respective leases. Initial
direct costs (other than those incurred by manufacturer or
dealer lessors) are included in the initial measurement of
the net investments in the leases. Interest income (unearned
finance income) is allocated to accounting periods so as to
reflect a constant periodic rate of return on the Group's net
investment outstanding in respect of the leases.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in
profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the
relevant lease. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating
and arranging an operating lease are added to the carrying
amount of the leased asset, and such costs are recognised
as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Sale and leaseback transaction

The Group applies the requirements of HKFRS 15 to assess
whether sale and leaseback transaction constitutes a sale
by the Group.

The Group as a seller-lessee

For a transfer that does not satisfy the requirements as a
sale, the Group as a seller-lessee continues to recognise the
assets and accounts for the transfer proceeds as borrowings
within the scope of HKFRS 9.
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Year ended 31 December 2020 #ZE 2020 12 A 31 HILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. REGSMERENEEREE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT BEHBUR )

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cONTINUED)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued) 3.2 EESHHE®

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual
group entity, transactions in currencies other than the
functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies)
are recognised at the rates of exchanges prevailing on
the dates of the transactions. At the end of the reporting
period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies
are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date. Non-
monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated in
foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing on
the date when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary
items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a
foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the retranslation of monetary items, are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group's
operations are translated into the presentation currency
of the Group (i.e. HK$) using exchange rates prevailing at
the end of each reporting period. Income and expenses
items are translated at the average exchange rates for the
period, unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly during
that period, in which case the exchange rates at the date
of transactions are used. Exchange differences arising, if
any, are recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in equity under the heading of translation

reserve.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time
to get ready for their intended use or sale, are added to
the cost of those assets until such time as the assets are
substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in
the period in which they are incurred.
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Year ended 31 December 2020 #(ZE 202012 31 HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. BREFAMBBENEEREE

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT BHEE =

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued) 3.2 EESFHBE®
Government grants BRTFRRL
Government grants are not recognised until there is B A T ERR  EEREER
reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with the 3B AN 5 B 75 38 ST BT 4 B 2 B A i
conditions attaching to them and that the grants will be HERESERmAMAILLE -
received.
Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on BNHMRAEERREEED A
a systematic basis over the periods in which the Group AXHEERFHRNEBERER M
recognises as expenses the related costs for which the EEEMRAEREMABERAN - &
grants are intended to compensate. Specifically, government BmME BNHMOAREEE
grants whose primary condition is that the Group should B BEXSTWEIRDEER
purchase, construct or otherwise acquire non-current assets F 2GS AIRGEHBRRES
are recognised as deferred income in the consolidated BRAELERD  WREBEEZ
statement of financial position and transferred to profit or AFATFHANEGRFMAIEERS
loss on a systematic and rational basis over the useful lives B o

of the related assets.

Government grants related to income that are receivable as HIABBEHBRAEAEREE
compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or ERYSEREZBEERARNASE
for the purpose of giving immediate financial support to the IR E 2 & m E R E B
Group with no future related costs are recognised in profit KRR A - BI7E H e W ERHA RS
or loss in the period in which they become receivable. Such RERER - ZZ /AN E A4l
grants are presented under “other income”. AJTE -

Employee benefits =F=F

Retirement benefit costs SRR R A A

The obligations for contributions to the Mandatory Provident BAEBIMEAESFE CHREE
Fund Scheme in Hong Kong are recognised as an expense FEEARNEaANBERAERS - &5
in profit or loss as incurred. The assets of the scheme are HEEHASEBENEESH B8
held separately from those of the Group in an independently VEBWESKEB  AKEYET
administered fund. The Group had no forfeited contribution MR RFEEEMNHR BRI
available to reduce the contribution payable in the future HK -

years.

In accordance with the rules and regulations in the PRC, the RFEPEDEGI RIER - REERH
employees of the Group's entities established in the PRC are Bl W E BB IES AL ERI T
required to participate in defined contribution retirement RIS 22 BERY FE BB ORI &) © 1)
plans organised by local governments. Contributions to ZEGTEELMEFIREERFNIE
these plans are expensed in profit or loss as incurred and =R YE MBRZES A HRN
other than these monthly contributions, the Group has no rEBBELEREIHRIKET
further obligation for the payment of retirement benefits to FOEMHEMEE -

its employees.

Tian Chang Group Holdings Ltd.
Annual Report 2020




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
&m 5 Bil #5 ¥R 2R il 5F

Year ended 31 December 2020 #ZE 2020 12 A 31 HILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. REGSMERENEEREE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT BEBUER 2

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued) 3.2 EEETBURG

Employee benefits (Continued)

Short-term and other long-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be paid as
and when employees rendered the services. All short-term
employee benefits are recognised as an expense unless
another HKFRS requires or permits the inclusion of the
benefit in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees
(such as wages and salaries) after deducting any amount
already paid.

Share-based payments

Equity-settled share-based payments transactions

Equity-settled share-based payments to employees
(including directors) and others providing similar services
are measured at the fair value of the equity instruments at
the grant date.

The fair value of the equity-settled share-based payments
determined at the grant date without taking into
consideration all non-market vesting conditions is expensed
on a straight-line basis over the vesting period, based on the
Group's estimate of equity instruments that will eventually
vest, with a corresponding increase in equity (share option
reserve). At the end of each reporting period, the Group
revises its estimate of the number of equity instruments
expected to vest based on assessment of all relevant non-
market vesting conditions. The impact of the revision of the
original estimates, if any, is recognised in profit or loss such
that the cumulative expense reflects the revised estimate,
with a corresponding adjustment to the share option
reserve. For share options that vest immediately at the
date of grant, the fair value of the share options granted is
expensed immediately to profit or loss.

When share options are exercised, the amount previously
recognised in share option reserve will be transferred to
share premium. When the share options are forfeited after the
vesting date or are still not exercised at the expiry date, the
amount previously recognised in share option reserve will be
transferred to accumulated profits, where appropriate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Year ended 31 December 2020 #(ZE 202012 31 HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. REGAMBBERNEEREE

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT BRHE )

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued) 3.2 EESTEE®
Taxation HiE
Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently MRS D ABRITEAT AR
payable and deferred tax. ERITE 2 4858 ©
The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the WITERGRIBIIEATE 2 BHER
year. Taxable profit differs from profit before tax because wAMETE o ERRTR N EBR T AT &
of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other FIRE - TYHRATE N BEIEEMSE
years and items that are never taxable or deductible. The BRI MBI A KA
Group's liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates BRI ABERRRRINH 2E
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end B - AEBRNBAMBEZBETIIER
of the reporting period. EHREBHKEBREBM 2B E

ArE °

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences BEERIBNRBEEVERERAE
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the EMBERDEEFE BRI
consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax Ffr KAMERE TR EEmE
bases used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax R RLETIE B B —MRILFT A ER
liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary Mo ERERTARR - ELERIE
differences. Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for BEA—MRIZAgeg LR ANRE
all deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is SHETE IR B R ERE 2 R
probable that taxable profits will be available against which AT T AR - WEERERED
those deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such R—EAERFH AN KGR
deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the Mz GHNTHREBEHIE
temporary difference arises from the initial recognition (other ATBRIN 2 EEREEMSIZ - Al
than in a business combination) of assets and liabilities in EHREEENBETTER -

a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the
accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary ELEHRBBAGSHEERKEARZ
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, &é{'ﬁ B < FE IR R = KR T A
except where the Group is able to control the reversal of the RIEEAEENEHEREE
temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary BEREREZREEURTERAR
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. 15 2R 2 B R 2 1B R BIBR AN o B2 E
Deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary HEMBNIHRE S EBMEE
differences associated with such investments are only MEEFRIEE EETIRAEHIRA]
recognised to the extent that it is probable that there will be FAERSZEHN 2 R E T
sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits B - W0 TE AR AT R SR B R R o

of the temporary differences and they are expected to
reverse in the foreseeable future.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
&m 5 Bil #5 ¥R 2R il 5F

Year ended 31 December 2020 #ZE 2020 12 A 31 HILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. REGSMERENEEREE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT | 404 AC))
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTINUED)
3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued) 3.2 S BE®E)
Taxation (Continued) I (&)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at
the end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent
that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will
be available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply in the period in which the
liability is settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate
(and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from
the manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the
reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount of
its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing
transactions in which the Group recognises the right-of-
use assets and the related lease liabilities, the Group first
determines whether the tax deductions are attributable to
the right-of-use assets or the lease liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are
attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group applies HKAS
12 Income Taxes requirements to right-of-use assets and
lease liabilities separately. Temporary differences on initial
recognition of the relevant right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities are not recognised due to application of the initial
recognition exemption. Temporary differences arising from
subsequent revision to the carrying amounts of right-of-use
assets and lease liabilities, resulting from remeasurement of
lease liabilities and lease modifications, that are not subject
to initial recognition exemption are recognised on the date of
remeasurement or modification.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Year ended 31 December 2020 #(ZE 202012 31 HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. REGAMBBERNEEREE

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT BRHE )

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued) 3.2 EESTEE®
Taxation (Continued) PIE (&)
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there fis 75 V% 7E 1 58 il 077 4 1 % BN BB
is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets HEERNBERBAGHRE BH
against current tax liabilities and when they relate to income HE — SN E — BRI E S
taxes levied to the same taxable entity by the same taxation U FTISTARRE - RIEERIBE
authority. ENBETEEEH -
Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss, BEA M BEEF BN B TR+ BRIE
except when they relate to items that are recognised in other EPEREME2EB G EERE
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case, EHRERNIBE - FEHBERT - 8D
the current and deferred tax are also recognised in other HA KR AE A T8 78 2 Bl RS H A 2 TE U
comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively. K EENERTER -
Property, plant and equipment W - BiERRE
Property, plant and equipment are tangible assets that are ME BEREELABEIEEESK
held for use in the production or supply of goods or services, REMRIRBALE - SETHRA
or for administrative purposes (other than properties BZEF(TITXFL 2 EEZYER
under construction as described below). Property, plant GN) o MEE - R M ERE IR KA E
and equipment are stated in the consolidated statement “IBFFTEREZRITRESE
of financial position at cost less subsequent accumulated BIREE BRI KT

depreciation and subsequent accumulated impairment
losses, if any.

Buildings, leasehold improvements and machinery and EEPRBELEE  HESTERA
equipment in the course of construction for production, H2EFT HEWEREE BHKE
supply or administrative purposes are carried at cost, less RBIEKANREMEERZRERS
any recognised impairment loss. Costs include any costs B - KRB IEFEEESIEN
directly attributable to bringing the asset to the location and ZREREBREN T ARBLERN
condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the WEMME RIGHmEEZEENT
manner intended by management and, for qualifying assets, ARAE ERFEGRENEEM
borrowing costs capitalised in accordance with the Group's s ASEEHHE T Z2ERLE
accounting policy. Depreciation of these assets, on the same HEAE - R FEERAHMYES
basis as other property assets, commences when the assets EMREE  TOAEERER
are ready for their intended use. BRI EE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Year ended 31 December 2020 #ZE 2020 12 A 31 HILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. REGSMERENEEREE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT | 404 AC))

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cONTINUED)
3.2 EEEEE @)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

When the Group makes payments for ownership interests of
properties which includes both leasehold land and building
elements, the entire consideration is allocated between the
leasehold land and the building elements in proportion to
the relative fair values at initial recognition. To the extent the
allocation of the relevant payments can be made reliably,
interest in leasehold land is presented separately as “right-
of-use assets” under property, plant and equipment. When
the consideration cannot be allocated reliably between
non-lease building element and undivided interest in
the underlying leasehold land, the entire properties are
classified as land and buildings under property, plant and
equipment.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of
assets other than construction in progress less their residual
values over their estimated useful lives, using the straight-
line method. The estimated useful lives, residual values
and depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each
reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate
accounted for on a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any
gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an
item of property, plant and equipment is determined as the
difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying
amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

Intangible assets
Internally-generated intangible assets — research and

development expenditure

Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an
expense in the period in which it is incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Year ended 31 December 2020 #(ZE 202012 31 HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. REGSMEBEERMNEEREE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT BHBE®
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTINUED)
3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued) 3.2 EESTEE®
Intangible assets (Continued) HEIEEE ()
Internally-generated intangible assets — research and RPEEBEEE -—HRIHEG)

development expenditure (Continued)

An internally-generated intangible asset arising from EEEEMETIEBEEERE

development activities (or from the development phase of B AAZEE(SNHIER 2%

an internal project) is recognised if, and only if, all of the BEEAZANEEBEEEST

following have been demonstrated: PARERR,

®  the technical feasibility of completing the intangible s BEEKEFEENRFERIE
asset so that it will be available for use or sale; BRI AIITM

° the intention to complete the intangible asset and use O BEKEREEYFRKEE
or sell it; HEE

e the ability to use or sell the intangible asset; s [FHRNLEEFEEMNRE

e how the intangible asset will generate probable future o B EERIRAELELER
economic benefits; =R

®  the availability of adequate technical, financial and o  HBAMEERM - M REM
other resources to complete the development and to BIRFTEKFERFERSEE%
use or sell the intangible asset; and mEEE &

e the ability to measure reliably the expenditure e RAZBERIUEMAEELE
attributable to the intangible asset during its ERLZHREES -

development.

The amount initially recognised for internally-generated RABEENELEEM Y L HA
intangible asset is the sum of the expenditure incurred ZLeRENEREEBEAANE LX
from the date when the intangible asset first meets the Fr3l 2 MERIZ 2 B BB P EE A 2 B
recognition criteria listed above. Where no internally- THESE WHEANSELEEEE
generated intangible asset can be recognised, development ERTHER AEIHEREEAL
expenditure is recognised in profit or loss in the period in HiffE B R o

which it is incurred.

Subsequent to initial recognition, internally-generated MR 2B RPEENELE
intangible assets are reported at cost less accumulated ETVRR AR R et #sH R RETRE
amortisation and accumulated impairment losses (if any), EE(ng)  WixHEBEBWE 2 E
on the same basis as intangible assets that are acquired FHEEMRRZ EERE -

separately.
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Year ended 31 December 2020 #ZE 2020 12 A 31 HILFE

REGAMERERNEEREE
|- & A0

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued) 3.2 EESTEE®

Impairment on property, plant and equipment, including
right-of-use assets

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its property, plant and equipment,
including right-of-use assets, to determine whether there is
any indication that these assets have suffered an impairment
loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount
of the relevant asset is estimated in order to determine the
extent of the impairment loss (if any).

The recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment,
including right-of-use assets, are estimated individually.
When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount
individually, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of
the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment, corporate
assets are allocated to the relevant cash-generating unit
when a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be
established, or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest
group of cash generating units for which a reasonable
and consistent allocation basis can be established. The
recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating
unit or group of cash-generating units to which the corporate
asset belongs, and is compared with the carrying amount
of the relevant cash-generating unit or group of cash-
generating units.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the asset (or a cash-generating unit) for
which the estimates of future cash flows have not been
adjusted.
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Year ended 31 December 2020 #(ZE 202012 31 HIEFE

REGAMERERNEEREE
BHBE®

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (coNTINUED)

3.2 EEETTHE®

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment, including
right-of-use assets (Continued)

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating
unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the
carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is
reduced to its recoverable amount. For corporate assets
or portion of corporate assets which cannot be allocated
on a reasonable and consistent basis to a cash-generating
unit, the Group compares the carrying amount of a group of
cash-generating units, including the carrying amounts of the
corporate assets or portion of corporate assets allocated to
that group of cash-generating units, with the recoverable
amount of the group of cash-generating units. In allocating
the impairment loss, the impairment loss is allocated first
to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill (if applicable)
and then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis based on
the carrying amount of each asset in the unit or the group
of cash-generating units. The carrying amount of an asset
is not reduced below the highest of its fair value less costs
of disposal (if measurable), its value in use (if determinable)
and zero. The amount of the impairment loss that would
otherwise have been allocated to the asset is allocated
pro rata to the other assets of the unit or the group of
cash-generating units. An impairment loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit or a
group of cash-generating units) is increased to the revised
estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased
carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that
would have been determined had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset (or a cash-generating unit or a
group of cash-generating units) in prior years. A reversal of
an impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or
loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Costs of inventories are determined on a weighted
average method. Net realisable value represents the
estimated selling price for inventories less all estimated
costs of completion and costs necessary to make the sale.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised
when a group entity becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instrument. All regular way purchases or
sales of financial assets are recognised and derecognised
on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases or sales are
purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery
of assets within the time frame established by regulation or
convention in the market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially
measured at fair value except for trade receivables arising
from contracts with customers which are initially measured
in accordance with HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with
Customers ("HKFRS 15"). Transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and
financial liabilities (other than financial assets or financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss ("FVPL")) are
added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial
assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial
recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to the
acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at FVPL
are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability
and of allocating interest income and interest expense over
the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate
that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts and
payments (including all fees and points paid or received
that form an integral part of the effective interest rate,
transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through
the expected life of the financial asset or financial liability,
or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying
amount on initial recognition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Year ended 31 December 2020 #(ZE 202012 31 HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial

assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are

subsequently measured at amortised cost:

° the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is to collect contractual cash flows;

and

o the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at fair value through other

comprehensive income (“FVOCI"):

° the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is achieved by both selling and

collecting contractual cash flows; and

o the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at
FVPL, except that at initial recognition of a financial asset the
Group may irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes
in fair value of an equity investment in other comprehensive
income if that equity investment is neither held for trading
nor contingent consideration recognised by an acquirer in a

business combination to which HKFRS 3 applies.
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Year ended 31 December 2020 #ZE 2020 12 A 31 HILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. RERAMEBERNELERESR
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT |- & A0
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cOoNTINUED)
3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued) 3.2 EESTTERE®W)
Financial instruments (Continued) PHTAE)
Financial assets (Continued) SHMEEW)
Classification and subsequent measurement of financial THEENSERBETE(#)

assets (Continued)

A financial asset is held for trading if: TREENATBERADBRFEE

e it has been acquired principally for the purpose of e WHEZEETZRANIEEH
selling in the near term; or B3R

e on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of s RUTHERBHHDIAEEEH
identified financial instruments that the Group EEMNEHECTIAAEN
manages together and has a recent actual pattern of —Hn - WEBMHEREH
short-term profit-taking; or BEFER K

e itis a derivative that is not designated and effective as e HITATE W BEAMIEER
a hedging instrument. BRI IESHRT A o

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial BN REB AT NI HEEH A AR T

asset that are required to be measured at the amortised HEEKNASIEARETAEME

cost or FVOCI as measured at FVPL if doing so eliminates or HURHEZERMEERERAER

significantly reduces an accounting mismatch. AEETABERIE AR BE

Al RfR AR EFHERAC ©
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Year ended 31 December 2020 #(ZE 202012 31 HIEFE

REGAMERENEEREE
BHEE =

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets (Continued)

(i)

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective
interest method for financial assets measured
subsequently at amortised cost. Interest income
is calculated by applying the effective interest rate
to the gross carrying amount of a financial asset,
except for financial assets that have subsequently
become credit-impaired. For financial assets that have
subsequently become credit-impaired, interest income
is recognised by applying the effective interest rate
to the amortised cost of the financial asset from the
next reporting period. If the credit risk on the credit-
impaired financial instrument improves so that the
financial asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest
income is recognised by applying the effective interest
rate to the gross carrying amount of the financial asset
from the beginning of the reporting period following
the determination that the asset is no longer credit-
impaired.

The Group's financial assets at amortised cost include
trade and other receivables, finance lease receivables
and bank balances.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Year ended 31 December 2020 #ZE 2020 12 A 31 HILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. HREUEGASMERENEEREE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT |- & A0

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (coNTINUED)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

3.2 EEETHE@)

Financial instruments (Continued) TEIT A )
Financial assets (Continued) ERMEEE)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets (Continued)

(i)

Financial assets at FVPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being
measured at amortised cost or FVOCI or designated as
FVOCI are measured at FVPL.

Financial assets at FVPL are measured at fair value
at the end of each reporting period, with any fair value
gains or losses recognised in profit or loss. The net
gain or loss recognised in profit or loss includes any
interest earned on the financial asset and is included
in the “fair value gains on financial assets at FVPL"
under line item of “other gains and losses".

The Group's financial assets measured at FVPL
include (i) the unlisted investment — key management
insurance contracts, and (i) derivatives not designated
as hedging instruments — Cross Currency Swap
("cesn).
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Year ended 31 December 2020 #(ZE 202012 31 HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. REGAMERENEEREE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT BHBE®
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTINUED)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

3.2 EEEHBE®

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial asset

The Group performs impairment assessment under
expected credit loss ("ECL") model on financial assets
(including finance lease receivables, trade receivables and
other receivables and bank balance) which are subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9. The amount of ECL
is updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit
risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from
all possible default events over the expected life of the
relevant instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL ("12m ECL")
represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is expected
to result from default events that are possible within 12
months after the reporting date. Assessments are done
based on the Group's historical credit loss experience,
adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors, general
economic conditions and an assessment of both the current
conditions at the reporting date as well as the forecast of
future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade
receivables.

TR AE)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial asset (Continued)

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss
allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless there has been a

significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition,

in which case the Group recognises lifetime ECL. The
assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised is
based on significant increases in the likelihood or risk of a
default occurring since initial recognition.

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument as at the reporting date with the
risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument
as at the date of initial recognition. In making this
assessment, the Group considers both gquantitative
and qualitative information that is reasonable and
supportable, including historical experience and
forward-looking information that is available without
undue cost or effort.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Year ended 31 December 2020 #(ZE 202012 31 HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (coNTINUED)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial asset (Continued)
(i) Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has
increased significantly:

. an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the financial instrument's external (if available)
or internal credit rating;

. significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant
increase in the credit spread, the credit default
swap prices for the debtor;

. existing or forecast adverse changes in
business, financial or economic conditions that
are expected to cause a significant decrease in
the debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations;

. an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the operating results of the debtor;
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Year ended 31 December 2020 #ZE 2020 12 A 31 HILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. REGAMBBERNEEREE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT BRI ()
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued) 3.2 EEETER e
Financial instruments (Continued) TEITAE)
Financial assets (Continued) SRIEE®
Impairment of financial asset (Continued) T EE B ()
(i)  Significant increase in credit risk (Continued) (i) FEERBEZELA®
*  anactual or expected significant adverse change e HBHEBAERBITHE
in the regulatory, economic, or technological BWELZRE T RIETBE
environment of the debtor that results in a ZEE . EERRMIR
significant decrease in the debtor's ability to Rr2EBRKEHEKRDT
meet its debt obligations. TS o
Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, T Ll fT &R oM - A%
the Group presumes that the credit risk has increased B EE A L1 ZE BB A 30
significantly since initial recognition when contractual X AEERR B ¥E R L
payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the RE KB - BRIEAREE
Group has reasonable and supportable information BEBEBEBECENERILIEN
that demonstrates otherwise. it - BIVERIE® ©
Despite the aforegoing, the Group assumes that BEALMRTE  BERFHER
the credit risk on a financial instrument has not HeBMTAWETAEARE
increased significantly since initial recognition if the FERR T~EEeREEH
financial instrument is determined to have low credit TEMEERR BB HERA
risk at the reporting date. A financial instrument is R ARFEE EF - EUATIER
determined to have low credit risk if (i) it has a low T 2HMmIAswETAES
risk of default, (ii) the borrower has a strong capacity BEEERR: (2T AN
to meet its contractual cash flow obligations in the BEARRBRE: (MERXRAF
near term and (iii) adverse changes in economic and BRENRNEHRNETESYL
business conditions in the longer term may, but will BeR2HM RiiNBEH
not necessarily, reduce the ability of the borrower to B A R B AROR AT se IR AR T
fulfil its contractual cash flow obligations. All financial FEE) - AR DHISBERA
assets, except for trade receivables, are determined to ENEAVRESREE AR
have low credit risk. HeFEsREEEBEIRK
REBRINEERBRIEE
TEARE -
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Year ended 31 December 2020 #(ZE 202012 31 HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial asset (Continued)
(i) Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of
the criteria used to identify whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk and revises them as
appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of
identifying significant increase in credit risk before the
amount becomes past due.

(i) Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group
considers an event of default occurs when information
developed internally or obtained from external sources
indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors,
including the Group, in full (without taking into account
any collaterals held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers
that default has occurred when a financial asset
is more than 90 days past due unless the Group
has reasonable and supportable information to
demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion is
more appropriate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (coNTINUED)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial asset (Continued)

(iii)

(iv)

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more
events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated
future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred.
Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired
includes observable data about the following events:

significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower;

a breach of contract, such as a default or past
due event;

the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower's
financial difficulty, having granted to the
borrower a concession(s) that the lender(s)
would not otherwise consider; or

it is becoming probable that the borrower
will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation.

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there
is information indicating that the counterparty is in
severe financial difficulty and there is no realistic
prospect of recovery, for example, when the
counterparty has been placed under liquidation or
has entered into bankruptcy proceedings. Financial
assets written off may still be subject to enforcement
activities under the Group's recovery procedures,
taking into account legal advice where appropriate.
A write-off constitutes a derecognition event. Any
subsequent recoveries are recognised in profit or loss.
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Year ended 31 December 2020 #(ZE 202012 31 HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (coNTINUED)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial asset (Continued)
(v)  Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the
probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the
magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and the
exposure at default. The assessment of the probability
of default and loss given default is based on historical
data and forward-looking information. Estimation of
ECL reflects an unbiased and probability-weighted
amount that is determined with the respective risks of
default occurring as the weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all
contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in
accordance with the contract and the cash flows
that the Group expects to receive, discounted at the
effective interest rate determined at initial recognition.
For a lease receivable, the cash flows used for
determining the ECL is consistent with the cash flow
used in measuring the lease receivable in accordance
with HKFRS 16.

Certain trade receivables are individually assessed
based on historical credit loss experience, adjusted
for factors that are specific to the debtors’ general
economic conditions.

Certain trade receivables are considered on a
collective basis taking into consideration past due
status, size of debtors and relevant credit information
such as forward looking macroeconomic information.
The Group applies practical expedient in estimating
ECL on trade receivables which are assessed
collectively using a provision matrix.
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Year ended 31 December 2020 #ZE 2020 12 A 31 HILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. REGSMERENEEREE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT | 404 AC))

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

3.2 EESITEHE®E)

Financial instruments (Continued) TEITAE)
Financial assets (Continued) SRIEE®
Impairment of financial asset (Continued) T EE B ()
(v)  Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued) (v) TEHEEBBEMNGERER
(%)
The grouping is regularly reviewed by management EEETHR ML E

to ensure the constituents of each group continue to
share similar credit risk characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset unless the
financial asset is credit-impaired, in which case
interest income is calculated based on amortised cost
of the financial asset.

The Group recognises an impairment loss or gain on
reversal of impairment in profit or loss for all financial
instruments by adjusting their carrying amount,
with the exception of trade receivables where the
corresponding adjustment is recognised through a
loss allowance account.

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire,
or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all
the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another
entity. If the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially
all the risks and rewards of ownership and continues to
control the transferred asset, the Group recognises its
retained interest in the asset and an associated liability
for amounts it may have to pay. If the Group retains
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of a
transferred financial asset, the Group continues to recognise
the financial asset and also recognises a collateralised
borrowing for the proceeds received.
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Year ended 31 December 2020 #(ZE 202012 31 HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (coNTINUED)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)
Derecognition of financial assets (Continued)

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised
cost, the difference between the asset’s carrying amount
and the sum of the consideration received and receivable is
recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities and equity
Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial
liabilities or as equity in accordance with the substance
of the contractual arrangements and the definitions of a
financial liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a
residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all
of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Company
are recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue
costs.

Financial liabilities

All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method or at
FVPL.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

The Group's financial liabilities including trade and
other payables, interest-bearing borrowings, payables
for construction in progress and lease liabilities are
subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the
effective interest method.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (coNTINUED)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity (Continued)

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group's obligations are discharged, cancelled or
have expired. The difference between the carrying amount
of the financial liability derecognised and the consideration
paid and payable is recognised in profit or loss.

Related parties

A related party is a person or entity that is related to the
Group.

(a) A person or a close member of that person’s family is

related to the Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii)  is a member of the key management personnel
of the Group or of a parent of the Group.
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Year ended 31 December 2020 #(ZE 202012 31 HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (coNTINUED)

REGAMERENEEREE
BHEE =

3.2 EEETHER®

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Related parties (Continued) E5EE T ()
(b)  An entity is related to the Group if any of the following (b) W—EEBHFEUATES

EIREAKE AR

conditions applies:

=

(i) The entity and the Group are members of the () ZERLHEAASEABR-—

same group (which means that each parent,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the
others).

SEOKERFEIE
[S/NSIRNG = PNCIDS A
EMBARMUIEAR

B) o
(i) One entity is an associate or joint venture of the iy HEP—HERBRES—H
other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a ERzBERAINEE

RGBSR —HERMR

member of a group of which the other entity is a

member). %%@WE@ RO Bt 2
RAIHAEDRHE) °
(i) Both entities are joint ventures of the same third (i) MEEBHAR—F=
party. THEERE -
(iv)  One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and (v, HPF—HEBE—®F
the other entity is an associate of the third entity. ZHHMAEELE MH

—EHERAEZE=ZAN

NI

(v)  The entity is a post-employment benefit plan V) RZREBARNSBEIMER
for the benefit of employees of either the Group EEEEBOEEIME
or an entity related to the Group. If the Group is B8 F M &% #Y R K 1@ A
itself such a plan, the sponsoring employers are rEl e MAEBRAS A
also related to the Group. ZatE BEEDNE

EMREANEE A
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fm 5 Bil 15 $R 2} Bl aE

Year ended 31 December 2020 #ZE 2020 12 A 31 HILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. REGAMBBRNEEREE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT BRHBE ()
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (coNTINUED)
3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued) 3.2 EESTEE®
Related parties (Continued) (&)
(b)  An entity is related to the Group if any of the following (b) fH—FEEETEATES
conditions applies: (Continued) B A B ANEE AR - ()
(vi)  The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a (vi) ZEBXGQBMM#HAZ
person identified in (a). A TSl s K EES] o
(vii) A person identified in (a)(i) has significant (vii) (@OEEFT#E A2 AT H
influence over the entity or is a member of the ZEBEEAFENK
key management personnel of the entity (or of a AZERB(KZEREA
parent of the entity). AMEEEEAE -
(viii) The entity, or any member of a group of which it (viiii ZEBREMBEEM
is a part, provides key management personnel ERKERERAEER
services to the Group or to a parent of the Group. s AEE MR A R
FTETEABRE -
Close members of the family of a person are those —BATHIEREARZATHEE
family members who may be expected to influence, or be BETR SR BHYEerEZ
influenced by, that person in their dealings with the entity BAATHEZBATHENREN
and include: 8 B
(a)  that person’s children and spouse or domestic partner; (a) BmBATWFREEGBHFAE
1
(b)  children of that person’s spouse or domestic partner; (b) ZmABATHEBXRAFEHESN
and TRk
(c) dependants of that person or that person’s spouse or (c) BHmBALTHZBATERBKA
domestic partner. BEHBEHZEA -

AEEEERER AR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Year ended 31 December 2020 #(ZE 202012 31 HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment
item reported in the consolidated financial statements, are
identified from the financial information provided regularly
to the executive directors of the Company for the purpose of
allocating resources to, and assessing the performance of,
the Group's various lines of business.

Individual material operating segments are not aggregated
for financial reporting purposes unless the segments
have similar economic characteristics and are similar in
respect of the nature of products and services, the nature
of production processes, the type or class of customers,
the methods used to distribute the products or provide the
services, and the nature of the regulatory environment.
Operating segments which are not individually material may
be aggregated if they share a majority of these criteria.

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group's accounting policies, which are
described in Note 3 to the consolidated financial statements,
the directors of the Company are required to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources.
The estimates and underlying assumptions are based on historical
experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant.
Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an on-
going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in
the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects
only that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods
if the revision affects both current and future periods.

Tian Chang Group Holdings Ltd.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (coNTINUED)

Critical judgments in applying accounting policies

The following is the critical judgement, apart from those involving
estimations (see below), that the directors of the Company
have made in the process of applying the Group's accounting
policies and that have the most significant effect on the amounts
recognised in the consolidated financial statements.

Going concern basis

The assessment of the going concern assumption involves making
judgement by the management, at a particular point of time, about
the future outcome of events or conditions which are inherently
uncertain. The directors of the Company perform going concern
assessment based on the projections of the Group's results and
cash flows from the operations and the ability of the Group to
renew existing bank loans and/or obtain new bank facilities to
finance its continuing operations. As disclosed in Note 3.1 to the
consolidated financial statements, the consolidated financial
statements have been prepared on the going concern basis taking
into account the confirmed credit commitments from financial
institutions and internal financial resources of the Group.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of
the reporting period that may have a significant risk of causing
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year.

(i) Impairment assessment of trade receivables

At 31 December 2020, the carrying amount of trade
receivables amounted to approximately HK$145,334,000
(2019: HK$120,777,000) (after the loss allowance provision
of approximately HK$5,893,000 (2079: HK$4,568,000)), which
approximated 12% of the Group's total assets.

Management performed impairment assessment for the
Group's customers and assessed ECL of trade receivables.
The impairment assessments separately assess individual
customer’s settlement record, and taking into account
of information specific to respective customer as well
as pertaining to the economic environment in which the
customer operated.

&m 5 Bil #5 ¥R 2R il 5F
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Year ended 31 December 2020 #(ZE 202012 31 HIEFE

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (cONTINUED)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(i)

(ii)

Impairment assessment of trade receivables (Continued)

In addition, the Group uses practical expedient in estimating
ECL on trade receivables which are not assessed individually
using a provision matrix. The provision rates are based on
aging of debtors as groupings of various debtors taking
into consideration the Group's historical default rates
and forward-looking information that is reasonable and
supportable available without undue costs or effort. At every
reporting date, the historical observed default rates are
reassessed and changes in the forward-looking information
are considered.

The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in estimates.
The Group's trade receivables and the information about the
ECL are disclosed in Notes 20 and 34(b) to the consolidated
financial statements respectively.

Deferred tax assets

As at 31 December 2020, deferred tax assets of
HK$5,865,000 (2079: HK$6,7157,000) in relation to unused
tax losses for certain operating subsidiaries had been
recognised in the consolidated statement of financial
position. The realisability of the deferred tax assets mainly
depends on whether sufficient future profits or taxable
temporary differences will be available in the future, which
is a key source of estimation uncertainty. In cases where the
actual future taxable profits generated are less or more than
expected, or change in facts and circumstances which result
in revision of future taxable profits estimation, a material
reversal or further recognition of deferred tax assets may
arise, which would be recognised in profit or loss for the
period in which such a reversal or further recognition takes
place.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (coNTINUED)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(iii)

Allowance for inventories

The management reviews the condition of inventories at
the end of each reporting period and makes allowance for
inventories that are identified as obsolete, slow-moving or
no longer recoverable. The management carries out the
inventory review on a product-by-product basis and makes
allowances by reference to the latest market prices and
current market conditions.

As at 31 December 2020, the net carrying amount of
inventories was HK$99,187,000 (2079: HK$83,882,000).
Written-off of inventories of HK$1,152,000 (2079:
HK$1,5625,000) was recognised in profit or loss during the
year.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

Information reported to the executive directors of the Company,

being identified as the chief operating decision makers (‘CODM"),

for the purposes of resource allocation and assessment of

segment performance focuses on types of goods delivered. No

operating segments identified by the CODM have been aggregated

in arriving at the reportable segments of the Group.

Specifically, the Group's reportable and operating segments are as

follows:

1)

E-cigarettes products segment: manufacture and sales of
e-cigarettes products.

Integrated plastic solutions segment: manufacture and sales
of moulds and plastic products.

Medical consumable products segment: a new business
segment set up and engaged by the Group for the
manufacture and sales of medical consumable products
during the year ended 31 December 2020.

&m 5 Bil #5 ¥R 2R il 5F
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Year ended 31 December 2020 #(ZE 202012 31 HIEFE

5. SEGMENT INFORMATION (coNTINUED) 5.
Segment revenue and results

The accounting policies of the operating segments are the same
as the Group's accounting policies described in Note 3 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Segment revenue represents revenue derived from manufacturing
and sales of e-cigarettes products, moulds and plastic products
and medical consumable products (2079: manufacturing and sales
of e-cigarettes and moulds and plastic products).

Segment results represent the gross profit less selling and
distribution costs and impairment losses recognised on trade
receivables incurred by each segment without allocation of other
income, other gains and losses, administrative and other operating
expenses, finance costs and income tax expenses. This is the
information reported to the CODM of the Group for the purposes of
resource allocation and performance assessment.

The followings are analysis of the Group's revenue and results by
reportable and operating segments:

E-cigarettes
products

BTEEm
HK$'000
FTHET

Year ended 31 December 2020 & Z 2020512 A 318

SEEIE )
DEMEREER

RED T ETHRRELR S

AT A B G ERR AR °

B 5 R Y

DEREERERFEEESTEER - &
AERBRBERUAREFEERERAS K
(20194 - ZEREEEFIEEDRIER
HUARBBZIR) o

)
)

o

18

g -

BRSEABIE B o0 BB AT IR ER A0 £ Rk 3H 5 e
SHRCAN Ko 1Y B 5 e M R TR e R RO R (E S
M &S R E AU A - E b Uas & &

TR R B EF T - MR R
BHAX - IR ERD ERRREFER
AEEEZLERRERENER -

U T B4 B A e R E S HHRER
EED -

Integrated Medical

plastic consumable
solutions products

—BxE

RRTTR BEUHEREM
HK$'000 HK$'000
TR FER

Total

#et
HK$'000
FTEx

IEFE

Segment revenue AR E 441,703 339,307 6,384 787,394
Gross profit EH 105,418 85,755 2,524 193,697
Impairment losses recognised R E 5 & UL IE fER

on trade receivables KRB ET 18 - (1,101) - (1,101)
Selling and distribution costs S5 & $5A A - (6,582) (1,895) (8,477)
Segment results DEBHER 105,418 78,072 629 184,119
Unallocated income and RFAHA R

expenses
Other income E bl A 7,588
Other gains and losses H s REE 818
Administrative and other TR HAb e &

operating expenses (96,175)
Finance costs EUp I N (8,822)
Profit before tax B B A A 87,528
Income tax expenses i (13,814)
Profit for the year FREF] 73,714
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SEGMENT INFORMATION (cONTINUED)

Segment revenue and results (Continued)

fm 5 Bil 15 $R 2} Bl aE

Year ended 31 December 2020 #ZE 2020 12 A 31 HILFE

5. #BEH®
DERUN S B A ()

Integrated Medical
E-cigarettes plastic consumable
products solutions products Total
—Bx
BFEEM FERAR BEEMES HaEt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FAT FH&TT FHAT
Year ended 31 December 2019 #HZ 2019412 A31H
EFE
Segment revenue 7Bl 859,910 391,164 = 1,251,074
Gross profit E A 216,175 97,184 - 313,359
Impairment losses recognised R E 5 & U R IE fER
on trade receivables KRB 1E - = = =
Selling and distribution costs  $H%& &2 #HA A - (11,374) - (11,374)
Segment results DEPHEE 216,175 85,810 = 301,985
Unallocated income KA R
and expenses
Other income ElA 4,925
Other gains and losses Hith iz K E518 1,914
Administrative and TR EMLERAS
other operating expenses (135,404)
Finance costs B #5 AR AN (9,069)
Profit before tax B TR A 164,351
Income tax expenses FrS iR (37,155)
Profit for the year F (A g A 127,196
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Year ended 31 December 2020 #(ZE 202012 31 HIEFE

5.

Bl 5 e 2% B 5

SEGMENT INFORMATION (cONTINUED)

Segment assets and liabilities

At 31 December 2020

M2020512831H

E-cigarettes
products

EYEER
HK$'000
TR

5.

Integrated
plastic
solutions
—f{LxE
ERAR
HK$'000
THET

DEEE =)

THEERAEE

Medical
consumable
products

BREER
HK$'000
TER

Unallocated

RAE
HK$'000
TR

Total

Eh
HK$'000
TR

Assets BE
Reportable segment assets ARG D EPEE 114,780 478,984 36,225 533,301 1,163,290
Liabilities af
Reportable segment liabilities ~ AJ3R&E D EE & 102,726 34,812 126 387,398 525,062
Other information HirE R
Capital expenditure BARE 7,791 40,595 23,863 43,931 116,180
Depreciation neE 3,623 36,872 1,166 5,450 47,111
Gain on transfer of property, ~ BBME - BE

plant and equipment to RREZENRE

finance lease receivables BEFENE 402 - - - 402
Property, plant and equipment ¥ « BERRE

written off g 10 255 - (100) 165
Inventories written off FEMH - 1,152 - - 1,152
Research and development by

expenses 11,530 7,457 1,567 - 20,554
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Year ended 31 December 2020 #ZE 2020 12 A 31 HILFE

5. SEGMENT INFORMATION (cONTINUED) 5. 8BEH®
Segment assets and liabilities (Continued) TEHEEREE®
Integrated Medical
E-cigarettes plastic consumable
products solutions products Unallocated Total
—BirE
EFEER YIS BERMEm AOE Bt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT THT THT T T
At 31 December 2019 R20195F12A31R
Assets BE
Reportable segment assets AHRENHEE 110,933 427,708 = 434,888 973,529
Liabilities faf
Reportable segment liabilities Al 3R D EFE & 60,339 57,984 - 317,981 436,304
Other information HttER
Capital expenditure BERRX 2,922 89,338 - 56,714 148,974
Depreciation e 3,769 29,530 - 5,261 38,560
Loss on disposal of property, ~ HH&EWE - BER
plant and equipment RiEEE 1 150 - = 151
Inventories written off HFEME = 1,525 = = 1,525

Research and development WEmS
expenses 17,370 7,902 - - 25,272

For the purposes of monitoring segment performance and REESBRARSEHEBEERME :
allocating resources between segments:

e segment assets include certain property, plant and e DHEEBREETYE WERER
equipment, finance lease receivables, inventories and #H BURERERE FELE
trade and bills receivables. Other assets are not allocated SEWHIBREREE - & E
to operating segments as these assets are managed on a HRDPEELENT  ARSEE
group basis; and REEELEER &

e segment liabilities include trade payables and contract e DHEAEBREEBESHENFIERELD
liabilities. Other liabilities are not allocated to operating BE - EMadHRoREa2g8E D
segments as these liabilities are managed on a group basis. B AZSaEREEREEEE -

AEEEERER AR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Year ended 31 December 2020 #(ZE 202012 31 HIEFE

5. SEGMENT INFORMATION (cONTINUED) 5. SWBEHE
Geographical information wEER
The following table sets out information about the geographical TRHEINEELAESEME - BE LK HE
location of the Group's property, plant and equipment (“specified ([fBEEFRBEE DHEMLUENELR I8
non-current assets’). The geographical location of the specified EIERBEENMIBAUE DALEENER
non-current assets is based on the physical location of the assets. BRI ©
Specified non-current assets EEH B EE
2020 2019
2020 20194
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#ET FET
Hong Kong &E 4,256 5,151
The PRC F 716,480 615,874
720,736 621,025
Information about the Group's revenue from external customers is BRAREENISEFRENERTIRE P
presented based on the location of customers. HALEZS ©

2020 2019
2020 2019 £
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#&T FHET

Revenue from external customers RENFEF WG
The United States of America EFRE RE 173,136 172,017
The PRC H 194,183 236,652
The United Kingdom HE 32,183 638,148
Hong Kong &E 32,346 30,311
Netherlands Gl 348,968 164,466
Others Hih 6,578 9,480

787,394 1,251,074
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Year ended 31 December 2020 #ZE 2020 12 A 31 HILFE

SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 5. #WBEH

Information about major customers EREEEFNER

Details of the entities individually accounting for 10% or more HE2020% &2019F 12 A31H L FE
of aggregate revenue of the Group during the years ended 31 ERME AR EERUET10% KA EHNEFEEH
December 2020 and 2019 are as follows: EA=T NN

Integrated Medical
E-cigarettes plastic consumable
products solutions products Total

—R{LiEE
ETEER MRAIR BREER #st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR FTExT FTERT TERT

Year ended 31 December 2020 & Z 20205128318

IEFE
Customer A and its affiliated ~ BFP A REEE QA
companies 441,703 3,861 5,464 451,028
Customer B and its affiliated ~ &EF B NEFE QA
companies - 107,597 205 107,802
441,703 111,458 5,669 558,830
Year ended 31 December 2019 #ZE 2019412 831 H
IEFE
Customer A and its affiliated ~ BFP A REEE QA
companies 857,920 40,693 - 898,613
REVENUE 6. @

2020 2019
2020 2019
HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FHET

Revenue from contracts with customers BB IEHEERE 155K BEF

within HKFRS 15 BRI
Sales of e-cigarettes products HEETEER 441,703 859,910
Sales of moulds and plastic products HERARBRBR M 339,307 391,164
Sales of medical consumable products  $5%5 & H FE M 6,384 =
787,394 1,251,074
The revenue from contracts with customers is based on fixed price REBFPANNKZRIZECEBRTEY
and recognised at a point in time. RE—RFERER o

AEEEIERAR AT
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fm 5 Bil ¥ ¥ 2% Bl 51

Year ended 31 December 2020 #(ZE 202012 31 HIEFE

6. REVENUE (cONTINUED) 6. W
Transaction price allocated to the remaining performance PERFEFSHNRRBANEZENRS
obligation for contract with customers BB
E-cigarettes products, moulds and plastic products and medical BEfEEm BEEREBRAREEERE
consumable products are delivered within a period of less MR EBAE—FAN - I DEETRE
than one year. In addition, the transaction price allocated to the TEANRZERITTEKN - Bl EEH
unsatisfied contracts is insignificant and therefore is not disclosed IR ELRNE 155K AT N TR -

as permitted in HKFRS 15.

7. OTHER INCOME 7. HfilrA
2019
2019 4F
HK$'000
FAET
Bank interest income IRITFI B WA 473 791
Finance lease interest income BEREF WA 102 =
Government grants (Note) RIS EL (A7 at) 2,302 17
Management service income EERBIA 145 =
Rental and utilities recharge income He RKEBEBRBWRA 964 1,605
Sales of scrap materials EERIHE 1,690 1,239
Sundry income I A 1,912 1,273
7,588 4,925
Note: Hiat -
Included in the amount is the amortisation of government grant of HK$315,000 FrefEeB B  MERXEBEEBNK
(2019: HK$17,000) in relation to the acquisition of properly, plant and FF e Bk 85 315,000 7T (20719 4F < 17,0007 ) °
equipment.
8. OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES 8. HtukRREGA
2020 2019
2020 F 2019 4F
HK$°'000 HK$'000
F&T FET
Exchange (loss)/gain, net BN (E8), s F 8 (1,050) 1,218
Fair value gains on financial BARBEABENEREE
assets at FVPL ANAaEWE 1,631 847
Written off of property, W% - BB KRR
plant and equipment (165) S
Loss on disposal of property, HEME - BEMXEEE
plant and equipment - (151)
Gain on transfer of property, ERWE - BEMREREY
plant and equipment to BE B EFIBR
finance lease receivables 402 -
818 1914
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Year ended 31 December 2020 #ZE 2020 12 A 31 HILFE

PROFIT BEFORE TAX 9. BRMAAT
This is stated after charging: B kR T 51 51851 R
2020 2019
2020 2019 4
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#ET T
Finance costs 95 %:N
Interest on interest-bearing borrowings &1 Bf& | & 6,976 6,112
Interest on payables for construction FENTERITIEFIRFE
in progress 698 894
Interest on lease liabilities HESEFE 1,148 2,063
8,822 9,069
Staff costs, including directors’ BIRA
emoluments (BEESEMSE)
Employee benefits expenses EERMAXZ 104,679 157,087
Discretionary bonus BIETEAT 21,095 44,420
Contributions to defined contribution M) R SR RET &I 3K
retirement schemes 5,715 13,770
Share-based payment expense % 17 B < AR A 1,761 =
133,250 215,277
Other items Hitig g
Cost of inventories FEKA 593,697 937,715
Auditor's remuneration 1% £ B 55 A 1,122 1,333
Depreciation (charged to “cost of goods  #TE (5 Al & M 4 &R A
sold” and "administrative and other MI1TBU R E A
operating expenses”, as appropriate) (fwi@Em)) 47,111 38,560
Inventories written off FEME 1,152 1,625
Short-term lease payments (charged MHAEERIA
to “administrative and other (FEATTTB R
operating expenses"”) Hhgarx ) 49 90
Share-based payment expenses to FHEEWE'J/\QM S
eligible participants other than ZRRD B R A
employees 286 -
Research and development expenses e 20,554 25,272
X EEBERARA

zozoﬁfﬁﬁi




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Year ended 31 December 2020 #(ZE 202012 31 HIEFE

10. INFORMATION ABOUT THE BENEFITS OF DIRECTORS

(a)

Directors’ remuneration

The aggregate amounts of remuneration received or
receivable by the directors of the Company (the "Directors”)

are set out below.

Year ended 31 December 2020

(a) EEEHH

10. FRESEEINEH

AAREE(ESE)) DML
B e ERFIMT -

BZE2020F12 831 HILFEE

Contributions
to defined

Share-based

Directors’ Salaries and Discretionary  contribution payment
fees  allowances bonus plans expenses Total
ERER ktp
EShe FeREM  BERAL  HEMR  MesF @zt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET THT THT THT THT THET
Executive directors’ HITEE
Chan Tsan Lam BRAEAR - 4,457 14,311 18 39 18,825
Chan Yin Yan BRAM - 2,466 2,661 18 389 5,534
Poon Po Han Lisa AER - 1,950 1,376 18 389 3,733
Independent non-executive U HEHTEE"
directors*
Chan Bing Kai R 180 - - - 31 211
Hung Chun Leung HER 180 - - - 31 211
Ng Chi Wai REE 180 = = = = 180
540 8,873 18,348 54 879 28,694

Tian Chang Group Holdings Ltd.
Annual Report 2020



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Year ended 31 December 2020 #ZE 2020 12 A 31 HILFE

10. INFORMATION ABOUT THE BENEFITS OF DIRECTORS 10. FREERIMNEH »)

(CONTINUED)
EEHFM
2019412 A31 HILFE

(a) Directors’ remuneration (Continued) (a)

Year ended 31 December 2019

Contributions
to defined

Share-based

Directors’  Salariesand Discretionary  contribution payment
fees  allowances bonus plans expenses Total
ERBMH ki
EXe HeRER BERA O HEME BeKR @it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEx TER TEx FAEx TAR TET
Executive directors’ HITEE?
Chan Tsan Lam BRAEAK - 2,901 24,759 18 - 27,678
Cheng Chak ' - - 575 - - - 575
Chan Yin Yan FRR - 2,190 3,004 18 = 5,212
Poon Po Han Lisa? EER? S 1,060 1,785 11 S 2,856
Independent non-executive VB TTEE
directors*
Chan Bing Kai M 153 = = = = 153
LoKaKi' ERE 4b - - - - 4t
Hung Chun Leung HER 153 = = = = 153
Ng Chi Wai? RE(R? 107 - - - = 107
459 6,726 29548 47 - 36,780
' Retired during the year ended 31 December 2019 J REBZE2019F12A31BLFEER
£
2 Appointed during the year ended 31 December 2019 g REZE2019F12A3MHIEFEE
=i
3 The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were for their g EXFIRZBTEEHE TERSE
services in connection with the management of the affairs of the RARARAEBNEZBEEILAMIE
Company and the Group. HEIRTS ©
4 The independent non-executive directors’ emoluments shown . XA BLERITESTIE Y

REEEEARFESRZ R -

above were for their services as directors of the Company.

AEEEERER AR
2020 F 3§
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Year ended 31 December 2020 #(ZE 202012 31 HIEFE

=
wilk

10.

INFORMATION ABOUT THE BENEFITS OF DIRECTORS
(CONTINUED)

(@)

(c)

Directors’ remuneration (Continued)

Mr. Chan Tsan Lam is also the chief executive officer of the
Company and his emoluments disclosed above included
those for services rendered by him as the chief executive
officer.

During the years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019,
no emoluments were paid by the Group to any of these
Directors as an inducement to join or upon joining the
Group, or as a compensation for loss of office. There was
no arrangement under which a director waived or agreed to
waive any remuneration for the years ended 31 December
2020 and 2019.

Salaries and allowances are paid to executive directors for
service in connective with management of affairs of the
Company and the Group.

Director's fees are paid to independent non-executive
directors for services as directors of the Company.

Loans, quasi-loans and other dealings in favour of
directors

There were no other loans, quasi-loans or other dealings in
favour of the Directors or their controlled companies entered
into or subsisted during the years ended 31 December 2020
and 2019.

Directors’ material interests in transactions,
arrangements or contracts

Saved as disclosed in Note 32 to the consolidated financial
statements, no other transactions, arrangements and
contracts of significance in relation to the Group's business
to which the Company was a party and in which a director of
the Company, or an entity connected with the director, had a
material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at
the year or at any time during the years ended 31 December
2020 and 2019.

Discretionary bonus

Executive directors of the Company are entitled to bonus
payment which are discretionary determined and based on
Group's performance.

Tian Chang Group Holdings Ltd.
Annual Report 2020

10. AREERAHER @

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

EEFM e

REMELETRBSRNRBEFENT
B EREXHABEEZHEERER
HEEFERTE 2BE

B E 2020 K 2019%F12 A31 B 1E
FE AKBERERNTAZSES
S - ERRSIEE AN
AREBERF R R REE - &
Z2020%F K% 201912 A31 B IEF
B BEEEREXRERETR
SN2 BE

RARB RAREEBEE RS
MITEENFH SRR

REEARBEZTABIIFRNTE
EXNESFEE -

UEERZRAZER BEX
REMR S

HE2020F K2019F12 8318 1
FE BEURQDEZTXNFEED
PERABAZEAFLRTFEZH
HER - HERKEMZS -

EENRZ  RERENEFH
ERER

BRirEBHRERMINMABEES
IR % N/NCTY S il = P N/NE]
EENHEZESTEEHANERNE
PEEIEEREBEERAETBEHA
SEEXEFBEANEMRS - T
REXRBTFEEREE20200F &
2019412 A 31 H It F [Z & T {a] BF
FIEﬁ ﬁ rig °

BB TEAL

ARARATESARESHBET
RRBAREBRBHTELFR



11.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

An analysis of the five highest paid individuals during the years
ended 31 December 2020 and 2019 is as follows:

fm 5 Bil 15 $R 2} Bl aE

Year ended 31 December 2020 #ZE 2020 12 A 31 HILFE

1. AEsaFMAL

HE 2020 K% 2019412 A31 BIE4E
B EERSFHMALTOSTAT

Number of individuals

AE
2020 2019
2020 & 2019 4F
Director ) 3
Non-director FESR 2
5 3

Details of the remuneration of the above highest paid non-director
individuals are as follows:

L ERHFHEESALZHMFEN

T

2020 2019

2020 20194

HK$'000 HK$'000

F#ET FHET

Salaries and allowances e Moy 3,266 1,516

Discretionary bonus BETEAL 200 3,518
Contributions to defined TE R AL RRET B SR

contribution plans 36 140

Share-based payment expenses % 17 B & B AN 44 =

3,546 5174

The number of these non-director individuals whose emoluments
fell within the following emoluments band is as follows:

HMENF IS BENZFIFEEA

TAEIT ¢

2019
2019 4F

Nil to HK$1,000,000 Z % 1,000,000 77T - -
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 77T 2 1,500,000 87T - -
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 77T 2 2,000,000 87T 2 =
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 2,000,001 #JTE 2,500,000 78 7T = 1
HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000 2,500,001 7T E 3,000,000 87T = 1
2 2

During the years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019, no
remuneration was paid by the Group to any of these highest paid
non-director individuals as an inducement to join or upon joining
the Group, or as a compensation for loss of office. There was no
arrangement under which any of these highest paid non-director
individuals waived or has agreed to waive any emoluments for the
years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019.

HE2020F & 2019F 12 A31BLEEFE -
AEEBERTNZEESHMIEESA
TEAEH - EARSIEFMASIMATR
SESHEE B BAE - HE2020F

2019412 A

EREFHIFEZATIHRERRAETHESL

(AT B By Z2 B -

INHIEFE - BB ERZ

AEEEIERAR AT
2020 F 3§




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Year ended 31 December 2020 #(ZE 202012 31 HIEFE

12. TAXATION 12. RIA
2020 2019
2020 20194
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
B aE FET THT
Current tax UL TR
Hong Kong Profits Tax BEBNE
Current year KEE 4,658 5,091
Under provision in prior year BEFERBTE 1,256 29
PRC Enterprise Income Tax PR EFTISHE
Current year REE 11,389 37,667
Over provision in prior year BEFERBERE (4,962) (585)
12,341 42,202
Deferred tax ERERLIE
Changes in temporary differences TFEEEE) 863 (6,662)
Utilisation of tax losses recognised EHERIEEE 28 A 610 1,615
27 1,473 (5,047)
Total income tax expenses for the year ~ FRFTSHFH X 58 13,814 37,155

The Group's entities established in the Cayman Islands and the
British Virgin Islands (the "BVI") are exempted from income tax,
respectively.

For the years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019, the assessable
profits of a Hong Kong incorporated subsidiary of the Group
(as elected by the management of the Group) are subject to the
two-tiered profits tax rates regime that the first HK$2 million
of assessable profits will be taxed at 8.25% (the “graduated tax
rate”), and assessable profits above HK$2 million will be taxed
at 16.5% (the "standard tax rate”). The Hong Kong Profits Tax
of other Hong Kong incorporated subsidiaries of the Group is
calculated at the standard tax rate of 16.5% of their respective
estimated assessable profits for the years ended 31 December
2020 and 2019.

The Group's entities established in the PRC are subject to
Enterprise Income Tax of the PRC at a statutory rate of 25% for the
years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019.

Tian Chang Group Holdings Ltd.
Annual Report 2020

KESRBRABELHE((RBELH
CNEAEESS FEPT T ETT
8%t -

BHZE2020F K 2019F 12 A31 HILFE -
AREBREBEMAIAME AR (AASE
EERER L) WERBENBIRAEHM
BHIMT - B E 288 BT ERT R F
W82 %WE([RERE]) M2EEB
TCUA E R FE SR BE 812 16.5% B R ([ 12
EBR]) AEBEMNE S ML
WEBARINBAENERIIEEZ 2020 F K&
2019F 12 AN HIEFEEZSBHETER
TR FIE 16.5% AIZER R HE o

HE2020F K 2019F 12 A31 BILFE
AEBRF RN EIEAIE 25% KEE
RGPS -
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Year ended 31 December 2020 #ZE 2020 12 A 31 HILFE

The State Taxation Administration of the PRC announced in September 2018

that enterprises engaging in research and development activities would

be entitled to claim at maximum 175% of their research and development

expenses as Super Deduction. The directors of the Group consider the eligibility

of the PRC subsidiaries and recognise the additional tax deduction for the year

ended 31 December 2020.

12. TAXATION (CONTINUED) 12. MW\
Reconciliation of income tax expenses SR HER
2020 2019
2020 F 20194
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#ET T
Profit before tax PR AR 87,528 164,351
Income tax at applicable tax rate REABEFTERNEH 20,084 37,869
Effect on graduated tax rate ES RS0l (165) (165)
Non-deductible expenses AR B S 1,768 200
Additional deduction allowance for R BRE SN
research and development SRR (B EE)
expenditure (note) (3,800) -
Tax exempt revenue R A (337) (201)
Tax concession HWom R (20) -
Others Hi (10) 8
Over provision in prior year BAFEBERE (3,706) (556)
Income tax expenses for the year FRATEHBEX 13,814 37,155
The applicable tax rate is the weighted average of tax rates FARRIEAEENEEKEEMEDRIR
prevailing in the territories in which the Group's entities operate. ITHONNREF TR -
Note: Miat -

FEERHREEBR2018FIAEM - HEWEEF
BN EMIZEREEANGRS175% B B8RRI
B AEBMESCERTBRNBRARREREER
WHERHZE 202012 A31 B L EEREIINH B

B o

AREEEBRER AR

2020 F 3§
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Year ended 31 December 2020 #(ZE 202012 31 HIEFE

13. DIVIDENDS 13. lRRA

Final dividend in respect of 2019
of HK1.5 cents per ordinary share
(2018: HK3.0 cents)

Interim dividend in respect of 2020

of HK Nil per ordinary share (2079:

HK1.5 cents)

2019 FAREAE EZIREBR
1584002018 4F < 3.08M)

2020 FF R HARY B B A% T @ A%
TIETT(20194F < 1.5/81M)

Not recognised final dividend -
Final dividend declared after the
balance sheet date of HK1.5 cents
per ordinary share (2079: HK1.5
cents) (Note)

RIERRARERE —NEE
BERAPERERANRARKRE
FRREBR1.5BMC2019F -
1.58M) (H5%)

2020 2019
2020 & 2019 4F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FBT T
9,300 18,600

= 9,300

9,300 27,900
9,300 9,300

Note:

At a meeting held on 30 March 2021, the Directors recommended

the payment of a final dividend of HK1.5 cents (2079: HK1.5 cents)
per ordinary share totalling approximately HK$9,300,000 (2079:
HK$9,300,000) for the year ended 31 December 2020. The proposed
dividend for the year ended 31 December 2020 will be accounted

for as an appropriation of reserves in the year ending 31 December

2021 if it is approved at the forthcoming annual general meeting.
The proposed final dividend has not been recognised as dividend
payables in the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31

December 2020.

Wiz -

2021 F3A30RRITHNERL  EF&
FHRMNEE2020FE12 A3 AIEEENR
HlR B FRERBI5BNM2019F - 1.5
M) - 485 #99,300,00078 JT(20194F -
9,300,000/8C) - N EERRBFRE
RS B E2020F12A3BIHEEE
MEFBREBREZ20219F1283181E
FENADEFEENA R - BERHR
B AR 2020512 A 31 BN A BBk
MERERBEMBEE -

Tian Chang Group Holdings Ltd.
Annual Report 2020




14.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

EARNINGS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per share
attributable to equity holders of the Company is based on the
following data:

fm 5 Bil 15 $R 2} Bl aE

Year ended 31 December 2020 #ZE 2020 12 A 31 HILFE

miRET

ARBESFHAARGEREA R ESR
MTRAT BIBFTE

2020 2019
2020 F 2019 F
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#&T FET
Earnings for the purpose of calculating — FtatE A AK R #E R F
basic and diluted earnings per share: B -
Profit for the year attributable to RN E A A
equity holders of the Company F R 73,714 127,196
‘000 ‘000
T B Fh
Number of shares: R17EE -
Weighted average number of METEFRERRBFIE
ordinary shares for the purpose T3 IR N T B
of calculating basic earnings per share 620,000 620,000
Effect of dilutive potential ordinary shares:/&7E 8 T @AY & -
- Share options of the Company — RN AR 396 S
Weighted average number of METE TR ERFIN
ordinary shares for the purpose of AR INIE T
calculating diluted earnings per share 620,396 620,000
Basic earnings per share (HK cents) FRRERZF GEW) 11.89 20.52
Diluted earnings per share (HK cents) FRREEERF CB) 11.88 20.52

For the year ended 31 December 2020, diluted earnings per
share is calculated by adjusting the weighted average number of
ordinary shares outstanding by the assumption of the conversion
of all potential dilutive shares arising from the vested share
options granted by the Company. The computation of diluted
earnings per share does not assume the exercise of the unvested
share options granted by the Company because the adjusted
exercise price of those share options was higher than the average
market price of the Company's shares.

For the year ended 31 December 2019, diluted earnings per share
is the same as basic earnings per share as there were no potential
ordinary shares outstanding during the year.

HE2020F12 A3 HILFE - E#EE
BRI TEARARRENE BEBIRERE
ST BEEERMERNBRIAED
BITLBRNINETHEEE - ARAR
ARENARFEBBRENCHAETEES
RARBRMDOFEHTE - WGTESRE
SERAFNFITNMEERARFREN RGBS
P%HE B ETT{E o

HE2019F12A31BIEFE > ARt E
BTEINNBELZBR  WEREEET
HEREABFMER -

AEEEERER AR
2020 F 3§




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Year ended 31 December 2020 #(ZE 202012 31 HIEFE

15. SUBSIDIARIES 15. HEA T

Details of the subsidiaries at the end of the reporting period are as

RIS ERHM B R RFEBAT

follows:
Place of Dateof  Particulars of paid Attributable equity
incorporation/ incorporation/ up capital/  interest held by the Company
establishment establishment  registered capital RRTRAHEG RS Principal activities/
Name of subsidiary HMAL/ HMAL/ BRER/ 2020 2019 place of operation
MEARER Rt R AH EMERFE 2020% W019F  TEER/LEnY
Directly held by the Company
ARAEERE
Tian Chang Investments Limited The BV 20 April 2017 United States 100% 100%  Investment holding/
Dollar ("'US$) Hong Kong
Tian Chang Investments HBRUEE  2017F4A208 (E(E T ) 100% 00% REER/EE
Limited
Sun Leader Holdings Limited The BVI 20 April 2017 US$1 100% 100%  Investment holding/
Hong Kong
Sun Leader Holdings Limited LBRXEE  2017FLANA 17 100% 100% RERR/EE
Indirectly held by the Company
AR AFERE
Tian Chang Holdings Limited Hong Kong 16 May 2006 HK$10,000 100% 100%  Investment holding/
Hong Kong
ARBRERAA B%  2006F5R16R 100007 100% 00% RERR/BE
Tian Chang Industrial Limited Hong Kong 13 June 2006 HK$10,000 100% 100%  Sales of e-cigarettes
products and
providing integrated
plastic solutions/
Hong Kong
AREZERAA F%  2006F6A13A 10,0007 100% 100% HESFREMRRH—#
it /fﬁﬁ#/ﬁ%ﬁ?&/ﬁ/ﬁ
AREE (RY) EBATF The PRCI 26 September 2006 HK$100,000,000 100% 100%  Manufacturing and sales of
Tian Chang Industrial e-cigarettes products and
(Shenzhen) Limited* providing integrated
plastics solutions/The PRC
AREZ(RY)BRAT REM 2006698268 100,000,000 100% 100% BERHEETEEMR

Tian Chang Group Holdings Ltd.

Annual Report 2020
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Year ended 31 December 2020 #ZE 2020 12 A 31 HILFE

SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED) 15. MEBQF @
Place of Dateof Particulars of paid Attributable equity
incorporation/ incorporation/ up capital/  interest held by the Company
establishment establishment  registered capital RRABANEEER Principal activities/
Name of subsidiary Rilove HMERL/ HrEx/ 2020 2019 place of operation
HEAREE R A EMERGFE 2020% 019F  TEER/GEny
ENTMAREZERAR The PRCIi 22 March 2011 RMB50,000,000 100% 100%  Manufacturing and sales of
Huizhou Tian Chang Industrial e-cigarettes products,
Company Limited* medical consumable
products and providing
integrated plastic
solutions/The PRC
BENTAREZARAT BE 2011F3A208 ARKE50,000,0007T 100% 100% HRERHESTEER
BRRRmRRM R
TRRRAR/HE
Sun Leader Mould Industrial Hong Kong 27 September 2000 HK$1,000,000 100% 100%  Providing integrated plastic
Limited solutions/Hong Kong
HMERABEXERAA &%  200089A27R 1,000,007 100% 100% RE-BOIEERFR/
i
FHREEA(RINBRAR The PRCil 17 June 2011 HK$56,000,000 100% 100%  Providing integrated plastic
Sun Leader Mould Industrial solutions/The PRC
(Shenzhen) Limited*
HMERA(RINARAR mEM 2011F6A17H 56,000,000 100% 100%  RE-BIOIERIFE/
e
SHEEAEE(EN)ERAR The PRC 27 June 2011 HK$80,000,000 100% 100%  Providing integrated plastic
Sun Leader Mould Industrial solutions/The PRC
(Huizhou) Limited*
HMERAER(EM)BRAH mEM 20119F6A27H 80,000,000 100% 100% RE-BIERIAE/
el
Tian Hong New Materials Hong Kong 10 October 2019 HK$10,000 100% 100%  Sales of medical consumable
Technology Limited products and polyester
fibre ("PET") products/
Hong Kong
REMMERRARAR &%  2019%108108 10,0007 100% 100% h BRRREN LR RESS
([PET)ER/B%
REFHRRE (BN ERAR The PRCY 4 December 2019 HK$5,000,000 100% 100%  Sales of PET products/
Tian Hao New Materials The PRC
Technology Limited*
REFHEBR (M) BRAA ME 2019F 1284 5,000,000 7T 100% 100% SHEPETER/HE
* English translation for identification purposes only.
U Being a wholly foreign owned enterprise. U BRINIBERE -
i Being a wholly owned enterprise in the PRC. & R—EKRPENZEDRE -
i Limited liability company registered in the PRC. (i RAPEFMOERETAA

AEEEERBER
zozoﬁfﬁiﬁ
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fm 5 Bil ¥ ¥ 2% Bl 51

Year ended 31 December 2020 #(ZE 202012 31 HIEFE

16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (cONTINUED) 16. ¥% - BERRKRE@®
The above items of property, plant and equipment, except for L BERZEERB(EEIREZR
construction in progress, after taking into account the residual SMTEET R FIeREER - REGFTAIER
values, are depreciated over their estimated useful lives as set out FHPTEH AT ¢
below:
Right-of-use assets Shorter of useful lives or over the unexpired term of lease
EREEE RIS A B R SR B BRI E HARR
Buildings 50 years or over the lease term, as appropriate
g5 50 F sk A LM E R (RIBERME)
Leasehold improvements 20 years or over the lease term, as appropriate
HEMEEE 206 A W EHAR (RIS ME)
Furniture and fixtures 5years
BMEEERE 5%
Machinery and equipment 5-10years
MR N 2R 5E104F
Motor vehicles 3 years
AE 3F
Computer 5-10years
B 5EI106F
17. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FVPL 17. BAREFABENERMERE
2020 2019
2020 20204
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B EE FET FHET
At fair value BRARE
Non-current: FEME
Unlisted investments - key management 3F FHiRE - T EEEE
insurance contracts REEL 17(a) 29,586 28,419
Current; R -
Derivatives not designated as hedging ~ R¥§E A% h T EMSTA
instruments — CCS TR -RXXEEEEH 17(b) - =

29,586 28,419

Tian Chang Group Holdings Ltd.
Annual Report 2020




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fm 5 Bil 15 $R 2} Bl aE

Year ended 31 December 2020 #ZE 2020 12 A 31 HILFE

17. MAAREBEFABENERMEE @)
170 I EHTRE-—FTEEEHERRERS

17. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FVPL (CONTINUED)

17(a) Unlisted investments — key management insurance

17(b)

contracts

The value of the key management insurance contracts is
determined by reference to the respective surrender cash
value of each insurance contract at the end of the reporting
period, which is primarily based on the performance of the
underlying investment portfolio together with the guaranteed
minimum returns, ranging from 2% to 3.9% per annum
(2019: ranging from 2% to 3.9% per annum).

The movement of the key management insurance contracts
is analysed as follows:

)

FEEREBRBRAENVNAALELZ
EZREHRZREBEHNMBRBERR
HeEET DEEERMBBKRE
HENRIRURRBHIEEREE
BFBENF 2% E3.9% 2B (20194F :
FFNF2%F39%2ME) °

FEERBERBREONESHFN
T

2019
2019 F
HK$'000
FABT
At the beginning of REREEY

the reporting period 28,419 26,841
Additions NE 732 731

Fair value changes recognised in AR KA LB EE)
profit or loss 435 847
At the end of the reporting period ¥R Bk 29,586 28,419

The key management insurance contracts are pledged
as collateral for the Group's interest-bearing borrowings
amounting to approximately, in aggregate, HK$15,848,000
(2019: HK$31,070,000).

Derivatives not designated as hedging instruments —
CCs

These derivatives represent a US$/Euro ("EUR") forward
contract and two US$/RMB forward contracts entered with
a bank during the year for the exchange of US$ with EUR
and RMB in aggregate notional amount of US$3,192,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$24,805,000), which expired
on 31 August 2020, 30 September 2020 and 4 December
2020. The objective of these derivatives entered into by the
Group is to mitigate the currency exposures arising from
capital expenditure and operation funding. The derivatives
are not qualified for hedge accounting and the corresponding
changes in fair values have been recognised in profit or
loss. The US$/EUR forward contract and the two US$/RMB
forward contracts have been settled between the Group and
the bank on the trade date net basis at 31 August 2020, 30
September 2020 and 29 October 2020 respectively. During
the year ended 31 December 2020, gain on change in fair
value of the CCS in an aggregate amount of approximately
HK$1,196,000 (2079: Nil) was credited to profit or loss.

FTEEHEEBRBRANEAELR
ERBAEES £4915848,0007 T
(20194 : 31,070,000 7T ) K 51 B
BRMERR -

17(b) RIEEBE DT TENSTETLR -

RXERE=H

ZETETREA—mERL /Bt
T ERBEGORMNNERERITET
MHZELARBERBAESH  BRE
ETHMITEARY BRESHA
3,192,000 % 7T (A8 & 1 %Y 24,805,000
Bt ) B 20208688318 -
2020 9 A30H &2020%F 12 A4H
E|Hf - AKEFT U ZSEITETAEMNE
MAERBERNAST MEEECES
MEBERR - ZZTETAETKHEY
SREETRER  MARENHEEES
ERBEFER - %EL/ BUTES
BHRMGBEL, AREKRPEEHE
7 B 7202098 A31H ~ 20209
B 308 K&20205FE10 298 A A&
EEBTESSHFAELE - H
Z20200F12A3MBEEE & X
BEEHNAABEEZHRZAED
1,196,000 7T(2019F - E)B 5t A

1B o
AEEEERER AR
2020 F 3§




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fm 5 Bil ¥ ¥ 2% Bl 51

Year ended 31 December 2020 #(ZE 202012 31 HIEFE

18. FINANCE LEASE RECEIVABLES 18. EREERERE
The finance lease receivables are set out below: Rl R E A E RIS ¢

Present value of

Minimum lease payments minimum lease payments
BEHEENR BEHEENHRE
2020 2019 2020 2019
2020 & 2019 5 2020 FF 2019 &
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT FHT FET T
Finance lease receivables FEN R B T E FRIR
comprise: BIE
Within one year —FR 2,730 - 2,425 =
In the second year B _F 2,730 = 2,425 =
In the third year F=F 1,820 - 1,617 =
Gross investment in the lease ~ TAER E/EEE 7,280 = 6,467 =
Less: unearned finance income & @ RBREVEA TS UL A (813) - = =
Present value of minimum lease JEWRIEHEE
payment receivables NERE 6,467 = 6,467 =
Analysed as: DR
Current mE 2,425 = 2,425 =
Non-current FERED 4,042 - 4,042 -
6,467 - 6,467 -
Interest rates implicit in the above finance lease is 4.03% per LM ERAENR SN KRBT FL03%
annum (2079 Nil). Finance lease receivables are denominated in (2019 - #E) - EN R ERERIBEAETT
uss. FIlfE -
During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group entered HE20200812A3BIEFE A%
into a lease agreement with a third party whereas the Group ME=FIVHERR  REZDELISE
leased out its machineries with carrying values amounted to B LA EREE L A 7,344,000 7 7T A #
approximately HK$7,344,000 for a term of three years. The sum of W FHEA=F - HENREHAETES
lease payments is fixed and approximates the carrying values of HHMESEEREEMRS °

the leased assets.

19. INVENTORIES 19. &E
2020 2019
2020 & 2019 4F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FE T T
Raw materials R 44,203 27,865
Work-in-progress R 19,047 22,236

Finished goods X o 35,937 33,781

99,187 83,882

Tian Chang Group Holdings Ltd.
Annual Report 2020




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fm 5 Bil 15 $R 2} Bl aE

Year ended 31 December 2020 #ZE 2020 12 A 31 HILFE

20. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 20. ES R EMEWFIE

2020 2019
2020 F 2019 4F
Notes HK$°'000 HK$'000
h=s F#&xT T
Trade receivables B S EWRIE
From third parties EWE=7 20(a) 151,227 125,345
Loss allowance EsiaRE 34(b) (5,893) (4,568)
20(b) 145,334 120,777
Bills receivables EEE 20(c) 2,502 2,655
Other receivables HibEWRKIE
Deposits i 146 181
Prepayment for insurance RBE TR FRIA 3,058 3,150
Prepayment for utilities KEBIENFIA 7,666 5,354
Other receivables H At JERIE 1,954 1,349
Value-added tax receivables JE WIS E 7N 26,907 18,247
Prepaid expenses and other deposits AR RE MRS 1,261 1,442
40,992 29,723
188,828 153,155

20(a) Trade receivables from third parties

The Group grants credit period up to 90 days to its
customers upon the issuance of invoices.

20(b) The aging of trade receivables, net of loss allowance,

by invoice date is as follows:

20() RESE=FNEZEBYKE

AEBNHAZER

rEETPEH

&m0 HEEEH -

200b) RBERAHE S NE S BWKIER
(IBREEEE) NIRRT :

2020 2019
2020 £ 2019 4F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FiET

Within 30 days 308A 119,363 64,603
31 to 60 days 31260 H 10,063 47,555
61 to 90 days 61290 H 7,379 4,578
91 to 180 days 91Z= 180 H 8,330 2,600
Over 180 days 180 HIA E 199 1,441
145,334 120,777

AREEEBRER AR

2020 F 3§




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fm 5 Bil ¥ ¥ 2% Bl 51

Year ended 31 December 2020 #(ZE 202012 31 HIEFE

20. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (CoNTINUED) 20. EF R EMEWFEIE @)

20(b) BZAHE D WE Z BWFE
(MNBREIRBRE) NARE T ¢

(=D)
\ng)

20(b) The aging of trade receivables, net of loss allowance,
by invoice date is as follows: (Continued)

RI|ERR - B SR IE(E R
trade receivables, net of loss allowance, by due date is as BEEBE )LD HHE Z R DT
follows: T

At the end of the reporting period, the aging analysis of the

20(c)

2020 2019

2020 F 2019 &

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FHT

Not yet due i#) A< 2 HR 102,209 45,253
Past due: EEIE :

Within 30 days 308A 27,153 66,989

31 to 60 days 31E60H 9,652 5,855

61 to 90 days 61ZE90H 6,126 962

91 to 180 days 91Z= 180 H 2 288

Over 180 days 180 HIMA E 192 1,430

43,125 75,524

145,334 120,777

For balances past due over 90 days, the Group has
reasonable information to support the amounts are fully
recovered.

Details of impairment assessment of trade and other
receivables are set out in Note 34(b) to the consolidated
financial statements.

At 31 December 2020, amount of approximately
HK$2,680,000 (2079: HK$4,234,000) included in the trade
receivables were in connection with factoring arrangements.

Bills receivables

The bills receivables are interest-free, guaranteed by banks
in the PRC and have maturities of less than six months.

Tian Chang Group Holdings Ltd.
Annual Report 2020
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fm 5 Bil 15 $R 2} Bl aE

Year ended 31 December 2020 #ZE 2020 12 A 31 HILFE

21. BANK BALANCES AND CASH 21. BITERRRE
The carrying amounts of bank and cash balances are denominated RTINS HRENRA SR TS EER
in the following currencies: B :

2020 2019
2020 2019 4F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT T
HK$ BT 17,000 16,201
us$ = 75,957 37,850
RMB AR #E 24,009 31,516
116,966 85,567
22. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 22. ESRHMENSRKIE
2020 2019
2020 £ 20194
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B 5T FHxT FHET
Trade payables B S ENARE
To third parties ENE=7 22(a) 130,062 118,323
Other payables HiEMARKIE
Contract liabilities e ON=ki 22(b) 7,602 10,767
Salaries and bonus payable eI Fr & RIEAL 39,765 54,279
Accruals and other creditors Bt &R R EMEMRR 24,873 27,662
72,240 92,708
202,302 211,031

AEEEIERAR AT
2020 F 3§




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fm 5 Bil ¥ ¥ 2% Bl 51

Year ended 31 December 2020 #(ZE 202012 31 HIEFE

22. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (conTINUED)
22(a) Trade payables

22. BEERHMENRE®
22(a) EZEMAREA

RBEHR  REZAHIINE
S RENFIRNREDITT -

At the end of the reporting period, the aging analysis of the
trade payables based on invoice date is as follows:

2020 2019

2020 & 2019 4F

HK$°'000 HK$'000

FET FET

Within 30 days 30BN 65,611 37,761
31 to 60 days 31E60H 51,851 47,219
61 to 90 days 61290 H 6,652 24924
Over 90 days 90 B E 5,948 8,419
130,062 118,323

The credit period on trade payables is up to 90 days.

22(b) Contract liabilities

The movements (excluding those arising from increases and

decreases both occurred within the same year) of contract

liabilities with customers within HKFRS 15 during the year

are as follows:

B RENRIBREERTEB0H -

20) EHEE

FARNBEAMBRELERE 1655
MEFENABES(TERERFR
IR A FTE AR Z BT -

2020 2019

2020 F 2019 F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FAT

At the beginning of R E BT 10,767 7,203
the reporting period

Recognised as revenue R A= (10,767) (7,203)

Receipt in advance FEU FRIE 7,602 10,767

At the end of the reporting period ~ FA¥RE iR 7,602 10,767

Tian Chang Group Holdings Ltd.
Annual Report 2020
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PAYABLES FOR CONSTRUCTION IN PROGRESS

fm 5 Bil 15 $R 2} Bl aE

Year ended 31 December 2020 #ZE 2020 12 A 31 HILFE

23. EFRERIRERE

2020 2019

2020 2019 4F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FHET

Current portion MMENER 24,609 35,642
Non-current portion JEmBIE 1,992 12,280
26,601 47,922

Payables for construction in progress represent the amounts
payable to the constructors in respect of the construction of the
production plants located in the PRC which the payment terms
are unsecured, interest-free and repayable contracted from
one to four years since its inception. At 31 December 2020, the
balance included an amount payable to a constructor of which
the repayment term was over twelve months from the end of the
reporting period. The present value of the account payable to the
constructor was discounted at effective interest rate of 4.75% at
31 December 2020 (2079: 4.75%). The imputed interest balance in
relation to the amount payable to the constructor was HK$330,000
as at 31 December 2020 (2079: HK$1,014,000).

FEAFE 2 TR2 BIASE B o B iR e L& R

FERMIE T A BBFRIR - ST RS &K
A 2ERBEHERR —ENFRNEE

A # e 2020128318 825 BE
E—2EERMORE EEEHER
SHIKEBB+ @A - ®2020F12 A
A ENEEEERNBRERERF
R 475% (20194 © 4.75%) =t 1B o 72020
F12A31H EHENEEFRIEDN
FE 5t | B4 £4 5 330,000 7T(20719 4 -
1,014,000%T) o

INTEREST-BEARING BORROWINGS 24. RHRER
2020 2019
2020 2019 4
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#ET BT
Secured bank borrowings: BEPRITIER 229,998 119,630
The carrying amounts of the W B BRERKEEER
secured bank borrowings that ZBEEBRITEREEE
do not contain a repayable on AR R EEE
demand clause are repayable:
Within one year —FR 18,910 6,064
In the second year F_4F 17,324 6,289
In the third to fifth year F=FENF 19,415 8,228
55,649 20,581
The carrying amounts of the BB ERERERESRZ
secured bank borrowings that BEMIBITIERIREAE
contain a repayable on demand (RREBa’EIIR )
clause (shown under current AIET YR EE
liabilities) but repayable:
Within one year —F R 145,596 80,086
In the second year E_F 10,253 7,597
In the third to fifth year E-FERF 18,500 11,366
174,349 99,049
229,998 119,630
Less: Amounts due within one year B RRBIAEYIRZ
shown under current liabilities —FRNE S5 (193,259) (105,113)
Amounts shown under non-current RIERBBEIN R &5
liabilities 36,739 14,517

AEEEERBER
zozoﬁfﬁﬁi
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24,

25,

INTEREST-BEARING BORROWINGS (CONTINUED)

The secured bank borrowings from banks are repayable within
seven years since its inception. At 31 December 2020, the secured
bank borrowings carried weighted average effective interest rate
of approximately 3.34% (2019: 4.13%) per annum.

At 31 December 2020, the Interest-bearing borrowings are
secured by:

(i) buildings and certain right-of-use assets in respect of
the prepaid land lease payments with aggregate net
carrying amount of approximately HK$277,297,000 (2079:
HK$196,310,000),

(i) certain machinery and equipment with aggregate net
carrying amount of approximately HK$67,337,000 (2079:
HK$23,739,000);

(i)  key management insurance contracts with fair value of

approximately HK$29,586,000 (2079: HK$28,419,000), as set

out in Note 17 to the consolidated financial statements;

(iv)  trade receivables in connection with factoring arrangement

of approximately HK$2,680,000 (2079: HK$4,234,000), as set

out in Note 20(b) to the consolidated financial statements;
and

(v)  corporate guarantees issued by the Company.

DEFERRED INCOME

At 31 December 2020, the Group recognised deferred income
on government grants of HK$10,286,000 (2079 HK$565,000)
which are used for acquisitions of property, plant and equipment.
These grants are to be realised to income in profit or loss over
the useful lives of the related assets. Included in the deferred
income on government grants, HK$9,222,000 (2079: HK$507,000)
represented the income that is expected to be realised to profit or
loss over 12 months subsequent to the end of the reporting period
and therefore is presented under non-current liabilities.

Tian Chang Group Holdings Ltd.
Annual Report 2020
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RER@®

RERTHBEEAERESFABRTEF
NEE - 12020612 A 31 H » BiR#HE
SIZINEFHERFE RN EL3.34% (2019
F413%)5T 8 o

M2020FE12 8318
FIHR -

FAEERTVANRT

(i) BREEFIESE £49277,297,0007% T
(20194 : 196,310,000% 7T ) KIIEF
MEBEMN LB ERENE TE
REAE

(i) BREELTES H£467,337,000%8 T
(20194 : 23,739,000% 7T ) ¥ & T
NG

N B #729,586,0007 JT(20194F -
2841900087 )MEBEEABRR
B X (4R A TSRE M FE 17 B

(iii)

#92,680,000 % JT(20194F : 4,234,000
BIL)BEREBREEBENE 5B
SRIB (IR & B 7 4 2% BT 52 20(b) FT
) R

(iv)

(v) ARABHEWRRER -

i BE Uy 22
MN20206 128318 KEBERRBRM
7 BE YR JE UL 25 510,286,000 7T(20719
4F 1 565,000/8C)  ARWEME - BF
B o AN RREE ER T A
FHIRNEIE BIBE o REUTHE B RZER
= 9,222,000 JT(20194F : 507,000
BT )IEERTENHREHREZ 12@ARN
B ABEMNRA - AtRIEREEEF

E2 K



26. LEASE LIABILITIES

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fm 5 Bil 15 $R 2} Bl aE

Year ended 31 December 2020 #ZE 2020 12 A 31 HILFE

26. HEA®

Prepaid Machinery
land lease and Leased
payments equipment properties Total
AL
HERE #HRRLE HEWME st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHIT FET TF# T THT
Right-of-use assets FREEE(SEWE -
(included in the property, MERRE)(HiF16)
plant and equipment)
(Note 16)
Reconciliation of carrying REEZHER-8Z
amount - year ended 2019%12H31H
31 December 2019 HEE
At the beginning of the RIS HY] — RERMA
reporting period — upon BB SRS %R
adoption of HKFRS 16 F1651% 44,996 95,011 - 140,007
Additions NE = S 3,905 3,905
Transfers ik - (13,517) - (13,517)
Depreciation E (1,041) (8,563) (774) (10,378)
Exchange differences PE N ZERR (1,115) (2,010) (29) (3,154)
At the end of the reporting RIS AR
period 42,840 70,921 3,102 116,863
Reconciliation of carrying REEZHER-8Z
amount - year ended 2020128 31H
31 December 2020 LFE
At the beginning of REREHA
the reporting period 42,840 70,921 3,102 116,863
Additions NE - - 1,762 1,762
Transfers (16 - (9,599) - (9,599)
Depreciation e (1,029) (7,564) (1,662) (10,255)
Modifications (E2 - - (1,159) (1,159)
Exchange differences PE N ZRR 2,467 3,269 10 5,746
At the end of the reporting R EHR
period 44,278 57,027 2,053 103,358
At 31 December 2020 7202056128311
Cost DN 54,136 70,851 3,672 128,659
Accumulated depreciation 2itine (9,858) (13,824) (1,619) (25,301)
44,278 57,027 2,053 103,358
At 31 December 2019 R2019F12A31H
Cost PR 51,128 82,144 3,871 137,143
Accumulated depreciation Rt E (8,288) (11,223) (769) (20,280)
42,840 70,921 3,102 116,863

AEEEIERAR AT
2020 F 3§




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Year ended 31 December 2020 #(ZE 202012 31 HIEFE

26. LEASE LIABILITIES (cONTINUED) 26.

The Group leases various lands, machinery and equipment and
properties for its daily operations with initial lease terms range
from 2 to 50 years (2079 ranging from 2 to 50 years). The Group
has obtained all the land use right certificates for all the leasehold
lands.

HEAE®

AEEGHEAFSEERASL TR - #iR
REHEARYE  VBHEEN T 255045
ZM(2019F : N F2E50F2ZR) > A
EEDERMARE L2 A TibfE A

HEE -

2020 2019
2020 2019 &
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Lease payments: HEMK

Short-term leases of properties REETRRAZEEMERE
recognised in profit or loss 49 90
Total cash outflow for leases HERSTHRAE 20,313 25,283

At 31 December 2020, the weighted average discount rate applied
on the calculation of present value of lease liabilities was 2.82%
per annum (2019: 3.70%).

MR2020F12B831H stEHEARGR
EFEANNETFHRIBE R AT F282%
(20194 : 3.70%) °

Lease payments

HEM

Present value of
lease payments

HENRNERE

2020 2019 2020 2019
2020 F 2019 4 2020 F 2019 &
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHBxT FHEIT F#&xT T
Amounts payable: FERI IR -
Within one year —FLAR 17,280 20,173 16,891 18,625
After 1 year but 1FBE2FR
within 2 years 10,503 18,074 10,402 17,252
After 2 years but 2FBESFA
within 5 years 133 10,379 132 10,161
27,916 48,626 27,425 46,038
Less: future finance charges Al @ RAKEER X (491) (2,588) - -
Total lease liabilities HEaGRERE 27,425 46,038 27,425 46,038

The Group uses the lessee's incremental borrowing rates to
discount future lease payments since interest rates implicit in the
leases are not readily determinable. In determining the discounts
rates for its leases, the Group refers to a rate that is readily
observable as the starting point and then applies judgement
and adjusts such observable rate to determine the incremental
borrowing rate.

Tian Chang Group Holdings Ltd.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Year ended 31 December 2020 #ZE 2020 12 A 31 HILFE

27. DEFERRED TAXATION 27. BERIEA

2020 2019
2020 F 2019 &
HK$'000 HK$'000
F&T FHIT
Deferred tax assets BT IR E B 1,256 1,238
Deferred tax liabilities BB IERE (10,461) (8,515)
Net deferred tax position RIS I FREAR (9,205) (7,277)

The movements in the Group's net position of deferred tax are as REBIREHIEFEANOES AT ¢

follows:

Timing

differences on

income and

expenses

(including

depreciation)

Tax losses recognised

EREWA

EHBA R 1Y

BFEEHE
BLIE g8 (BfEHE) st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET F#ET FHET
At 1 January 2019 R2019%F1H1H 7,933 (20,682) (12,749)
Income tax (expenses) credit Frigai (B )R (1,615) 6,662 5,047
Exchange difference PEH =58 (161) 586 425
At 31 December 2019 2019612 H31 H 6,157 (13,434) (7,277)
Offsetting Eiig i (4,919) 4,919 =
Deferred tax assets (liabilities)  ELEFHBEE(BE) 1,238 (8,515) (7,277)
At 1 January 2020 7202061 H1H 6,157 (13,434) (7,277)
Income tax expenses FriSfim s (610) (863) (1,473)
Exchange difference PEH =58 318 (773) (455)
At 31 December 2020 72020612 A31H 5,865 (15,070) (9,205)
Offsetting 35 (4,609) 4,609 =
Deferred tax assets (liabilities) EEFBEE(AME) 1,256 (10,461) (9,205)

AEEEIERAR AT
2020 F 3§




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fm 5 Bil ¥ ¥ 2% Bl 51

Year ended 31 December 2020 #(ZE 202012 31 HIEFE

27. DEFERRED TAXATION (cONTINUED)

The tax losses reflected in above deferred tax assets arising at
the end of the reporting period which can be offset against future
taxable profits of the respective subsidiaries will expire as follows:

27. BRERIE o)
FHGREFRIBE ERENR S HREER
B HE A AT S B B R B R AR R AR A e AR
SHATTEEE S LAT B ERSIER ¢

2020 2019
2020 2018 4F
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#&xT FHT

Year of expiry B HAF 17
2021 2021 4 1,912 2,337
2022 20224 3,335 3,149
2023 20234 16,642 18,680
2024 2024 F 491 L6l
2025 2025 F 115 =
22,495 24,630
No expiry mIEH 1,464 =
23,959 24,630

The estimated withholding tax effects on the distribution of
accumulated profits were approximately HK$28,825,000 (2079
HK$24,289,000) which would become payable when they are
distributed. In the opinion of the Directors, these accumulated
profits, at the present time, are required for financing the
continuing operations of these entities and no distribution would
be made in the foreseeable future. Accordingly, no provisions for
additional deferred taxation have been made.

AERBFEFOGHHENBHEETEDNA
28,825,000 TT(2019 4 © 24,289,000/87T) -
REDREES - EFRE - BAIZSF R
BB ZSEENFECERR WA
BASRAED R » At - WV FBINET
TLf o

28. SHARE CAPITAL 28. B F
2020 2019
2020 20194
No. of No. of
shares shares
vk 4= Iz 8B
‘000 HK$'000 ‘000 HK$'000
T B F#ET Fh FHET
Authorised: VERE ¢
Ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each & E{E 0.1 /BT EEA%
At the beginning and end RS A9 & EIR
of the reporting period 2,000,000 200,000 2,000,000 200,000
Issued and fully paid: BEETRER -
Ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each B EE 0.1 B LA Z B
At the beginning and end IR E R R B R
of the reporting period 620,000 62,000 620,000 62,000

Tian Chang Group Holdings Ltd.
Annual Report 2020




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

29. RESERVES

29(a)

29(b)

29(c)

29(d)

29(e)

Share premium

Share premium represents the excess of the net proceeds
from issuance of the Company's shares over its par value.
Under the laws of the Cayman Islands and the Company's
Articles of Association, it is distributable to the Company's
shareholders provided that the Company is able to pay its
debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of business.

Capital reserve

The capital reserve represents the waiver of the amount
due from the Group granted by the controlling shareholder
in prior years and the aggregate amount of the nominal
value of the issued/registered capital of the entities now
comprising the Group less consideration paid to acquire the
relevant interests (if any).

Statutory reserve

As stipulated by the relevant laws and regulations for
enterprises incorporated/established in the PRC, the Group's
subsidiaries in the PRC are required to maintain certain
statutory reserves. The statutory reserve can be used to
make up for losses, expand the existing operation and
convert to additional capital.

Translation reserve

The translation reserve comprises all foreign exchange
differences arising from the translation of foreign operations
for consolidation.

Share option reserve

Share option reserve represents the fair value of share
options granted to employees and non-employees and is
dealt with the accounting policy as set out in Note 3.2 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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29. GEfW
29(a) R 10 5B

BSERETARTABRNESR L
ISR FRBAEEECERE -
REREFEEDIEAARERE
RAR ZFEEANKTARE
BRIR - AIIRAARARIABRNXN
AREXREET R REN 2 E -

29(b) Bt

BARBEREEFEHRERER
AEROMERARERIAR L &
REERAEE 2 ERBNE BT/
o fifh A 7S A B T AR R0 U P AR A
SsHREMER) -

29(c) EERE
RIE R A R AR E R PR R MK
NN ZEERRE S AEER
FEMMBRRARES TATER
B rATRHRETARBEER B
RIEBEKLE RECRBREINEA -

29(d) R E R

BRERBREEREHRBRERINEE
FRELEMMAINEESE -

29(e) BB ERE
BERERGBEETRERIEREN
BERENAE  WiRGEEHB®R
KU 32 FTEM ST BUREE -
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Year ended 31 December 2020 #(ZE 202012 31 HIEFE

30. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES

The Company has adopted a share option scheme (the “Option

Scheme”) pursuant to a resolution passed on 28 May 2019. The
major terms of the Option Scheme are summarised as follows:

(a)

The purpose of the Option Scheme is to provide an incentive
for eligible participants to work with commitment towards
enhancing the value of the Company and the shares for the
benefit of the shareholders of the Company to retain and
attract persons whose contribution are or may be beneficial
to the growth and development of the Group.

The eligible participants of the Option Scheme include: (a)
any executive director, or employee (whether full time or part
time) of the Group or any entity in which the Group holding
any equity interest (“Invested Entity"); (b) any non-executive
director (including independent non-executive directors) of
the Group or any Invested Entity; and (c) any non-employees
(including but not limited to supplier, customer, consultant,
adviser, contractor, business partner or service provider of
the Group or any Invested Entity) in the absolute discretion
of the board of directors in the determination of who has
contributed or will contribute to the Group.

The maximum number of shares which may be allotted
and issued upon exercise of all outstanding share options
granted and yet to be exercised under the Option Scheme
and any other share option scheme of the Group shall not
exceed 30% of the issued share capital of the Company from
time to time.

The total number of shares which may be allotted and issued
upon exercise of all share options to be granted under the
Option Scheme and any other share option scheme of the
Group must not in aggregate exceed 10% of the total number
of shares in issue as at the date of adoption of the Option
Scheme.

The total number of shares issued and which may fall to be
issued upon exercise of the share options granted under the
Option Scheme and any other share option scheme of the
Group (including both exercised or outstanding options) to
each participant in any twelve-month period shall not exceed
1% of the issued share capital of the Company for the time
being.

There is no minimum period required for the holding of a
share option before it can be exercised.

Tian Chang Group Holdings Ltd.
Annual Report 2020
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RATEIEE2019F5 A28 B @EBHR

2y om
EES

RnEREsr 3 (RS - B

Pt &IH = 2GR T

(a)

BREEEEDBEERSESE
R R A PR @M & BRI
DA R EEE - ARE RES
HAKERIER R ERA AR
BHBAL -

BREINEER2EERLE )
AEERAKEF A TARENT
MEB((MRERE ) NERITR
ExgEE(TwEREGRE) (b
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HITER(BEBILIFNTES)
K (c) EAAI3EE B (BRFEE RN AL
B EMAREEBNHERS &
F-%AA EBR- &8 2%
BEHARGHER) MEEFETE
RREEERSEHASHAKHE
TEHER -

ATERIEBRETE R AEE T
A E A B AR T B E % B M R 1T
FEFBEREm AR KRBT
e E ERTEBBARTTH
BEBITARAH 30% o

BB ERE A BT EM
BRETEIR NN A ERERET
FRFR LB R BITHRMEE T
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

30. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (conTINUED)

(9)

A share option may be exercised at any time during a
period to be determined by the Directors, the period may
commence on a day after the date upon which the offer for
the grant of share options is made but shall not be later than
ten years from the date of grant of the share option subject
to any provisions for early termination thereof.

Upon acceptance, the eligible participant shall remit
HK$1.00 to the Company as consideration for the grant. The
acceptance of a share option, if accepted, must be made
within 21 days from the date of the offer of grant of the
share option.

The exercise price of a share option shall not be less than
the highest of:

(i) the closing price of the share of the Company as stated
in the Stock Exchange’'s daily quotations on the date of
the offer of the grant;

(i)  the average closing price of the share of the Company
as stated in the Stock Exchange's daily quotations for
the five trading days immediately preceding the date
of the offer of the grant; and

(iii)  the nominal value of the share of the Company.

The Option Scheme will expire on 27 May 2029.

During the year ended 31 December 2019, no share options
were granted, exercised, cancelled, lapsed or forfeited. As at
31 December 2019, there was no outstanding share option.

On 13 May 2020, options to subscribe 37,840,000 ordinary
shares were granted to several eligible participants
including directors, employees and non-employees under
the Option Scheme at an exercise price HK$0.355 per share.
The validity period of the share options is ten years from
the date of grant (i.e. from 13 May 2020 to 12 May 2030), of
which 50% of the share option was exercisable and vested
on the date of grant and the remaining 50% of the share
options shall be vested and exercisable from 13 May 2021 to
12 May 2030.
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30. REBR#ETEI»)

(9)

BREREE SR TN B AR
RETT{E - 1oz M A R B A B 2
WL BHR-BRG BETEE
REBRER L BB+ - BA
ZEMBRRRER R IEGRXATRR -

REMSEENEREK  ARAR
AIEF10ETHERRTHRE-
IREREEER S AZERBOR D
BAEE BT 21 XA -

BRENITEENSERATHRIA
PR RS IR

(i) ARARODREHBOER®E
B2 P B BRI W (E

(i) ARBRODNEZEHENA
HAThER S A EBZAER
WEFMROFHEHE &

(i) ARQFRRMHEE -
BEAREET 21357 2029 F 5 A 27 B 5
Hy o

HE2019F12A31BLEFE - W
mEEREER 1T - - AW
g8 W e B2019F 12831 H I
BB ARITE AR -

20205 8138 © 1B & B % #
rElmETaERSEE(BREE
£ - RBERFEE)RLURE
37,840,000 fx ik 2 fEAxHE - 171F
BEAENR0.355 8T - BIREMA K
B AL A AT+ (BVH 2020
#£5H813H £2030F58128 )
HrAhs0%mERENSR LSBT
ITENGE - M T 50%H 8%
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Year ended 31 December 2020 #(ZE 202012 31 HIEFE

30. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (coNTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2020

Exercise
price of
share options

Date of grant of
share options

it
BREAN

BRE
%R

Exercise period
(both dates
inclusive)

fTESE
(BfEERMA)

Directors 13 May 2020 0.355

2020578138

0.355

Employees

13 May 2020

2020F5A138

0.355

Non-employees 13 May 2020

FES 2020955138

Exercisable in two
tranches from

13 May 2020 to

12 May 2030
202055 13R
F2030F5A128
AREITHE

Exercisable in two
tranches from

13 May 2020 to

12 May 2030
8202055 A13R
Z2030E5A 128
AMEBTE

Exercisable in two
tranches from

13 May 2020 to

12 May 2030
202055 A13R
Z2030F5A8 128
AWBIE

Outstanding
asat

1 January
2020
R2020
1A1AH

e RATHE

30.

Granted
during
the year

FAERM

14,020,000

19,900,000

3,920,000

12 U6
HZE2020F12 A31 BILEE

Number of share options
BRESE
Cancelled/
lapsed/ Outstanding at
forfeited

Exercised Exercisable at
31 December
2020
®2020%
12A318

T1T{E

31 December
2020
®2020F
128318
R ATHE

during the
year during the year

ERiE/
K3/ 0

FRBTH

14,020,000 7,010,000

19,900,000

9,950,000

3,920,000 1,960,000

Total
fzt

37,840,000

37,840,000 18,920,000

Weighted average
exercise price
(HKS)

il £z
TEEGER)

0.355

0.355 0.355
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Year ended 31 December 2020 #ZE 2020 12 A 31 HILFE

30. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (conTINUED)

The fair value of the share options on the date of grant is
approximately HK$2,550,000. During the year ended 31 December
2020, the Group recognised approximately HK$2,047,000 (2079:
Nil) as the equity-settled share-based payment expenses.

30. FRRRHEETE(o)

RETHEH BERENAIALAEDNA
2,550,000 JT > & £=2020%F 12 A 31 H
IEFE - A& E R A2047,000% T
(2019F : MERBUESEENRMHIE

B o
The fair value of share options on the date of the grant is estimated BRENAAEDFB ZEAERNEA
by using the Binomial Model with the following parameters: H2800T -
Grant date 13 May 2020 Eequng=p 20205 H13H
Exercise price HK$0.355 TEE 0.355 /87T
Risk-free rate 1.02% f2 J5 Ba 7 1.02%
Expected volatility* 36.206% T8 BRI 36.206%
Expected dividend yield* 5.607% TEARRR Bl 2 5.607%
2 The expected volatility is with reference to historical price volatilities of * BHRED2EARAR A RER TG EUN

RAEIRBHESLRE  YREAEAFHE
K B BR ORI THEN B B R - T
HREAEELREBRER - THBEARR
MELEHARERAELEERAYE -

the share price of the Company and companies of the similar business
nature, adjusted for any expected changes to future volatility due to
publicly available information. Expected dividends are based on historical
dividends. Changes in the subjective input assumptions would materially
affect the fair value estimate.

31. CASH GENERATED FROM OPERATIONS 31. BEMRBRS

2020 2019
2020 F 2019 &
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#ET FET
Profit before tax R0 AT 7 87,528 164,351
Impairment losses recognised on E 5B GRIEER R R E 18
trade receivables 1,101 -
Depreciation e 47,111 38,560
Amortisation of deferred I SUE IR 4 B 2 5
government grants (315) (17)
Inventories written off FEMHE 1,152 1,525
Interest income B A (575) (791)
Fair value gains on BARBEFABENECRIEE
financial assets at FVPL N ERE (1,631) (847)
Finance costs B FE R AR 8,822 9,069
Loss on disposal of property, HEYE - BERREEE
plant and equipment - 151
Gain on transfer of property, ERYE  BERIEERERK
plant and equipment to BERERIE R E
finance lease receivables (402) -
Write-off of property, plant M - B KR e
and equipment 165 -
Exchange differences EHERE (81) 9,311
Share-based payment expenses A% 15 B 2 A AR 2,047 =
Changes in working capital: EEESEE
Inventories rE (11,187) (1,589)
Trade and other receivables B 5 & H At fE IR (34,008) 94,889
Trade and other payables g5 REAMENKRE (18,127) (37,111)
Cash generated from operations KEMSHES 81,600 277,501

AEEEERER AR
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Year ended 31 December 2020 #(ZE 202012 31 HIEFE

32. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 32. FMBARSH
In addition to the transactions/information disclosed elsewhere in BREREMBHREEMMPFAEBENR S,
the consolidated financial statements, during the years ended 31 B RN B = 202049 KX 2019412 A 31
December 2020 and 2019, further information of the related party BILFEE  BHEBEB AR ZHE—FER
transactions is set out below. I e
(@) Transactions with related party @) ERBELI2Z2XRS
The Group had entered into a lease agreement with the TN | B A AR IR T SR B R RET
company controlled by the Ultimate Controlling Party to YHEEWHZE  HEURBBHMRA
lease an office premise located in Hong Kong with annual EYE - B2019F3H1HE2022
rental fee of HK$594,000 from 1 March 2019 to 28 February F2H28H K FHE A594,0008
2022. JC °
2019
2019 4F
HK$'000
T
Inception of right-of-use asset SIAEREEE = 1,678
Interest expenses on lease liability THE&BE/F| B
- The company controlled by the — — ZRAIZERR 1L H| KA &)
Ultimate Controlling Party 39 49
(b) Balances with related party (b) EERFEES 2458k
2020 2019
2020 2019 4F
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET AT
Right-of-use asset EREEE
— The company controlled by the — — S &IERE R HIH A A7)
Ultimate Controlling Party 653 1,212
Lease liability HEAE
— The company controlled by the — — &R FIEHIH A )
Ultimate Controlling Party 676 1,232
(c) Applicability of the Listing Rules relating to () LtTHRAUEARBERS
connected transactions
The related party transactions in respect of Note 32(a) above EXEE32@ MBEEA TR ZEK
constitute connected transactions as defined in Chapter 14A TR BUAEMAENBEER
of the Listing Rules. However, these transactions are exempt o AM - ARZERSHER LT
from the disclosure requirement in Chapter 14A of the FREBIE 14A76(1) & THREE &K
Listing Rules as it is below the de minimis threshold under TEE - HERRETLEMRASE

Rule 14 A.76(1). TLAZEMHERTE o

Tian Chang Group Holdings Ltd.
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Year ended 31 December 2020 #ZE 2020 12 A 31 HILFE

32. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED) 32. RBARH =

() FAEEFTEEEAS(BEES)

(d) Remuneration for key management personnel

(including directors) of the Group:

KA -

2020 2019

2020 5 2019 4

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FAT

Salaries and allowances e ROERL 11,156 10,497

Discretionary bonus BB IEAT 18,599 30,334
Contributions to defined TE R RGRIRET B K

contribution retirement schemes 90 148

Share-based payment expenses A% {7 B4 B AN 1,243 =

31,088 40,979

Further details of the Directors’ remuneration are set out in
Note 10 to the consolidated financial statements.

33. ADDITIONAL INFORMATION ON CASH FLOWS

(a)

Major non-cash transactions

The followings set out the major non-cash transactions
during the year:

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the
Group incurred additional payables of approximately
HK$15,218,000 (2079: HK$31,526,000) to constructors for
the addition of property, plant and equipment. During the
year ended 31 December 2020, the Group has terminated
certain leased premises with the carrying amount of right-
of-use assets and lease liabilities balance of approximately
HK$1,159,000 and HK$1,259,000 (2079: right-of-use assets
of Nil and lease liabilities of Nil) respectively.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group
incurred imputed interest expenses in respect of the
payables for construction in progress of approximately
HK$698,000 (2079: HK$894,000) which were not settled and
were credited to the payables for construction in progress.

EEHeNE—SPHBRNGEY
THEREMIEE10 ©

33. FRBRERECHMEH
() TEFREXS

ATBAFENETEFRERS ¢

HE2020F12A31BILFE - K&
ERAEME BMERSEMEE
BASME IR FIEL) 15,218,000
FEIL(20194F: 31,526,000/ 7T ) °
HZE2020F12831BIEEE » K
SEERIETHEDE  FHE
BERMEBENERBRESFIL
#1,159,000/ 7T % 1,259,000 7T
(2019 (FHELERERMER

HE2020F12A31HLEFE K
SEREEIRENENREELED
698,000/8 7T (20194 : 894,000,%7T)
MEEFESH  ZFMEZHR
HEE AR AEZIZAENZRIE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fm 5 Bil ¥ ¥ 2% Bl 51

Year ended 31 December 2020 #(ZE 202012 31 HIEFE

33. ADDITIONAL INFORMATION ON CASH FLOWS 33. FRBERECHMEH»
(CONTINUED)
(@) Major non-cash transactions (Continued) (a) FEFRERF @

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group entered HZE2020612A31BLEEFE - K
into lease arrangement in respect of leased properties. SERBEEMEITVHELRE - ¥
On the lease commencement, the Group recognised HERKER - AEE D FIERES
approximately right-of-use assets of HK$1,762,000 and HEEEX1,762,0008 T RAEEE
lease liabilities of HK$1,762,000 (2079: right-of-use assets 1,762,000 7T(2019F - (EHEEE
of HK$3,906,000 and lease liabilities of HK$3,906,000) 3,906,000;8T K& £ 1& 3,906,000
respectively. o) o

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group entered HE2020012A3MBLEFE K
into a lease agreement with a third party whereas the Group SERF=FTLHEER: Bt
leased out its property, plant and equipment with carrying N i R R S e W & H & SRR
values of approximately HK$7,344,000 by an inception of 477,766,000 TS EEEENA
finance lease receivables of approximately HK$7,746,000. 7,344,000 T - BE R

i

During the year ended 31 December 2020, interest-bearing HZE 20200128318 ILFE - #R
borrowings of HK$4,234,000 (2079: HK$83,000), which were BESREUGERIE BB PEN
drawn on factored trade receivables with recourse have sFEMEF 4,234,000 70 (207194 -
been settled through trade receivables discounted to a bank. 83,000/ T) BB BRIRITANIRMNE

HIERMGRIRFE ©

(b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing (b) BMEETHFELEBMNYIR
activities
The movements in the Group's liabilities arising from AEBREZHMELEENES
financing activities are as follows: o

Non-cash changes

$RE28

At Imputed Foreign At

1 January Net Interest interest  exchange 31 December
2020  cashflow  expenses Addition  Modification Transfer ~ expenses  movement 2020
120208 e Pzt 2020F
118 REFE  FEEX wE BH BE  NEEX  HEZE®  12B3A
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TAT TET TiET TET TAT TET TR TET

Year ended HZ20205128318

31 December 2020 LEE
Payables for EfERIRE

construction in progress 47,922 (38,856) - 15,218 - - 698 1,619 26,601
Interest-bearing borrowings it E{E 3 119,630 103,926 6,976 - - (4,234) - 3700 229,998
Lease liabilities REBE 46,038 (20,264) 1,148 1,762 (1,259) - - - 27,425

213,590 44,806 8,124 16,980 (1,259) (4,234) 698 5319 284,024
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Year ended 31 December 2020 #ZE 2020 12 A 31 HILFE

. ADDITIONAL INFORMATION ON CASH FLOWS 33. ARBEFECHEMBIR®
(CONTINUED)
(b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing (b) METHFELEBNEHER®

activities (Continued)

Non-cash changes

FReEH
At Imputed Foreign At
1 January Net Interest interest  exchange 31 December
2019 cash flow expenses Addition  Modification Transfer expenses  movement 2019
20195 Re et 2019%

1A1E REFR  FIERX hE s g3 N8R HNERH  12A3A
HKS000  HKS000  HKSO00D  HKS000  HKS000  HKSO000  HKS000  HKSO000  HK$000
TR  TER  TETL  TER  TERL  TET  TER  TRT @ TER

Year ended H22019F
31 December 2019 1NANALEE

Payables for construction ~ ER7EETIRAE

in progress 23754 (7,549) S 3152 . = 894 (703) 471922
Interest-bearing borrowings 3t E4E5% 148,696 (33335) 6112 - - 83) - (16600 119,630
Lease liabilities HEEE 45,294 (25,193) 2063 3906 = = - (32) 46,038
2376l (66,077) 8175 35432 = 83) 894 (2395 21359
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 34. £MTH
34(a) CATEGORIES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 34(a) & EL T B35
2020 2019
2020 F 2019 £
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Financial assets EREE
Financial assets at FVPL WAREFABENEREE 29,586 28,419
Financial assets at amortised cost IZE K AT ENEREE 273,522 210,660
303,108 239,079
Financial liabilities cHaE
Amortised cost BERCAR 394,175 292,447
Lease liabilities HERE 27,425 46,038

AEEEIERAR AT
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34, @MT R
34(b) IR EE B ERBEER

34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)
34(b) FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND

POLICIES

The Group's major financial instruments include rental
deposit, financial assets at FVPL, finance lease receivables,
trade and other receivables, bank balances and cash, trade
and other payables, interest-bearing borrowings, payables
for construction in progress and lease liabilities. Details of
the financial instruments are disclosed in respective notes.
The risks associated with these financial instruments include
market risk (currency risk, interest rate risk and other price
risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The policies on how to
mitigate these risks are set out below. The management of
the Group manages and monitors these exposures to ensure
appropriate measures are implemented in a timely and
effective manner.

Market risk

(i)  Currency risk

Certain group entities have foreign currency sales and
purchases denominated in HK$, US$ and RMB other
than the functional currency of respective entities,
which expose the Group to market risk arising from
changes in foreign exchange rates. In addition, the
Company has intra-group balances with several
subsidiaries denominated in foreign currency which
also expose the Group to foreign currency risk.

AEENETZESH T ARERER
& BANEFABZNSRE
E -BURERERE ZEHRE
tEBGRIE  RITEHERE &
S REMENKIE - FTEER - B
NERIEFEBEREERBE ZF
CRITAMNFBRERBENE -
ZESRTEMBERRBIETS
R (G B R - 7 RERREAE
BEE) FERBREEBEER -
BRI 25 R e B BUR E D)
MTF e REBESEETIERERY
ZRK BRKEBEREHRBER
iiiie

™ 5 @ B
(i) EXEE

BREERZEEEIN BT
SEERBNINEHERBEMN
BT ETRARKIIE £
REBASEREE 2 HIHE
@ o WS - AR FEE THE
NGIESESE N PG 2 DR
SNESETE - TRE AN ER 1B [ B S
PEER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (cONTINUED)

34(b) FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

(@i

Currency risk (Continued)

As HK$ is pegged to US$, the Group does not expect
any significant foreign currency exposure arising from
the fluctuation of the US$/HK$ exchange rates. As a
result, the Directors consider that the sensitivity of
the Group's exposure towards the change in foreign
exchange rates between US$/HK$ is minimal.

The carrying amounts of the Group's foreign currency
denominated monetary assets and monetary liabilities
which included financial lease receivables, trade and
other receivables, bank balances and cash, trade and
other payables, interest-bearing borrowings and intra-
group balances at the end of the reporting period are
as follows:
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34. £EMITR®»

34(b) M R BRE IR B R R R ()

™5 Bk ()
(i)  EHmE

MR TEETHE - AEH
BT EREETAETE RN
RBEE R EARINE R -
At - EER B AKEEET
SETT 2 R R B B B
REBE -

RB|EHR - REBIAINEFT
ENERNEENER AR
EREBMEMRETH BHK
H b FEUCHOR ~ SRITHE R S IR
& BEHREMEMNFEA - &
BERREBARREER)
MBREET

Financial liabilities

Financial assets

SEEE S =N
2020 2019 2020 2019
2020 2019 % 20204 2019 4
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FET FHEIT FAT
Functional currency DAL EEE 5 HNEE
against foreign
currency
RMB against HK$ ARERET 4,672 4,016 109 464 84,717
RMB against US$ AREHZET 186,145 124,507 181,312 78,057
HK$ against RMB BT AR 21,798 2,263 9,483 =

The Group manages its foreign exchange risk by
performing regular review of the Group's net foreign
exchange exposures and to mitigate the impact on
exchange rate fluctuations by entering into certain
currency forward contracts.

$%@i@i@f€ﬁﬁ$¢§ﬁ9l\lﬁﬁk
R RRREEINERR - I
LHTI%:Fi%mgLHEDH/jJ’/UZ‘#
EEXRBOZE

VR =

AEEEIERARA
zozoﬁfﬁﬁ




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
&m 5 il 15 ¥R 2} Bl 5F

Year ended 31 December 2020 #(ZE 202012 31 HIEFE

34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (cONTINUED)

34(b) FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

(i)

Currency risk (Continued)
Sensitivity analysis

The following table details the Group's sensitivity to a
5% increase and decrease in RMB against HK$, RMB
against US$ and HK$ against RMB. 5% represents
management's assessment of the reasonably possible
change in foreign exchange rates.

A positive number below indicates an increase
in pre-tax profit for the current year where a 5%
strengthening of RMB against HK$ and US$ or HK$
against RMB. For a 5% weakening of RMB against HK$
and US$ or HK$ against RMB, there would be an equal
and opposite impact on the pre-tax profit for the year
as set out below:

34. €T R

34(b) IR R E

EEERBE®

miE R ()

(i)

RMB against HK$ AR BT
RMB against US$ ARMBERZETT
HK$ against RMB BITHARE

EHmeE)
BRI

TREFVAREEH AR HE
O ARBEETRBELL
ARBABEREZESY% 2 B
B 5% A& 12 [E ¥ IE R 0] g
e 5B -

THESRRHARE L ET
URETHETHAREE
5% » Bl A4 2 BR % A a8 A 15
e f AR SEETTIARETT
HETHARERZE% R

Y ARERE BB AT N EKT

JIREREZHARTE
2020 2019
2020 2019 4F
HK$'000 HK$'000
F&T T
5,239 4,036
242 (2,323)
(616) (113)

The sensitivity analysis has been determined
assuming that the changes in foreign exchange rates
had occurred at the end of the reporting period and
had been applied to the Group's exposure to currency
risk for financial instruments in existence at that date,
and that all other variables, in particular interest rates,
remain constant.

The stated changes represent management's
assessment of reasonably possible changes in foreign
exchange rates over the year until the end of the next
reporting period.

In the opinion of the management, the sensitivity
analysis is unrepresentative of the inherent foreign
exchange risk because the exposure at the end of the
reporting period does not reflect the exposure during
the reporting period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (cONTINUED)

34(b) FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (continued)

Market risk (Continued)

(ii)  Interest rate risk

The Group's exposure to market risk for changes
in interest rates relates primarily to the Group's
interest-bearing borrowings and lease liabilities
of approximately HK$164,229,000 (2079:
HK$143,319,000) with floating interest rate. The Group
currently does not have a policy to hedge against the
interest rate risk as the management does not expect
any significant interest rate risk at the end of the
reporting period.

At the end of the reporting period, if interest rate has
been 1% higher/lower and all other variables were
held constant, the Group's pre-tax results would
decrease/increase by approximately HK$1,642,000
(2019: HK$1,433,000).

The sensitivity analysis above has been determined
assuming that the change in interest rate had
occurred throughout the year and had been applied
to the exposure to interest rate risk for the closing
balance of the lease liabilities and interest-bearing
borrowings, with floating interest rate, in existence at
the end of the reporting period. The stated changes
represent management’s assessment of a reasonably
possible change in interest rates over the year. In the
opinion of the management, the sensitivity analysis
is unrepresentative of the inherent interest rate risk
because the exposure at the end of the reporting
period does not reflect the exposure during the
reporting period.
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b)) IBEBEEBERBE®)

™% Bk ()
(i) FYEE

REBEHEBRHOF EEBTIHE
REZHAEBMNFEMER
FHEEBEMIRZHF X
B.) #)164,229,00078 JT(2019
F : 143319000 C) 6 -
ANEE[E B A0 £ IR SR AR 8 =&
Bk RAREEEBHRR
HEHRRTIFEEMNERFER

G o
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D 1A #91,642,0005 TT
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Year ended 31 December 2020 #(ZE 202012 31 HIEFE

34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)
34(b) FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND

34, @MT R
34(b) B EPR BT B AR BUR (&)

POLICIES (continued)
Market risk (Continued)

(iii)  Other price risk

The Group is exposed to price risk through its
investments in key management insurance contracts
measured at FVPL. The fair value of the unlisted
investments will fluctuate, subject to the returns which
are at the discretion of the issuer of the investments.
Such contracts have minimum guaranteed returns
during the holding period. Management is of the
opinion that the price risk arising from the contracts is
not significant.

Credit risk and impairment assessment

Credit risk refers to the risk that the Group’s counterparties
default on their contractual obligations resulting in financial
losses to the Group. The Group's credit risk exposures are
primarily attributable to finance lease receivables, trade
receivables, other receivables, deposits and bank balances.
The Group does not hold any collateral or other credit
enhancements to cover its credit risks associated with its
financial assets, except that settlement of certain trade
receivables are backed by bills issued by reputable financial
institutions.

The Group performed impairment assessment for financial
assets and other items under ECL model. Information
about the Group's credit risk management and the related
impairment assessment, if applicable, are summarised as
below:

ﬁj_ i% El' ﬁ / /= j
(i) AR

REBEFEBRANEFAER
AAEMNEFEEBAERRSE
W Em R ERRR o JE L™
RENARESHABBRER
TTARENEHRMIKE © %ZF
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FERRERERFE

EERREAKENZZHTER
HANAEEMERARBRIUH
BEORR AEENEERRT
ZREEVRREEERIEE SR
KIE - A EUWRIE - Re MIRTT
R o NEEYEF A TAEF
FEMEEREEEARESHE
EREEERBRRERE - HEE
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Year ended 31 December 2020 #ZE 2020 12 A 31 HILFE

34, @M TR
b)) IBEBEEBERBE®)

34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)
34(b) FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND

POLICIES (continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Trade receivables arising from contracts with customers

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management of the
Group determines credit limits, credit approvals and other
monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-up action is
taken to recover overdue debts. The Group only accepts bills
issued or guaranteed by reputable Hong Kong or PRC banks
if trade receivables are settled by bills and therefore the
management of the Group considers the credit risk arising
from the endorsed or discounted bills is insignificant. In this
regard, the management considers that the Group's credit
risk is significantly reduced.

The Group has concentration of credit risk as 31.1% (2079:
55.5%) and 81.5% (2019: 86.4%) of the total trade receivables
was due from the Group's largest customer and the five
largest customers respectively.

Credit-impaired trade debtors and trade debtors with
significant balances are assessed for ECL individually.
Except for trade debtors that are subject to individual
evaluation, which are assessed for impairment individually,
the remaining trade receivables are grouped based on
certain common credit risk characteristics by reference to
the Group's aging of outstanding balances. At 31 December
2019, trade receivables are assessed individually for
impairment losses based on historical credit loss experience,
adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors, general
economic conditions and an assessment of both the current
as well as the forecast direction at the end of the reporting
period, including time value of money where appropriate.

Details of the quantitative disclosures are set out below in
this note.
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Year ended 31 December 2020 #(ZE 202012 31 HIEFE

34, @MT R
34(b) IS EEEE B ERBEK (&)

34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)
34(b) FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND

POLICIES (Continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Bank balances

Credit risk on bank balances is limited because the
counterparties are reputable banks with high credit ratings
assigned by international credit agencies. The Group
assessed 12m ECL for bank balances by reference to
information relating to probability of default and loss given
default of the respective credit rating grades published
by external credit rating agencies. Based on the average
loss rates, the 12m ECL on bank balances is considered
to be insignificant and therefore no loss allowance was
recognised.

Other receivables, deposits and finance lease receivables

For other receivables, deposits and finance lease
receivables, the management makes periodic individual
assessment on the recoverability of other receivables,
deposits and finance lease receivables based on historical
settlement records, past experience, and also quantitative
and qualitative information that is reasonable and supportive
forward-looking information. The management believes
that there is no significant increase in credit risk of these
amounts since initial recognition and the Group provided
impairment based on 12m ECL. For the years ended 31
December 2020 and 2019, the Group assessed the ECL for
other receivables, deposits and finance lease receivables are
insignificant and thus no loss allowance is recognised.
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Year ended 31 December 2020 #ZE 2020 12 A 31 HILFE

34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (cONTINUED)

34(b) FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

The Group's internal credit risk grading assessment

comprises the following categories:

ik

3. &M T R
34(b) A AR E

HEHERBE®

1= B 2 B BOR (B AT ()
AEENAMBEERRFRTGHE

AT R

Internal Other financial
credit rating Description Trade receivables assets
RBEEFR A B EWRE HttERMEE
Low risk The counterparty has a low risk of default Lifetime ECL - 12m ECL
and does not have any past-due amounts not credit-impaired
iy RSGEFENRRE - WREROIEAFIE REFENEREEEE -  12@AES
FEERE EEBR
Watch list Debtor frequently repays after due dates Lifetime ECL - 12m ECL
but usually settle in full not credit-impaired
BREE BERAREEINHARER REFEPRBEEEFE - 12@R"ES
BREEINHERERER FEERE FEEE
Doubtful There have been significant increases in credit Lifetime ECL - Lifetime ECL -
risk since initial recognition through information not credit-impaired not credit-
developed internally or external resources impaired
& EERRBEBNBAIMNEERELH REFEPRHAEEFE - RAFEDRES
BRSPS RAURCEE L7 FEERE FEEE-
FEERE
Loss There is evidence indicating the asset Lifetime ECL - Lifetime ECL -
is credit-impaired credit-impaired credit-impaired
] BERBRTRECHRGEERE REFEHAREESE- EEFEHRS
EERIE FEER-
FERE
Write-off There is evidence indicating that the debtor is Amount is written off Amount is
in severe financial difficulty and the Group has written off
no realistic prospect of recovery
6| ARBRTEBARARENM KRS MHAAER mEERER
AEEHKEEFFELEERAIR

AREEERAR AR

2020 F 3§




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fm 5 Bil ¥ ¥ 2% Bl 51

Year ended 31 December 2020 #(ZE 202012 31 HIEFE

34, @MT R
34(b) B EPR BT B AR BUR (&)

34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (cONTINUED)

34(b) FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (Continued)

EER KR RENE @

TRELAEEHEAETEREERE
HEMEREENEERR

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

The table below details the credit risk exposure of
the Group's financial assets, which are subject to ECL

assessment:

2020 2019
Financial asset External Internal L Gross carrying
at amortised cost Notes  credit rating credit rating  12m or lifetime ECL amount amount
RBERETTE 1218 A HEE 20205 20195
NemEE Mz SMBEETR ABEETR HEDEHCEESR REAE RE®E
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FAT
Trade receivables - 20 N/A Lowrisk  Lifetime ECL -
contracts with not credit-impaired
customers 57,974 31,030
BHRUFTE-EPEH NEA ERE BEEFENEHEER
BiE-FEERHE
Watch list  Lifetime ECL -
not credit-impaired 34,643 89,747
BRLE EEFENEHEE
EE-FEERE
Watch list  Lifetime ECL N/A
(Note 2)  (provision matrix) 53,867 T EA
BRELE EEFENEHEE
(MzF2) BREERR)
Loss  Lifetime ECL -
credit-impaired 4,743 4,568
B REFERESRCE
BE-FEHE
Bills receivables 20 From BBB+ to A+ Lowrisk  12mECL 2,502 2,655
[ LES Fi BBB+ E A+ ERE 12EARBEEEE
QOther receivables 20 N/A (Note 1) 12mECL
and deposits 2,329 1,740
Hit BB R RS TEA (M1 1n2EABSEEESE
Finance lease receivables 18 N/A (Note 1) 12m ECL 6,467 -
FEN A AR E B NEA (1) 1n2EABEEEEE
Bank balances 21 From BBB+ to A+ N/A~ 12mECL 116,890 85,488
RITRE FIBBB+ E A+ TER nNEARBEESA
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)
34(b) FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND

POLICIES (continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Notes:

1. For other receivables, deposits and finance lease receivables,

the credit risk on the balances is low as the counter parties have
good repayment history. The amount of loss allowance assessed
by 12m ECL is insignificant.

For trade receivables, the Group has applied the simplified
approach in HKFRS 9 to measure the loss allowance at lifetime
ECL. Except for credit-impaired trade debtors and trade debtors
with significant balances are assessed for ECL individually, the
Group assesses the loss allowance on the remaining debtors
by using a provision matrix, grouped by past due analysis. At
31 December 2019, the trade receivables are assessed for ECL
individually.

Provision matrix — Debtors’ aging

As part of the Group's credit risk management, the Group
applies internal credit rating for its customers. Credit-
impaired trade debtors and trade debtors with significant
balances with gross carrying amounts of HK$4,743,000 and
HK$92,617,000 respectively as at 31 December 2020 were
assessed individually.

For the remaining debtors, the Group assess the impairment
for large number of small customers with certain common
risk characteristics that are representative of the customers’
abilities to repay all amounts due in accordance with the
contractual terms are assessed collectively using a provision
matrix based primarily on the debtors’ aging profiles. The
following table provides information about the exposure to
credit risk for trade receivables which are assessed based
on provision matrix as at 31 December 2020 within lifetime
ECL (not credit-impaired).
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ik 3

Bl 5% ¥ 2% Bl 5

Year ended 31 December 2020 #ZE 2020 12 A 31 HILFE
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Year ended 31 December 2020 #(ZE 202012 31 HIEFE

34. €M TR
34(b) B EPR BT B AR BUR (&)

34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (conTINUED)
34(b) FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND

POLICIES (Continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Gross carrying amount

FEER KR REFNE @
IRE4AE

2020
Average Trade

loss rate receivables
FHERE BFEWRNE
HK$'000

TFH T

Not yet due i#) < 2 HA

1 - 30 days past due BEIH1E30H
31 - 60 days past due BEEHI31 =60 H
61 - 90 days past due 2RHI 61 E90H
More than 90 days past due EEIEA0 B

0.56% 44,526
5.30% 3,559
5.74% 4,897
28.12% 702
100.00% 183

53,867

The estimated loss rates are estimated based on historical
observed default rates over the expected life of the debtors
and are adjusted for forward-looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort. The grouping is
regularly reviewed by management to ensure relevant
information about specific debtors is updated.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group
provided approximately of HK$1,101,000 impairment
allowance for trade receivables based on the provision
matrix.

At 31 December 2020 and 2019, for debtors that are
individually assessed, lifetime ECL are assessed as
insignificant based on historical credit loss experience and
forward-looking elements and the Group determines that
no loss allowance provision is necessary in respect of these
balances as at 31 December 2020 and 2019.

AT B 1R R T 4% R We BR SR TE HA 4 20
N BEBREOTETMHT XL
REFMNHBERALENAAEF
MATEMEERMEHRE - FRTHE
HEEETE SR - NEREHRE
FrE FEUSR AR E RS -

HZE2020F12831BEFE K
EERERETERES NEME
W SR IB R BB %) 51,101,000 7%

7T|:o

M 2020F 2019 128318 » it
EERNFENEBAME - RIBEB
FEEEBREBRRIEEEER &
EFESRNEREERETGAT
EEAR MASBEREER20205F &
201912 A BEZTHZS &6
FHREIE 2R o
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Year ended 31 December 2020 #ZE 2020 12 A 31 HILFE

34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (conTINUED) 3. @MIRm

34(b) FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND 34(b)
POLICIES (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

The following table shows the movement in lifetime ECL
that has been recognised for trade receivables under the
simplified approach.

BEEREEEEREE®

EER N EE @

TERERBBMLT AR E 5
M B B L A 5 TE A1 9
B -

Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL

(not credit- (credit-

impaired) impaired)

BEFED EEFES

EHEEREE EHEEEE
(WEEERE) (EERE) st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FH&T F&T FET
At 1 January 2019 R2019F1H1H = 4,662 4,662
Exchange difference EH =58 - (94) (94)
At 31 December 2019 F2019F12 A31H - 4,568 4,568
At 1 January 2020 20201 A1H = 4,568 4,568
Additions NE 1,101 = 1,101
Exchange difference fEH ZERE 49 175 224
At 31 December 2020 7202012 A31H 1,150 4,743 5,893

The Group has taken legal action against the debtor to
recover the amount due.

Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors
and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed
adequate by the management to finance the Group's
operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash
flows. The management of the Group monitors the utilisation
of bank borrowings and ensures compliance with loan
covenants.

The Group principally relies on bank borrowings as a
significant source of liquidity. As at 31 December 2020,
the Group has available unutilised bank loan facilities of
HK$209,568,000 (2079: HK$237,517,000).

AEBERZEBARBERTH
A28 B B #FR0R -

TEN R

RRBEAREEMS  AEE
HRSPACEFBMETERERSE
FREEBEEUBRRRUNRAEESE
BREESMRERSRERB AR
TREENKE  AREEEREE
TIRTTEROER - BERTEERK
2K -

REBFEZERBRITERAREDE
M EERIR R20209F12 A 31
H AEBBFASKRBARITER
® & 209,568,000/ TT(20194 :
237,517,000%7C) °
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Year ended 31 December 2020 #(ZE 202012 31 HIEFE

34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) 34. @MI AW
34(b) FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND 34(b) B EMEE B ERBE @)

POLICIES (Continued)
Liquidity risk (Continued) B R B ()
The following table details the Group's remaining contractual TRFASI A EE SR B ENR
maturity for its financial liabilities. The table has been drawn TEHE - ZRDIBBEREERT
up by the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities WEREENEFABENCRAE
based on the earliest date on which the Group is required to FAUAEBBERERE - AEB€ME
pay. Specifically, bank loans with a repayment on demand BEREREEGRIOBITERY
clause are included in the earliest time band regardless of FFAREREER  THIRTEED
the probability of the banks choosing to exercise their rights. BEEEITEH R - NEEEAMIE
The maturity dates for other financial liabilities of the Group MEeBHAENIBE DRERT
are based on the agreed repayment dates. EBRAHERE -
The table includes both interest and principal cash flows. ZERBEMNERAGHERE - E
To the extent that interest flows are floating rate, the MERBZEFER - RIEHR
undiscounted amount is derived from interest rate at the HIARBGIR S RETIIRRITH R H -

end of the reporting period.

Liquidity table REBESX

Total
Weighted Total contractual  Lessthan
average carrying undiscounted 1 year or
interest rate amount cash flow ondemand 1-2 years 2-5 years

&N 15

e AEBERE DN
YRR REEAE RELE BREREE 1826 2B56
(%)  HK$'000  HK$000  HK$'000  HK$000  HK$'000
(%) FHET FHET THT THT THT

At 31 December 2020 MW2020F128318

Trade and other payables & 5 K E A B Z0A N/A
TER 137,576 137,576 137,576 - -
Lease liabilities HEAE 2.82 27,425 27,916 17,280 10,503 133
Interest-bearing FTRMER (Wat)
borrowings (Note) 3.34 229,998 232,146 194,218 18,007 19,921
Payables for construction  FEF7EE TI2FIA
in progress 4.75 26,601 26,931 24,931 2,000 =

421,600 424,569 374,005 30,510 20,054

At 31 December 2019 MW2019F 128318

Trade and other payables & 5 & EfbfE(T A N/A
NER 124,895 124,895 124,895 = =
Lease liabilities HEBE 3.70 46,038 48,626 20,173 18,074 10379
Interest-bearing TEER (M)
borrowings (Note) 413 119,630 121,059 105,793 6,730 8,536
Payables for construction [EFTERTI2E
in progress 4.75 47,922 48,936 36,376 12,560 -

338,485 343,516 287,237 37,364 18,915
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

34(b) FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued)

Note:

Bank loans with a repayment on demand clause are
included in the “less than 1 year or on demand” time band
in the above maturity analysis. As at 31 December 2020, the
aggregate carrying amounts of these bank loans amounted to
HK$174,349,000 (2019: HK$99,049,000). Taking into account
the Group’s financial position, the management does not believe
that it is probable that the banks will exercise their discretionary
rights to demand immediate repayment. The management
believes that such bank loans will be repaid within five years
(2019: over five years) subsequent to the end of the reporting
period in accordance with the scheduled repayment dates set out
in the loan agreements, details of which are set out in the table
below:

Maturity Analysis — Bank loans with a repayable on demand
clause based on scheduled repayments

fm 5 Bil 15 $R 2} Bl aE

Year ended 31 December 2020 #ZE 2020 12 A 31 HILFE

34. €T R
34(b) B EPRE T B AR BUR (&)

7R B LB ()

Mt : AEREREZKERORITERE
EELEMBIBAASMABNEL TR
B E K BRI o 720204 12 A 31
A ZERTEFNEDELES
174,349,000 TC(2019 4 © 99,049,000
L) ° EEFIAKEENI B - B
BETRARITEIESITEELMNE
LAESKEIREE - BRERERS
BITERBRMERREBERFEN(2079
F B AF)IRBER R TEm B
ERAEE  FBREYIRTE

w

FH A 2 — A B R EKIEEIFA
HIERTTE A TEE RN

Total
Weighted Total  contractual Less than
average carrying undiscounted 1 yearor
interest rate amount cash flow  ondemand 1-2 years 2-5years Over 5years
& k3
g RUERRE DN
THFE  REESE REAE RIREE 182F 2E5F SENE
(%) HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
(%) TAL TEL TEL THL FHT TAL
At31December 2020  142020%12A31H
Interest-bearing STEEH
borrowings 3.64 174,349 176,511 146,432 10,877 19,202 -
At31December 2019 12019%12A31R
Interest-bearing STEEH
borrowings 421 99,049 101,232 81,061 8216 10,401 1,554
The amounts included above for variable interest rate IR FF RSB RN 2 WK
instruments are subject to change if changes in variable WEMNHNERGHEGEEZE A/ g

interest rates differ to those estimates of interest rates

determined at the end of the reporting period.

AN EASEBEE LB -

AEEEIERAR AT
2020 F 3§




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fm 5 Bil ¥ ¥ 2% Bl 51

mk 1
Year ended 31 December 2020 #(ZE 202012 31 HIEFE

34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) 3. &M T R

34(c) FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS OF FINANCIAL 3 EMTEMNARETE
INSTRUMENTS
Some of the Group's financial instruments are measured at MM BRENS  BOAEES R

fair value for financial reporting purposes.

THEZRRARERTE -

Fair value of the Group’'s financial assets that are REREERAABFENEE
measured at fair value on a recurring basis EeMEEANE

Some of the Group's financial assets are measured at fair
value at the end of each reporting period. The following
table gives information about how the fair values of these
financial assets are determined (in particular, the valuation
techniques and inputs used), as well as the level of fair
value hierarchy into which the fair value measurements are
categorised (levels 1 to 3) based on the degree to which the
input to the fair value measurements are observable.

AEERIEHEEDRZREH
RRASREFTE - TRIBHMME
EWEVBEERAABZER R
EFMERANEET A RBARE) -
NERARBEZBRERGNE - 2R
BEZERERFNEHAABFEE
REBABE 2 AIBEREERR(E

Fair value Fair value
as at as at
RT3 December Fair value

2020 2019 hierarchy  Valuation techniques and key inputs

R2020F 2019 F

12A31H 12A31H

HARE BARE  AREER HERMEREREABE

HK$'000 HK$'000

THERT TET

Financial assets at FVPL 29,586 28,419 Level3 The fair value of the key management
- Unlisted investments insurance contracts is determined by
- Key management reference to the surrender cash value, which
insurance contracts is primarily based on the performance of the

underlying investment portfolio together with
the guaranteed minimum returns, reported by
the bank on a regular basis.

BARER A B FZER FEEBAESRBRENNDABENZEZRR
HEMEE ReEET NFEENERREEGNR
—JEMERE BARRERIKERE - BRTERER -
—FEERBAS

RREHK
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)
34(c) FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS OF FINANCIAL

INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Fair value of the Group’s financial assets that are
measured at fair value on a recurring basis (Continued)

During the years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019, there
were no transfers between level 1, level 2 and level 3 fair
value measurements.

The reconciliation of assets measured at fair value based on
level 3 and the disclosure of valuation process used by the
Group and valuation techniques and inputs used in fair value
measurements are included in Note 17(a) to the consolidated
financial statements.

The fair value changes recognised in profit or loss
for unlisted investment — key management insurance

contracts amounting to approximately HK$435,000 (2079:

HK$847,000).

The fair value changes recognised in profit or loss for
derivatives not designed as hedging instatements — CCS
amounting to approximately HK$1,196,000 (2079: Nil).

The Directors consider that the carrying amounts of financial
assets and financial liabilities measured at amortised cost in
the consolidated financial statements approximate their fair
values at the end of the reporting period.

fm 5 Bil 15 $R 2} Bl aE

Year ended 31 December 2020 #ZE 2020 12 A 31 HILFE

34, @MT R
() TMTENARETE (&)

REEEERAARENENEAE
Be@MEEAABEM®)

H E 20204 K 201912 318 1k
FE O FEBH F_EHREF=
BH A EE 2 I EEE -

BREEF-ELIZRAANBEFENEE
HE NEEFRANMERF R
RAEFTEMFEANGHER RS
H R EENGRA R KM
17(a) °

EMEE-FBEERBAERRE
PR BEEZNANBEDNNE
435,000 7T (20194 847,000/%
JT) °

FETAUPTAENITATARE -
NEEBHNERERNALEE
A A1,196,00087C(20194F: &) o

EERRESRAVBRRAREH
RAGFENEREERERBER
EERENBEHRODAABEARK
I

AEEEERER AR
2020 F 3§




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fm 5 Bil ¥ ¥ 2% Bl 51

Year ended 31 December 2020 #(ZE 202012 31 HIEFE

35. COMMITMENTS 35. A&iE
(a) Capital commitments (a) BEXREIE

2020 2019
2020 & 2019 4
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAT

Contracted but not provided net ~ FLAERZ TR MHERTL
of deposits paid for construction  {BERBEESB(HKRIZE)

in progress 52,701 141,328
(b) Lease commitments (b) HEFIE
The Group as a lessee EEFEBATAA
The Group has a non-cancellable lease commitment of AEBEE A 12 A K AAR AT
short-term leases with a term of 12 months or less. The B BEEHERE - ZFHE
future aggregate minimum lease payment of these leases BARR G HERERNTAT -

are as follows:

2020 2019
2020 2019 4
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Within one year —F R 117 =
The Group as a lessor KEEEZLHTANA
Certain property was leased for a term within one year. ETYENHEBRRE —FURN-
The Group had contracted with tenant for following future REBER T RRKEBERK
minimum lease payments: BEPETEH

2020 2019

2020 2019 4F

HK$'000 HK$'000

F#&xT T

Within one year —F R 528 499
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36.

37.

38.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group
will be able to continue as a going concern while maximising the
return to shareholders through the optimisation of the debt and
equity balance. The Group's overall strategy remains unchanged
from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt, which
includes the payables for construction in progress, interest-
bearing borrowings, and lease liabilities as disclosed in Notes 23,
24 and 26 to the consolidated financial statements respectively,
net of cash and cash equivalents and equity attributable to equity
holders of the Company, comprising issued share capital, share
premium, reserves and accumulated profits.

The Directors review the capital structure periodically. As part of
this review, the Directors consider the cost of capital and the risks
associated with each class of capital. Based on recommendations
of management of the Group, the Group will balance its overall
capital structure through the payment of dividends and repayment
of existing debt.

THE IMPACT OF THE COVID-19

The outbreak of COVID-19 pandemic brought great challenges
to the Group in 2020. The Group experienced certain weeks of
production halt in the first half of 2020 yet, the businesses has
been recovering gradually during the second half of the year.
The Group will keep paying close attention to the development of
the COVID-19 pandemic and evaluate its impact on the Group's
financial position and operating results in order to make timely
response and adjustments as appropriate going forward.

COMPARATIVE FIGURES

Certain comparative figures are reclassified to conform with
presentation for the current year.

&m 5 Bil #5 ¥R 2R il 5F

Year ended 31 December 2020 #ZE 2020 12 A 31 HILFE

36.

37.

38.

BxmEER

AEENEAEEEERFRASEANE
BOMFELE  AREBBLCER MK
AERRBEREREAQR - B L—FE
1 AEEZ BREBRSIE -

AEENERNREBRERFREAK - EF
BREBNERZTIRENE FFREXEEE
BEMBIRGE M BERERME23 - 24K
26 MBRRERRSFEYRAR
AEmF A ARGER(AEBITHRA
BiEfE - FEERRABNEK) o

S THHEARBETRE - T TE
Z— B DESHEAKNAREBERD
HRRBETERR REAKEEEED
HBEZ  AEE/EBTNRERER
RAERYK  BRBEARBREYE -

¥ 7S b 5¢ Y R B

00FBEFTMHARE - BARET
REERKEL - R2020F L5 - AEE
BESEENNEEFEN S EBLRT
B A T +ENEHECEFRELT -
AEESGRETY) EEEMH AR IEH
R’ WAHAEBAREEP R R L
RRF B A E B R M [ B E

L@

ETUHBRBFEEEFN D BEUNAARFE
HE7 -

AEEEERER AR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fm 5 Bil ¥ ¥ 2% Bl 51

Year ended 31 December 2020 #(ZE 202012 31 HIEFE

39. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 39. ZELFIHMBIKAE
COMPANY
2020 2019
2020 2019 £
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
B 5E FExT T
Non-current asset ERBEE
Investments in subsidiaries REKNE AT -* -*
Current assets REBEE
Due from the subsidiaries FEUR KB A Rl FRIE 117,528 114,148
Other receivables H b e IR 355 214
Bank balances RITHER 428 1,051
118,311 115,413
Current liability RBEE
Other payables H b 5108 367 243
Net current assets REBEEFE 117,944 115,170
NET ASSETS EEZE 117,944 115,170
Capital and reserves EXRf#E
Share capital %N 39(a) 62,000 62,000
Reserves (e 39(a) 55,944 53,170
TOTAL EQUITY AR 117,944 115,170
& Amounts less than HK$1,000 & TE1,00087T2 24
The statement of financial position was approved and authorised HBEREERR 2021 FIANHEEFZ
for issue by the Board of Directors on 30 March 2021 and signed HERIRIEFIZWHU, TEELXET
on its behalf by
CHAN Tsan Lam CHAN Yin Yan
Director Director
EE EFE
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39.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE
COMPANY (CONTINUED)

39(a) Movement of share capital and reserves

fm 5 Bil 15 $R 2} Bl aE

Year ended 31 December 2020 #ZE 2020 12 A 31 HILFE

39. XAFHMBRRAEF®

39(a) RARRENZE

Share Accumulated
Share capital Share premium  option reserve profits
R R R E BRERE it B
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT BT
(Note 29(a)) (Note 29(e))
(MEE29(a))  (RFE29(e))
At1January 2019  R2019F 1818 62,000,000 34,202,960 - 23,748,709 119,951,669
Profit and total FREFREENE

comprehensive fEk

income for the year - - - 23,118,359 23,118,359
Transactions with ~ EREBAETH

equity holders x5
Contribution and EBEIRSE

distributions
Dividends (Note 13)  BRE(H1##13) - - - (27,900,000 (27,900,000
At 31 December 2019 7 2019F12A31H 62,000,000 34,202,960 - 18,967,068 115,170,028
At 1 January 2020 R2020F1A1H 62,000,000 34,202,960 - 18,967,068 115,170,028
Profit and total FRENREZEYE

comprehensive ks

income for the year - - - 10,027,280 10,027,280
Transactions with ~ BEEAETH

equity holders R5
Contribution and BERA R

distributions
Recognition of equity- FERRELEE K

settled share-based & AA

payment expenses (Hiz30)

(Note 30) - - 2,047,026 - 2,047,026
Dividends (Note 13)  BRE (M7 13) - - - (9,300,000) (9,300,000)
Total transactions with N EIEZEHA A

equity holders for R 5

the year - - 2,047,026 (9,300,000) (7,252,974)
At 31 December 2020 742020128 31H 62,000,000 34,202,960 2,047,026 19,694,348 117,944,334

AEEEIERAR AT
2020 F 3§




FIVE YEARS FINANCIAL SUMMARY
70 F Bl 55 itk 3

RSB ANF R B E2019F  2018F &
2017F 12 AN BIEFEMNFR AR BB ETH
BREBNECEZSRAVBRE  AEERB
SR EB N EE R HEE AR EE R A B

A summary of the results and the assets and liabilities of the Group for
the last five financial years, as extracted from the audited consolidated
financial statements in this annual report, the annual report for the
years ended 31 December 2019, 2018 and 2017 and the prospectus in

relation to the Listing, is set out below.

—Fo

RESULTS =i
For the year ended 31 December
BZ12A3MBLEE
2016 2017 2018 2019 2020
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T FHEIT FHET FET FHET

Revenue g 555,561 572,864 959,947 1,251,074 787,394
Cost of goods sold & S A AR (427,386) (438,825) (722,123) (937,715) (593,697)
Gross Profit EF 128,175 134,039 237,824 313,359 193,697
Other income E bl A 8,296 4,868 5,410 4,925 7,588
Other gains and losses H s RE1E - - - 1,914 818
Impairment losses RE S EWRFIR - - - - (1,101)

recognised on trade HERRRE RS

receivables
Fair value loss on BAREFF B = = (272) = -

financial assets at FVPL SREENNE

=gl

Selling and distribution costs $5% & % f5A K (11,570) (11,604) (12,457) (11,374) (8,477)
Administrative and other TR EMEERFRT (66,584) (66,909) (107,794) (135,404) (96,175)

operating expenses
Finance costs B TSR AR (13,320) (13,525) (12,027) (9,069) (8,822)
Listing expenses WX = (15,844) (6,402) = =
Profit before tax R A 5 R 44,997 31,025 104,282 164,351 87,528
Income tax expenses i (11,140) (10,947) (28,527) (37,155) (13,814)
Profit for the year FRER 33,857 20,078 75,755 127,196 73,714
Other comprehensive EE2m(EE) K (28,937) 16,948 (4,831) (13,312) 34,542

(loss) income
Total comprehensive income 2 E Ul 25 42 58 4,920 37,026 70,924 113,884 108,256
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BERAR

As at 31 December
M12H831H
2016 2017 2018 2019 2020
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FHET FHET FHT

Total assets 4B E 632,478 654,789 971,749 973,529 1,163,290
Total liabilities waE 385,390 370,675 520,508 436,304 525,062
Total equity T ARER 247,088 284,114 451,241 537,225 638,228
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